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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF
HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE?”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate
small and mid-sized companies to which a higher investment
risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock
Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the potential
risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision
to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and
mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM
may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities
traded on the Main Board and no assurance is given that there will
be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take
no responsibility for the contents of this report, make no representation
as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability
whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the
whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of KML Technology
Group Limited (the “Company”) collectively and individually accept full
responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the GEM of the Stock Exchange (the
“GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with regard
to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries,
confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief the information
contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects
and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the
omission of which would make any statement herein or this annual report
misleading.

This report, in both English and Chinese versions, is available on the
Company’s website at www.kml.com.hk.
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Chairman’s Statement
EEHME

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of Directors (the “Board”) of the Company and
its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”), | am delighted to present the
annual results of our Group for year ended 31 March 2020.

The Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 March 2020 increased by
approximately HK$13.6 million, or approximately 6.5% from approximately
HK$210.6 million to approximately HK$224.2 million. The Group recorded
a gross profit of approximately HK$71.3 million, representing a gross
profit margin of approximately 31.8% for the year ended 31 March 2020
as compared to HK$66.1 million for the year ended 31 March 2019,
with a gross profit margin of approximately 31.4%. Despite the public
order events in Hong Kong since the latter half of 2019 and the novel
coronavirus pandemic worldwide, operation of the Group was put under
pressure, we had resolved them by putting much effort. Our management
team did its utmost to consolidate resources from all areas to maintain
normal operation. We are glad to be able to maintain and upkeep a steady
growth of our revenue as well as profit in such adverse conditions.

Year 2019 is a significant year to the Group. Together with our business
partner, we were awarded a contract amounting to approximately
HK$441.6 million from our customer to replace and upgrade the existing
automatic fare collection (“AFC”) gates and ticket issuing machines at
various railway lines. This 8-year large scale AFC asset replacement
project signifies our customer’s recognition of our expertise in AFC
system as well as our edge in the application and integration of new
multiple electronic payment methods to AFC equipment and project
implementation. The Group will continue to explore more opportunities in
the AFC arena, and expand the market share.

Apart from this, the Group has been adhering to the corporate social
responsibility and is committed to protecting the environment. In 2019,
the Group and its subsidiaries have been awarded the ISO 14001:2015
Environmental Management System Certificates by the Hong Kong Quality
Assurance Agency, which certifies that the environmental management
systems meet the requirements of ISO 14001:2015 by implementing a
systematic management process, the environmental aspects such as
natural resources, use of energy and gas emissions are being managed to
reduce the environmental impacts and thereby fulfiling our commitment
to environmental protection. With the adoption of the systematic
management approach, the Group’s management will keep on leading
our colleagues to promote the environmental performance, by which the
Group’s reputation and the satisfaction of stakeholders with the Group
can be enhanced and resulting in achieving the Group’s sustainable
business objectives.

Yet, the unexpected significant influence from the outbreak of novel
coronavirus across the world brings uncertainties and challenges to the
Group. Quarantine procedures for inbound and outbound travel hinder our
normal business activities inevitably. The public order events in Hong Kong
during the latter half of 2019, together with a weakening economy resulted
in a decline of patronage of the domestic transport operation of our major
customer impose uncertainties to the Group’s business opportunities for
the next year. The political and trade tension between the Mainland and
the United States creates unprecedented challenges to the economy and
Hong Kong as a whole. The Board will closely monitor the situation and
will notify the stakeholders of the Company from time to time in relation to
the situation affecting the Group.

Finally, | would like to express my sincere gratitude to the relentless
support of shareholders of our Company (the “Shareholder(s)”),
investors, suppliers, customers and business partners, and especially
our dedicated staff members for their commitment and contributions
throughout the year. The management team and all staff members of the
Group will continue striving for better results for the Group and maximise
values for our Shareholders.

KML Technology Group Limited
Luk Kam Ming
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 18 June 2020
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- Financial Highlights
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Revenue of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2020 amounted to AEEEE-_Z-TF=—A=+—HIEFENKZLA
approximately Hong Kong dollars (‘HK$”) 224.2 million, representing 2242E BB T ([Brl) BREE-_T-—NF=ZA=1—
an increase of approximately HK$13.6 million or approximately 6.5% HIEFEMNA210.68 &BTENL13.68 8B LA
as compared with approximately HK$210.6 million for the year ended 6.5% °

31 March 2019.

Gross profit of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2020 amounted to AEBEBEE_T_TF-A=-+—HLFENEINNA
approximately HK$71.3 million (2019: approximately HK$66.1 million). 7T1.3EEBIL(ZE—NEF : Y9661 EEBIL) ©

The net profit of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2020 amounted AEEEEZ-_ZT-_TF=A=+—HALFENFEMNOE
to approximately HK$21.6 million (2019: approximately HK$19.3 million). 21.6EBBIT(ZZT—hF  H193FEET) -

The Board recommends the payment of a final dividend of HK2.0 cents EEgEarkNEE_E-_SF=-A=1+—"HLEFEMNXK
per ordinary share for the year ended 31 March 2020 (2019: Nil). HR B B EBAR2.08 I (T — e | -
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEN Wk

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group has been providing electrical and mechanical (“E&M”)
engineering solutions and services in Hong Kong for over 40 years.
Our principal business is the provision of E&M engineering works, and
comprises (i) E&M engineering solutions and services on Transportation
Mission Critical Systems Solutions and other E&M engineering solutions
and services; (i) E&M engineering design and fabrication services; (i) E&M
engineering maintenance services; and (iv) sales of parts and components.
Depending on our customers’ needs and requirements, we provide
a full spectrum of solutions and services covering design, equipment
assembly, supply, installation, fabrication, testing, and commissioning and
maintenance support with a focus on Hong Kong Transportation Mission
Critical System Solutions.

The following table sets forth the details of our Group’s revenue by type
of projects and services we undertook for the year ended 31 March 2020

e do]

REBREBRHEKE ([HE]) TRRER ST MRS S
N+ - RPN EBEFARERETRREE  BFEOR
BERRARRA S EORE TIRFERA RRRISF L
BEIRBRSRERRTS (II)&%E&I*D*’L AR EEFLARTS ;5 (i)
BETRRERE  RVVHEESHLRDH - REEFPOH
KREXK - RPRERERET - REEE - #E - F -
HA - AR RAR U RS ET RN ERR SRR -
FTEEIFERBEARESERAGR -

TR ARERRBE _F-FFR-_F—AF= A
= — B AR RE B AR R R8I ekt

and 2019: 15 :
Type of Projects For the year ended 31 March
15 B &l BE=A=1—HLEE
2020 2019
—E-BHE ZE-NE
HK$’000 % HK$'000 %
FET FET

E&M Engineering Solutions T TIEERR T R KRS

and Services
— Transportation Mission Critical RiBRAR R FRRR

System Solutions = 51,615 23.0 76,698 36.4
— Other E&M Engineering Solutions —ﬁmwziﬁma

and Services LEISIG 132,886 59.3 96,313 45.8
Subtotal N 184,501 82.3 173,011 82.2
E&M Engineering Design and WE TIZRAT R ER

Fabrication Services ﬁlﬁ5Z 4,434 2.0 8,282 3.9
E&M Engineering Maintenance WEITRRERS

Services 34,354 15.3 28,399 1843
Sale of Parts and Components HET M R 939 0.4 904 0.4
Total wat 224,228 100.0 210,596 100.0
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEN R D

E&M Engineering Solutions and Services segment accounts for the largest
business segment of our Group’s business. Approximately 82.3% of the
revenue was attributable to this segment for the year ended 31 March
2020. The second largest segment is E&M Engineering Maintenance
Services. Revenue from this segment increased by approximately 21.1%
from approximately HK$28.4 million for the year ended 31 March 2019 to
approximately HK$34.4 million for the year ended 31 March 2020. During
the year, the Group has substantially completed some major projects
including (i) the integration of mobile payment application at the Taiwan
Taoyuan Metro with quick response code (“QR Code”), contactless
payment including VISA payWave, Mastercard Contactless and UnionPay
QuickPass; (ii) provision of new fare savers with cloud based central
management system for MTR; (iii) installation of external and in-saloon
doorway closed circuit television (“CCTV”) system for light rail vehicles;
and (iv) installation of optical fibre backbones for communication-based
train control (“CBTC”) signalling systems in various railway lines.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group has submitted 325
tenders and quotations to our customers (2019: 384 tenders) with 165
contracts being awarded (2019: 175 contracts) including (i) several
subcontracts in relation to the replacement works of the CCTV systems
in various railway lines; (i) maintenance services contract for AFC
Equipment at MTR Shatin to Central Link; and (iii) a project in relation
to the replacement and upgrading of AFC gates and ticket issuing
machines at various railway lines (the “Project”). The Project amounting
to approximately HK$441.6 million will last for approximately 8 years.
KML Engineering Limited (“KML Engineering”), together with another
contractor have been jointly awarded the contract to carry out the
Project which includes the replacement and upgrade of AFC equipment,
the retrofit and upgrade of gates, ticket machines, self-service point,
first class processors to support multiple electronic payment system,
accepting new payment methods including but not limited to QR Code
based payment and contactless credit cards; thus bringing the travelers
fresh and intelligent journey experience, and we are expected to carry
out approximately 30% of the Project works. The Group will continue to
grasp opportunities at the existing E&M market among those emerging
opportunities while at the same time explore and expand our clientele as
well as diversify our business into other emerging markets.

In March 2020, KML Engineering has marched in to the Hong Kong
Science and Technology Park. The brand-new working environment is
anticipated to catalyse our research and development activities on the
pipeline, such as mobile payment apps, smart maintenance platform,
embedding Internet of Things (“loT”) technology and Artificial Intelligence
(“Al’) enhanced user interfaces into our next generation of product lines. It
will reinforce our ability to adopt the state-of-the-art technologies into our
future product and service platform. It will certainly enable us to seize the
business opportunities brought about by the trend of fast-growing smart
cities.

KMLTechnology Group Limited ® Annual Report 2019/20
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEN Wk

OUTLOOK

The Group has been providing a full spectrum of E&M engineering
solutions and services including development, design, fabrication,
installation and maintenance for our customers. Apart from the existing
business, the Group has been and will continue to expand our business
scope as well as explore different market sectors. At April 2020, KML
Engineering has been successfully admitted to the List of Approved
Suppliers of Materials and Specialist Contractors for Public Works under
the category of Video Electronics Installation. The Group expects that we
could expand our market portfolio by undertaking more projects in relation
to the video electronics and CCTV.

Besides, to align with the recent initiative of early deployment of the fifth
generation of wireless technologies (“6G”) by the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region (“HKSAR”) Government, the Group will expediate
the research and development in this area particularly with the application
of smart maintenance. We expect that by having less machine downtime,
higher product quality, predictive maintenance and more informed
decision making would benefit our customers both economically and
operationally.

The unexpected significant influence from the outbreak of novel
coronavirus across the world brings uncertainties and challenges to the
Group. The Group will closely monitor the situation and will notify the
stakeholders of the Company from time to time in relation to the situation
affecting the Group.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

Revenue of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2020 amounted
to approximately HK$224.2 million, representing an increase of
approximately HK$13.6 million or approximately 6.5% as compared with
approximately HK$210.6 million for the year ended 31 March 2019. Such
increase was mainly contributed by (i) an increase of revenue generated
from maintenance contracts; and (ii) recognition of revenue from a
contract with relatively substantial contract value during the year.

Cost of Sales and Gross Profit

The majority of the Group’s cost of sales comprised (i) material and
equipment; (i) direct labour; and (jii) sub-contracting cost. The cost of
sales increased by approximately 5.8% from approximately HK$144.5
million for the year ended 31 March 2019 to approximately HK$152.9
million for the year ended 31 March 2020. The increase in cost of sales
was mainly due to the increase in the number of projects undertaken
by the Group during the year. The gross profit of the Group increased
by approximately 7.9% from approximately HK$66.1 million for the year
ended 31 March 2019 to approximately HK$71.3 million for the year
ended 31 March 2020. The increase in gross profit was mainly due to (j)
the increase in revenue as discussed above; and (i) a relative reduction of
cost of sales.

Administrative Expenses

The Group’s administrative expenses increased by approximately 5.7%
from approximately HK$43.6 million for the year ended 31 March 2019 to
approximately HK$46.1 million for the year ended 31 March 2020. Such
increase was mainly due to (i) an increase of professional and legal fees;
and (i) additional consultancy fee incurred in relation to the preparation of
tender submission.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEN R D

Profit attributable to the owners of the Company

The Group recorded net profit attributable to the owners of the Company
of approximately HK$21.6 million for the year ended 31 March 2020 (2019:
net profit approximately HK$19.3 million).

FINANCIAL POSITION

Liquidity, Financial Resources and Capital Structure

Historically, the Group has met the liquidity and capital requirements
primarily through operating cash flows and capital contribution from its
shareholders.

The Group requires cash primarily for working capital needs. As at
31 March 2020, the Group had approximately HK$83.0 million in (i) bank
balances and cash; and (i) time deposits with original maturity over three
months (2019: approximately HK$77.0 million), representing an increase
of approximately HK$6.0 million as compared to that as at 31 March
2019.

On 16 October 2017 (the “Listing Date”), the ordinary shares of the
Company (the “Share(s)”) were successfully listed on GEM. There has
been no change on the capital structure of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2020 and up to the date of this report (i.e. 18 June 2020) (the
“Date of this Report”). The share capital of the Company only comprises
of ordinary shares.

As at 31 March 2020, the issued share capital of the Company was
HK$4,000,000 divided into 400,000,000 Shares of HK$0.01 each.

Capital Expenditure

The Group purchased property, plant and equipment amounting to
approximately HK$4.8 million for the year ended 31 March 2020 which
comprised acquisition of furniture, fixtures and office equipment (2019:
approximately HK$0.8 million).

Final Dividend
The Board recommends the payment of a final dividend of HK2.0 cents
per Share for the year ended 31 March 2020 (2019: Nil).

Employees and Remuneration Policies

As at 31 March 2020, the Group employed 199 employees (2019:
202 employees). The Group’s remuneration policies are in line with
the prevailing market practice and are determined on the basis of
performance, qualification and experience of individual employee. On
top of basic salaries, bonus may be paid with reference to the Group’s
performance as well as individual’s performance. Other staff benefits
include provision of retirement benefits, medical and life insurance
benefits. Share options and/or share awards may also be granted to
eligible employees by reference to the Group’s performance as well as the
individual contribution.

KMLTechnology Group Limited ® Annual Report 2019/20
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEN Wk

Comparison of Business Objectives with Actual Business Progress
An analysis comparing the business objectives as set out in the
Company’s prospectus dated 29 September 2017 (the “Prospectus”)
with the Group’s actual business progress for the period from the Listing
Date to 31 March 2020 is set out below:

Business strategy

Expand and enhance our E&M engineering
technical capabilities by:

() Increasing our productivity through
the purchase of new machineries and
equipment;

i) Improving our material handling and
field service capacity;

(i) Purchasing and implementing
information technology solutions; and

(iv)  Retaining our talents and enhancing
the risk mitigation measures.

Deepen our penetration of the E&GM
engineering industry with special focus on
the Transportation Mission Critical System
Solutions market by strengthening our
research and development capabilities and
increasing our brand awareness through
marketing efforts through:

() Expanding our office space and work
area;

(i) Increasing our marketing efforts and
business exposure; and

(i) Enhancement of our research and
development capabiliies.

Strengthen our financial capabilties to
undertake larger-scale E&M engineering
projects in the future.

Actual business progress up to 31 March 2020

The Group has purchased several fiore cable testing
related equipment in order to maintain our competitiveness
in the railway sector as the Group anticipates that E&M
engineering systems in the railways will rely increasingly on
optical fiore networks to transfer relevant system data in
the future.

The Group has enhanced our insurance coverage and
employee remuneration packages, including (i) upgrading
of employees’ medical insurance plan; (i) purchasing of
the Group's professional indemnity insurance plan; (ii)
purchasing of the Group’s product liability insurance plan;
and (iv) providing funds for the employees’ performance
bonus scheme.

The Group has rented additional space and storage
facilities to cater for additional space required for operation
and to accommodate the new machineries and equipment
to be purchased.

The Group has purchased four vehicles to increase

our traveling efficiency and allow our project teams to
transport additional spare parts and equipment for use in
our operations.

The Group has (i arranged our employees to participate
in exhibitions, conference and symposiums; and (i) been
making an effort to increase business exposure in Taiwan.

The Group has produced corporate and promotional video
in order to increase our corporate image as well as brand
awareness.

The Group has purchased three-dimensional design
software, enabling us to create three dimensional drawings
and designs for our products.

The Group has purchased additional computer hardware
and software, enhancing the development of electronic
payment system.

The Group has marched in to the Hong Kong Science and
Technology Parks.

The Group is in the process of (j recruiting additional
marketing staff; and (i) setting up the marketing and
demonstration area.

The Group has further enhanced our banking facilities in
order to improve the provision of performance guarantees
such that the Group could undertake largescale E&M
engineering projects.
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Use of Proceeds from the Listing

On 16 October 2017, the Shares were listed on GEM by way of Share
Offer. The Group intends to apply the proceeds from the Listing in
accordance with the proposed applications set out in the section headed
“Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” in the Prospectus.

As set out in the Prospectus, the business objectives and strategies
of the Group are: (i) to expand and enhance our E&M engineering
technical capability; (i) to deepen our penetration of the Hong Kong E&M
engineering industry with special focus on the Transportation Mission
Critical System Solutions market by strengthening our research and
development capabilities and increasing our brand awareness through
marketing efforts; and (jii) to strengthen the Group’s financial capabilities
to undertake larger scale E&M engineering projects in the future.

After deduction of all related listing expenses and commissions, the net
proceeds from Listing amounted to approximately HK$36.0 million. The
Board resolved on 10 July 2019 to change the intended use of part of
the net proceeds from Listing. For further details, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 10 July 2019.

The net proceeds have been utilised in a manner consistent with the
disclosures set out in the Prospectus and the said announcement of the
Company dated 10 July 2019. An analysis of the planned usage of net
proceeds, the actual utilisation of the net proceeds from the Listing Date
up to 31 March 2020, the revised use of net proceeds and the expected
time line for utilising the remaining unused net proceeds are set out as
below:
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Expected
timeline
Planned use for utilising
of net proceeds Actual use of net Unutilised net  the remaining
as stated in the Reviseduse  proceedsupto  proceeds as at unused net
Prospectus  of net proceeds 31 March2020 31 March 2020 proceed
HE-ZC®E i dmte 23
RRERFE FrigsE =ZB=+-B ZA=1-HN BARTH
FERERE BN FrEsERE RBAFE RERFETE
R BETRE WERARZ FEEE FENAESRER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL TAT FHEL THT
Expand and enhance our E&M engineering BARRSRMOMEIER#EN 17,952 9,601 7,438 2,163 From
technical capabilities 1 April 2020 to
31 March 2021
B-T_TF
NA—-BEZE
—E--F
ZR=t+-H
Deepen our penetration of the Hong Kong E8M B3B38 45 F0MIZs88 ) A8 9,252 8,603 3,011 5,592 From
engineering industry with special focus on the BEFRRRAMNRETNE 1 April 2020
Transportation Mission Critical System Solutions ~ JIFHEBEE 12174 (5 to 31 March 2021
market by strengthening our research and RN ES Sk B-Z_FfF
development capabilities and increasing our brand  £iE % MA—-REE
awareness through marketing efforts i g3
ZR=1+-H
Strengthen our financial capabiliies to undertake  1E3EHKMABEZBRARKETIZER 6,000 15,000 15,000 - Notapplicable
larger-scale E&M engingering projects in the future  BIEFEIE /] TER
Working Capital and other general corporate BEASREM—RATER 2,79 2,79 2,796 - Notapplicable
pUIPOSES TER
Total At 36,000 36,000 28,245 7,755
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GEARING RATIO

The ratio was not applicable for the year ended 31 March 2020 as no
borrowing was incurred (2019: Nil).

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

We conducted business with customers, suppliers and subcontractors
located in Hong Kong, the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) and
overseas. The Group’s exposure to the currency risk mainly arises from
the fluctuation of Renminbi (“RMB”), Euro (‘EUR”) or United States dollars
(“USD”). The Group currently does not have any hedging policy in place
for its foreign currency exposure. The management will consider hedging
significant currency exposure should the need arise.

TREASURY POLICIES

The Group has adopted a prudent financial management approach
towards its treasury policies and thus maintained a healthy liquidity
position throughout the year ended 31 March 2020. The Group strives to
reduce exposure to credit risk by performing ongoing credit assessments
and evaluations of the financial status of its customers. To manage
liquidity risk, the Board closely monitors the Group’s liquidity position to
ensure that the liquidity structure of the Group’s assets, liabilities and
other commitments can meet its funding requirements from time to time.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS AND FUTURE PLANS FOR
MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND CAPITAL ASSETS

The Group did not hold any significant investments in equity interest in any
other companies as at 31 March 2020. Except for those included in the
section headed “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” in the Prospectus,
the Group had no definite future plans for material investments and capital
assets.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES,
ASSOCIATES OR JOINT VENTURES

There were no other significant investments held, material acquisitions
or disposals of subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures during the year
ended 31 March 2020.

PLEDGES OF ASSETS

As at 31 March 2020, the Group pledged certain amount of bank deposits
and investments in life insurance policies to secure general banking
facilities granted to the Group. For details, please refer to notes 15 and 20
to the consolidated financial statements.

COMMITMENTS

The Group did not have any capital commitments or operating lease
commitments as at 31 March 2020 (2019: operating lease commitments
amounted to approximately HK$5.9 million).
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CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2020, the Group did not have any significant contingent
liabilities (2019: Nil).

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

For the year ended 31 March 2020, the following principal risks of the
Group were identified:

(i) The Group relies on a few number of key customers. The loss of
one key customer could have a significant impact on the Group’s
income;

(ii) Technologies are rapidly changing. If the Group fails to keep
up with the technological advancement, it could jeopardise our
competitiveness in the industry;

(iii) In view of the novel coronavirus, if there is an outbreak at our
workplace, it would result in a high level of absenteeism of
employees, and may eventually lead to business disruption or
project delay;

(iv)  If the Group is unable to monitor and implement work safety
measures at project sites effectively, its reputation could be
adversely affected in the event that serious injuries and casualties
occur; and

(v) We are facing challenges in identifying competent candidates with
the right qualification, experience and background as successors
of senior management positions. If we are unable to develop,
attract and retain staff with capabilities and commitment needed,
achievement of long run objectives may be jeopardised.

Our Risk Control Mechanism

The Group has adopted a three-tier risk management approach to identify,
assess, mitigate and handle risks. At the first line of defence, operating
units are responsible for identifying and monitoring risks associated with
each business. The management, as the second line of defence, defines
rules and models, provides technical support, develops new systems and
oversees portfolio management. It ensures that risks are within acceptable
range and that the first line of defence is effective. As the final line of
defence, the risk management committee of the Company (the “Risk
Management Committee”), with the professional and independent
advice from the internal audit function ensures the first and second line of
defence are effective through constant inspection and monitoring.

The Group maintains a risk register to keep track of all identified major
risks of the Group. The risk register provides the Board, the Risk
Management Committee and management with a profile of its major risks
and records management’s action taken to mitigate the relevant risks. The
risk register will be reviewed and monitored at least annually. The review
process ensures that the Group proactively manages the risks faced by it.
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Directors and Senior Management
EERSREERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Luk Kam Ming (B8 ) (“Mr. KM Luk”), aged 73, is an Executive
Director and the chairman of our Board. Mr. KM Luk founded our Group
and joined us when he was appointed as a director of KML Engineering
in August 1977. Mr. KM Luk is responsible for overall strategic planning
and development of our Group, and oversees the financial management
and planning of our Group. He is also the chairman of the Nomination
Committee, and a member of the Remuneration Committee.

Mr. KM Luk has more than 50 years of experience in the E&M engineering
industry, with a focus on the development of automatic fare collection
and railway transportation control systems. In August 1977, Mr. KM
Luk founded KML Engineering, the principal subsidiary of our Group
as a contractor for providing services in the fields of electrical power
engineering, signalling and communication engineering, and computer-
based toll collection systems, etc.

Mr. KM Luk was registered as a Chartered Engineer (CEng) by The
Institution of Electronic and Radio Engineers, the United Kingdom, a
Chartered Engineer by the Council of Engineering Institutions, the United
Kingdom. He is admitted a member and registered as a Chartered
Electrical Engineer by The Institution of Electrical Engineers (currently
known as the Institution of Engineering and Technology), the United
Kingdom, and a Chartered Engineer by the Council of Engineering
institutions, the United Kingdom. He is also admitted as a member of the
Hong Kong Institution of Electrical Engineers, a member of Institution of
Railway Signal Engineers, and a member of Hong Kong Association of
Energy Engineers. He was nominated as the Country Vice President of
Institution of Railway Signal Engineers for Hong Kong, China in March
2011.

Mr. KM Luk is the father of Mr. Luk Kwai Lung (“Mr. KL Luk”) and Mr.
Luk Yin Cheung (“Mr. YC Luk”), both our Executive Directors. Mr. KM
Luk is also the spouse of Ms. Leung Kwok Yee (“Madam Leung”), our
controlling Shareholder, and the father-in-law of Ms. Woo Siu Wai (“Ms.
Wo0"), our company secretary.
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Directors and Senior Management
EERSREERE

Mr. Chan Chak Lun Philip (BR’ZB), aged 58, is an Executive Director
and our chief executive officer. Mr. Chan is responsible for overseeing the
daily operations and overall general management of our Group. Mr. Chan is
also a member of the Risk Management Committee.

Mr. Chan has more than 30 years of experience in E&M engineering.
He joined KML Engineering in October 1987. Since then, he has served
our Group in various capacities including engineer, general manager of
advanced products department, the operation director and the managing
director of KML Engineering.

Mr. Chan has been a director of KML Engineering since June 1991. He
is a technical director and one of the authorised signatories appointed
by KML Engineering for its qualification as a Registered Minor Works
Contractor for Type A and Type C of Class Il & Il under the Buildings
Ordinance.

Mr. Chan obtained a degree of Bachelor of Engineering with first class
honours in mechanical engineering from the Newcastle University (formerly
known as “University of Newcastle upon Tyne”), the United Kingdom
and a degree of Master of Science in Engineering from The University
of Hong Kong, Hong Kong. He was admitted as associate member of
the Hong Kong Institution of Engineers, a member of The Institution of
Electrical Engineers (currently known as the Institution of Engineering and
Technology), the United Kingdom and registered as a Chartered Engineer
(CENng) by the Engineering Council (UK). He was elected as a member of
the Institution of Mechanical Engineers, the United Kingdom. He is also a
member of The Hong Kong Institute of Directors.

Mr. Luk Kwai Lung (BEZ &), aged 43, is an Executive Director.
Mr. KL Luk is responsible for overseeing the business development
and marketing of our Group. Mr. KL Luk has been a director of KML
Technology Limited (“KML Technology”) and KML Engineering since
February 2012 and November 2015 respectively. Mr. KL Luk is one of the
authorised signatories appointed by KML Engineering for its qualification as
a Registered Minor Works for Type A of Class Il & Ill under the Buildings
Ordinance. Mr. KL Luk is also a member of the Risk Management
Committee.

Mr. KL Luk joined our Group in January 2003 and appointed as deputy
managing director in December 2015. He developed comprehensive
experiences in process management in various departments in KML
Engineering, and acted as the project manager for various projects
undertaken by our Group in the past years.

KMLTechnology Group Limited ® Annual Report 2019/20
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Directors and Senior Management
EERSREERE

Mr. KL Luk obtained a degree of Bachelor of Science in hotel
administration from University of Nevada, Las Vegas, the United States,
a degree of Master of Science in administrative studies from Boston
University, the United States, and a degree of Master of Science in
engineering business management from the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University, Hong Kong. He is a member of The Hong Kong Institute of
Directors.

Mr. KL Luk is a son of Mr. KM Luk, our founder, Executive Director and
chairman of our Board, and the elder brother of Mr. YC Luk, an Executive
Director. Mr. KL Luk is the elder son of Madam Leung, our controlling
Shareholder, and the brother-in-law of Ms. Woo, our company secretary.

Mr. Luk Yin Cheung (former name is Luk Tit Cheung) (% Z#), aged
41, is an Executive Director. Mr. YC Luk is responsible for overseeing
the operation support of our Group, including sourcing and project
administration of our Group. Mr. YC Luk has been a director of KML
Technology and KML Engineering since February 2012 and November
2015 respectively. Mr. YC Luk is also a member of the Risk Management
Committee.

Mr. YC Luk joined our Group in June 2006 and appointed as associate
director in December 2015. In the past 11 years, Mr. YC Luk has gained
vast experience in providing training on occupation safety, purchasing,
inventory and logistics management in the E&M engineering industry.

Mr. YC Luk graduated with a degree of Bachelor of Business
Administration from The University College of the Cariboo, Canada
and Diploma in Marketing by The University of Hong Kong School of
Professional and Continuing Education in association with the Chartered
Institute of Marketing, Hong Kong. He was elected an affiliate member
of The Chartered Institute of Logistics and Transport in Hong Kong and
a member of The Hong Kong Institute of Directors. To promote the
occupational safety of our Group, Mr. YC Luk also awarded a Diploma in
Occupational Health and Safety by the Li Ka Shing Institute of Professional
and Continuing Education, The Open University of Hong Kong.

Mr. YC Luk is a son of Mr. KM Luk, our founder, Executive Director
and chairman of our Board, and the younger brother of Mr. KL Luk, an
Executive Director. Mr. YC Luk is the younger son of Madam Leung,
our controlling Shareholder, and the spouse of Ms. Woo, our company
secretary.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Lau On Kwok (£|Z El), aged 53, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director on 20 September 2017. Mr. Lau is the chairman
of the Audit Committee and a member of each of the Risk Management
Committee and the Remuneration Committee.

Mr. Lau has extensive experience in the fields of financial management,
corporate governance and direct investment. He started his career as
accounting professional in an international accountancy firm. Mr. Lau
was an executive director at China Assets Investment Management
Limited and was also the company secretary and a member of investment
committee of China Assets (Holdings) Limited, a company previously listed
on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 170) from April 2004 to December
2010. He was a director of Shandong Lukang Pharmaceutical Company
Limited, the shares of which are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange
(stock code: 600789), from May 2007 to April 2012. From May 2009 to
January 2011, Mr. Lau was an independent non-executive director of
Sheng Yuan Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 0851). He was employed by Sheng Yuan Asset Management
Limited from January 2011 to August 2014, where his last position
was executive director. He also assumed the duties of the managing
director of Sheng Yuan Investment Advisors Limited from January 2011
to December 2013. Mr. Lau was the company secretary and financial
controller at Winshine Science Company Limited, a company listed on the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 209), from November 2014 to November
2018. Mr. Lau has been a director of China Assets (Holdings) Limited and
a director of China Assets Investment Management Limited since October
2018.

Mr. Lau obtained a degree of Bachelor of Arts in accounting and financial
analysis from the Newcastle University (formerly known as “University of
Newcastle upon Tyne”) and a degree of Master of Science in financial
management from University of London. He also obtained a Diploma on
Practices in Chinese Laws and Regulations affecting Foreign Business
jointly awarded by Southwest University of Political Science and Law and
the Hong Kong Management Association.

Mr. Lau is an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and a fellow of The Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants, the United Kingdom.

Mr. Law Wing Chi Stephen (X %), aged 50, was appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director on 20 September 2017. Mr. Law is
the chairman of the Risk Management Committee, and a member of each
of the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee.

Mr. Law has extensive experience in financial management and
professional accounting. He was the chief finance officer of Diamondlite
Limited, one of the leading jewellery manufacturer in the PRC. Having
started his career as a professional accountant in an international
accountancy firm, Mr. Law has undertaken key financial management
positions in companies engaged in a variety of industries. Mr. Law has
been an executive director and company secretary of Kai Yuan Holdings
Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1215),
since May 2011 and February 2014 respectively and is also currently their
chief financial officer.

Mr. Law obtained a degree of Bachelor of Arts in Accountancy from the

City University of Hong Kong. He is an associate member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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Directors and Senior Management
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Dr. Tse Chi Kong (# & Rl), aged 55, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director on 20 September 2017. Dr. Tse is the chairman of
the Remuneration Committee, a member of each of the Audit Committee
and the Nomination Committee.

From September 1991 to April 2005, Dr. Tse worked as a lecturer,
assistant professor, associate professor and professor in the department
of electronic and information engineering (“EIE Department”) of the Hong
Kong Polytechnic University. Dr. Tse was the head of EIE Department
from August 2005 to December 2012. From May 2005 to October
2019, he was the chair professor of electronic engineering in the EIE
Department. Dr. Tse has been appointed as a member of the research
projects assessment panel of Innovation and Technology Fund, a fund
administered by the Innovation and Technology Commission of the
Government of Hong Kong, for a term from January 2017 to December
2018. He was re-appointed as a member of the Quality Education Fund
Steering Committee, which advises the government of Hong Kong on the
policies and procedures governing the operation of the Quality Education
Fund, in January 2017 for a term of two years. Dr. Tse is currently a
member of the council of the Confucius Institute of Hong Kong, an institute
under the faculty of humanities of the Hong Kong Polytechnic University,
Hong Kong and a member of the board of governers of the Hong Kong
Sinfonietta. Dr. Tse is appointed on 21 October 2019 as a chair professor
of electrical engineering at the City University of Hong Kong.

Dr. Tse obtained a degree of Bachelor of Engineering and a degree of
Doctor of Philosophy from The University of Melbourne, Australia. He
has been elected to the grade of fellow of the Institute of Electrical and
Electronic Engineers, Inc., New York. He is a Chartered Professional
Engineer with Engineers Australia and a Fellow of Engineers Australia.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Tung Tsz On (EF %), aged 50, is the chief engineer of our Group.
Mr. Tung is responsible for research and development, planning and
formulation and supervising the implementation of our projects with
provision of day-to-day technical and expert advice to our Group. Mr.
Tung is one of the authorised signatories of KML Engineering for its
qualification as a Registered Minor Works Contractor for Type A and Type
C of Class Il & lll under the Buildings Ordinance since September 2011.

Mr. Tung joined our Group in February 2003 as a system engineer and
was promoted to the position of chief engineer in April 2010. Mr. Tung
has more than 10 years of experience in design and management of
E&M engineering projects covering a variety of systems such as mobile
payment, automatic control system, car park system, security system
and point of sales system etc. He has expertise in handling maintenance
work for electronic systems, as well as leading the development and
implementation of automatic fare collection systems.

Mr. Tung obtained an Advanced Diploma in network engineering granted
by the Hong Kong Productivity Council in December 2000.
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Ms. Law Shuk Ming (£ 88), aged 49, is our chief accountant, being
responsible for day-to-day accounting and financial reporting of our
Group. Ms. Law joined our Group in May 1995 and was promoted to chief
accountant in November 2017.

Ms. Law obtained a degree of Bachelor of Business Administration from
Capstone University, the United States, and completed the Accounting
Technician Examination by Hong Kong Institute of Accredited Accounting
Technicians.

Ms. Wai Hang Ying Helen (##& %), aged 45, is a director of KML
Engineering. Ms. Wai joined our Group in December 1997 and has been
responsible for overall administration of our Group. Ms. Wai has been a
director of KML Engineering since October 2009.

Ms. Wai obtained a degree of Bachelor of Arts in public and social
administration and a Degree of Master of Arts in professional accounting
and information systems, both from the City University of Hong Kong.
She was also awarded the Graduate Diploma of Financial Services by
Deakin University, Australia, and admitted as a fellow Certified Insurance
Professional by the Australian and New Zealand Institute of Insurance and
Finance.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Woo Siu Wai (#8)7F), aged 40, is our company secretary,
responsible for company secretarial matters, human resources and
administrative duties. Ms. Woo joined our Group in April 2011 and was
subsequently promoted to administration manager in October 2016.

Before joining our Group, Ms. Woo worked at Success Light Investment
Limited from February 2004, and last held the position of company
secretarial assistant in the finance department before her departure in April
2011.

Ms. Woo obtained a degree of Bachelor of Arts from the faculty of social
sciences of the University of Victoria, Canada, and a degree of Master
of Science in Professional Accounting and Corporate Governance from
City University of Hong Kong. Ms. Woo was admitted as an associate of
the Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries and an associate of the
Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators.

Ms. Woo is the spouse of Mr. YC Luk, our Executive Director, the
daughter-in-law of Mr. KM Luk, our founder, Executive Director and
chairman of our Board, the daughter-in-law of Madam Leung, our
controlling Shareholder, and the sister-in-law of Mr. KL Luk, our Executive
Director.

COMPLIANCE OFFICER
Mr. Luk Yin Cheung (FEZ#¥), aged 41, has been appointed as the

compliance officer of our Company. His biography is set out in the
subsection headed “Executive Directors” in this section.
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Report of Directors
EEEWmE

The Board is pleased to present its report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in the provision of electrical and
mechanical engineering solutions and services. Analysis of the principal
activities of the Group during the year ended 31 March 2020 is set out in
the note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2020 are set out
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income on page 58 of this annual report.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board recommends the payment of a final dividend of HK2.0 cents
per Share for the year ended 31 March 2020 (2019: Nil). Such final
dividend is subject to the approval by the Shareholders at the annual
general meeting (“AGM”), The dividend is expected to be paid on or about
1 September 2020 to the Shareholders whose names appear on the
register of members of the Company (the “Register of Members”) on
21 August 2020.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Friday,
7 August 2020 to Wednesday, 12 August 2020, both days inclusive,
in order to determine the identity of the Shareholders who are entitled
to attend the AGM, during which period no transfers of shares shall be
effected. In order to qualify for attending and voting at the AGM to be held
on Wednesday, 12 August 2020, all transfers of Shares, accompanied
by the relevant share certificates and transfer forms, must be lodged for
registration with the Tricor Investor Services Limited at Level 54, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong no later than 4:30 p.m. on
Thursday, 6 August 2020.

The register of members of the Company will also be closed from
Wednesday, 19 August 2020 to Friday, 21 August 2020, both days
inclusive, in order to determine the entitlement of the Shareholders who
are entitled to receive the final dividend, during which period no transfers
of shares shall be effected. In order to qualify for the entitlement of final
dividend, all transfer of Shares, accompanied by the relevant share
certificates and transfer forms, must be lodged for registration with
the Tricor Investor Services Limited at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong, not later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday,
18 August 2020.
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Report of Directors
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BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group as at 31 March 2020 and a
discussion on the Group’s future business development are set out in
the paragraphs headed “Business Review” and “Outlook” under the
section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual
report respectively. Descriptions of possible risks and uncertainties that
the Group may be facing are provided in paragraphs headed “Principal
Risks and Uncertainties” under the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report. An analysis of the Group’s
performance during the year using financial key performance indicators is
provided in the Financial Highlights on page 6 of this annual report.

In addition, discussions on the Group’s environmental policies and
performance, important relationships with its stakeholders and compliance
with relevant laws and regulations are contained and available in this
Report of Directors. The above discussions constitute part of this Report
of Directors.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group recognises that all employees have the social obligation to
preserve and enhance the quality of the environment. We strive to protect
the environment in the course of our business activities by preventing
pollution, reducing adverse impact on climate change and enhancing
sustainable development. These policies are supported by our employees
and are implemented effectively.

At the same time, the Group recognises the importance of compliance
with regulatory requirements and applicable laws and regulations. During
the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group has complied in material
respects with the relevant environmental laws and regulations.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with regulatory
requirements and the risks of non-compliance with the applicable laws
and regulations. The major laws and regulations relating to the Group’s
business and operations include the Electricity Ordinance, Security
and Guarding Services Ordinance, Building (Minor Works) Regulation,
Construction Industry Council Ordinance and the Subcontractor
Registration Scheme. During the year ended 31 March 2020 and up to
the Date of this Report, the Group has complied in material respects with
the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
business and operation of the Group. There was no material breach or
noncompliance with the applicable laws and regulations by the Group
during the year ended 31 March 2020 and up to the Date of this Report.
And the Group has complied with all relevant requirements including
financial, technical, management and personal criteria applicable to each
respective laws and regulations.
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RELATIONSHIP WITH KEY STAKEHOLDERS

Employees

As at 31 March 2020, the Group employed 199 employees. We
maintained a good working relationship with our employees and we did
not experience any labour disputes during the year ended 31 March 2020.
Recruitment in the E&M engineering service industry is highly competitive,
especially with respect to the recruitment of qualified engineering staff.
We believe we are hiring high-quality employees in the market by offering
competitive wages and benefits and comprehensive training opportunities.
We have facilitated the recruitment through a variety of channels, such
as newspapers, internet websites, recruitment agencies, career talks and
internal referrals. We believe our continuous efforts will help us attract
suitable personnel.

Customers

Our customers mainly comprise transportation companies and other
engineering companies in Hong Kong and Taiwan and also various
departments of the Hong Kong Government. We maintain business
relationship with our top one customer since year 1978. We usually enter
into agreements with our customers on project basis and the majority of
such contracts have term over one year. Most of our project contracts are
fixed price contracts. The lump sum price is usually determined based on
factors including project requirements and estimated cost of materials,
labour and time required for completion of the projects.

Suppliers

The Group sources equipment, parts and components from our suppliers.
The principal materials and equipment used by our E&M engineering
business include steel and copper parts, switchboards, and various
mechanical equipment. Most of these materials and equipment are
sourced from local suppliers or imported mainly from Germany, Taiwan
and the PRC.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the Group’s results, assets and liabilities for the last five
financial years is set out on page 128 of this annual report. This summary
does not form part of the audited consolidated financial statements.

USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM LISTING

The net proceeds from the Listing (after deducting underwriting fees and
related expenses) amounted to approximately HK$36.0 million. As at
31 March 2020, the Company had used approximately HK$28.2 million of
the net proceeds for the purposes as disclosed in the Prospectus and the
announcement of the Company dated 10 July 2019, representing 78.3%
of the net proceeds for the Listing.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS, SUPPLIERS AND SUBCONTRACTORS

Major Customers

For the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group’s sales to its five largest
customers accounted for 85.1% (2019: 85.9%) of the Group’s total
revenue and our single largest customer accounted for 64.1% (2019:
66.0%) of the Group’s total revenue.

Major Suppliers

For the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group’s five largest suppliers
accounted for 46.0% (2019: 36.3%) of the Group’s total purchases and
our single largest supplier accounted for 14.1% (2019: 14.8%) of the
Group’s total purchases.

Major Subcontractors

For the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group’s five largest
subcontractors accounted for 58.1% (2019: 69.6%) of the Group’s total
subcontracting cost and our single largest subcontractor accounted for
20.7% (2019: 22.9%) of the Group’s total subcontracting cost.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, none of the Directors or any of
their close associates or any Shareholders (which, to the best knowledge
of the Directors, own more than 5% of the number of issued shares of the
Company) had any interest in the Group’s five largest customers, suppliers
and subcontractors.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the year ended 31 March 2020 are set out in note 13 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the year
ended 31 March 2020 are set out in note 23 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group
during the year ended 31 March 2020 are set out on pages 127 and 60 of
this annual report respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2020, the Company’s reserves available for distribution
to the Shareholders, amounted to approximately HK$25.7 million
(2019: approximately HK$24.1 million) comprising accumulated loss
of approximately HK$21.9 million and share premium amounting to
approximately HK$47.6 million.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

The Group did not have any bank loans and other borrowings as at
31 March 2020.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended 31 March 2020 and up to the Date of
this Report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Luk Kam Ming (Chairman)

Mr. Chan Chak Lun, Philip (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Luk Kwai Lung

Mr. Luk Yin Cheung

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Lau On Kwok

Mr. Law Wing Chi Stephen

Dr. Tse Chi Kong

In accordance with article 84(1) of the Articles of Association of the
Company (“Articles of Association”), at each AGM one-third of the
Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three (3),
the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office
by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement at an
annual general meeting at least once every three years.

Details of the Directors to be re-elected at the AGM are set out in the
circular to be despatched to the Shareholders.

DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management of the
Company are set out on pages 15 to 20 of this report.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules from each of the
independent non-executive Directors and the Company considers such
Directors to be independent during the year ended 31 March 2020 (the
“Reporting Period”) and remain so as at the Date of this Report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS AND LETTERS OF APPOINTMENT

Each of the executive Directors has signed a service contract with the
Company for a term of three years commencing from the Listing Date,
which may be renewable subject to both parties’ agreement.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has signed a letter of
appointment with the Company for a term of three years commencing
from the Listing Date, which may be renewable subject to both parties’
agreement.

None of the Directors has a service contract which is not determinable by
the Group within one year without payment of compensation (other than
statutory compensation).
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS
OR CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No Director or his connected entity had a material interest, either directly
or indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to
the business of the Group to which the Company, or any of its subsidiaries
or fellow subsidiaries was a party during the Reporting Period.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Saved as disclosed in this annual report, during the Reporting Period, no
contract of significance in respect of provision of services or otherwise
was entered into between the Company or its subsidiaries and the
controlling shareholders or his/her/its subsidiaries.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into
or existed during the Reporting Period and up to the Date of this Report.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

A remuneration committee was set up for reviewing the Group’s
emolument policy and structure for all remuneration of the directors and
senior management of the Group, having regard to the Group’s operating
results, individual performance of the directors and senior management
and comparable market practices.

Details of the emoluments of the Directors, and five highest paid
individuals during the year ended 31 March 2020 are set out in note 8 to
the consolidated financial statements.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

Details of the retirement benefits scheme of the Group are set out in note
27 1o the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITION IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2020, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and the chief executive of the Company in the Shares, underlying Shares
and debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”))
which have been notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
and short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO), which were recorded in the register required to be
kept pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO; or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of
the GEM Listing Rules were as follows:
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Approximate
Percentage of

Number Long/short  Shareholding in

Name Capacity/Nature of Interest of Shares position® the Company (%)
RAEQRER
"L B, RmitE RDEE "R/ KA BRE D (%)
Mr. KM Luk®ote D Beneficial owner; interest of spouse 157,000,000 L 39.25
o 48 BF 5 A () EnEAA BB ER
Mr. KL Luk®ete2) Interest in controlled corporation 138,000,000 L 34.50
Rk 25 R 5 A 2 R AE R
Mr. YC LukNete2) (Note 3) Interest in controlled corporation; 138,600,000 L 34.65
interest of spouse

B B & A 2 (HiE9) R AE R AR
Mr. Chan Chak Lun Philip Beneficial owner 4,000,000 L 1.00

(“Mr. CL Chan")t
BRI
(BRI SEAE]) 0

BaEAA

Notes:

(1) Mr. KM Luk directly holds 100,000,000 Shares. Since Mr. KM Luk is the spouse of
Madam Leung, Mr. KM Luk is deemed to be interested in all the Shares in which
Madam Leung is interested or deemed to be interested under the SFO, which is
57,000,000 Shares.

2) Each of Mr. KL Luk and Mr. YC Luk owns one common share in KML Holdings
Limited (“KML Holdings’), representing 50% of the issued share capital of KML
Holdings carrying voting rights. Mr. KL Luk and Mr. YC Luk are deemed to be
interested in all Shares in which KML Holdings is interested or deemed to be
interested under the SFO, which is 138,000,000 Shares.

3) Since Mr. YC Luk is the spouse of Ms. Woo, Mr. YC Luk is deemed to be interest
in all the Shares in which Ms. Woo is interested or deemed to be interested under
the SFO, which is 600,000 Shares.

4) Mr. CL Chan directly holds 2,000,000 Shares and was interested as a grantee of
options to subscribe for up to 2,000,000 Shares under the Share Option Scheme
(announced on 2 January 2020).

)] The Letter “L” denotes the entity/person’s long position in the Shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2020, none of the Directors
or the chief executive of the Company had or was deemed to have any
interest or short position in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of
the Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV
of the SFO) that was required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which they were taken or deemed to have
taken under such provisions of the SFO), or required to be recorded in the
register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Rules 5.46
to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2020, to the best knowledge of the Directors, the
following persons (not being a Director or chief executive of the Company)
had interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares which
fall to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of
the SFO:

FERRRROREBRONWERR LR

RZZE-_ZF=A=+—H REBEAMEM UTALGE
IFEBHARREETHA L) RAR R B EAR (H #
BAREMRE GES KB KD 533614 AF B rZ it
FrEc s iR IR (5 R EAE 150D BEXVER B2 K 37 SR IE XA
MR R MR TR ENERIOAR

Approximate
Percentage of

Number Long/short  Shareholding in

Name Capacity/Nature of Interest of Shares position® the Company (%)
RAEDEHFR

s B RnitE RHEE "E/HKEO BB D (%)
KML Holdings Beneficial owner 138,000,000 L 34.50
KML Holdings EnEEA
Madam Leung @ Beneficial owner; interest of spouse 157,000,000 L 39.25
R+ BEREAA  IEER
Ms. Chan Patricia © Interest of spouse 138,000,000 L 34.50
BRINSS 2+ @ I e
Ms. Woo @ Beneficial owner; interest of spouse 138,600,000 L 34.65
R RfBiEn
Notes:

(1) Each of Mr. KL Luk and Mr. YC Luk owns one common share in KML Holdings,
representing 50% of the issued share capital of KML Holdings carrying voting
rights. Mr. KL Luk and Mr. YC Luk also own approximately 50% and approximately
50%, respectively, of the issued preferred shares in KML Holdings which do not
carry voting rights but only rights to dividends.

2) Madam Leung is the spouse of Mr. KM Luk. By virtue of the SFO, Madam Leung
is deemed to be interested in all the Shares in which Mr. KM Luk is interested or
deemed to be interested under the SFO, and vice versa.

3) Ms. Chan is the spouse of Mr. KL Luk. By virtue of the SFO, Ms. Chan is deemed
to be interested in all the Shares in which Mr. KL Luk is interested or deemed to be
interested under the SFO.

(4) Ms. Woo is the spouse of Mr. YC Luk. By virtue of the SFO, Ms. Woo is deemed to
be interested in all the Shares in which Mr. YC Luk is interested or deemed to be
interested under the SFO, which is 138,000,000 Shares. Ms. Woo directly holds
300,000 Shares and was interested as a grantee of options to subscribe for up to
300,000 Shares under the Share Option Scheme (announced on 2 January 2020).

(5) The Letter “L” denotes the entity/person’s long position in the Shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2020, the Directors were
not aware of any persons (who were not Directors or chief executive
of the Company) who had an interest or short position in the Shares or
underlying Shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company and the Stock Exchange under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of
the SFO, or which would be required, pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO,
to be entered in the register referred to therein.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as otherwise disclosed in this annual report, at no time during the
Reporting Period was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to
any arrangement that would enable the Directors to acquire benefits by
means of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any
other body corporate, and none of the Directors or any of their spouses or
children under the age of 18 were granted any right to subscribe for the
equity or debt securities of the Company or any other body corporate or
had exercised any such right.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

In order to recognise and acknowledge the contributions that the directors
and employees of the Group have made or may make to the Group, the
Company approved and adopted the share option scheme pursuant to
the written resolutions of the Shareholders passed on 20 September 2017
(the “Share Option Scheme”).

(i) The Board may, at its absolute discretion and on such terms as it
may think fit, grant an option to subscribe any director or employee
of the Group, from time to time on the basis of his/her contribution
or potential contribution to the development and growth of the
Group.

(ii) The maximum number of Shares in respect of which options may
be granted under the Share Option Scheme must not in aggregate
exceed 40,000,000 Shares, representing 10% of the total number
of Shares in issue as at the Date of this Report.

(i) The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of options granted to any participant (including both exercised
an outstanding options) under the Share Option Scheme, in any
12-month period up to the date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the
Shares in issue. Any further grant of options in excess of such limit
must be separately approved by Shareholders in general meeting
with such grantee and his/her close associates abstaining from
voting.

(iv)  An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
Share Option Scheme at any time during a period as the Board
may determine which shall not exceed 10 years from the date of
grant subject to the provisions of early termination thereof.

(v) An offer for the grant of options must be accepted within three
business days from the date of offer. The amount payable by the
eligible persons of an option to the Company on acceptance of the
offer for the grant of an option is HK$10.

(v The subscription price of a Share in respect of any particular
option granted under the Share Option Scheme shall be a price
solely determined by the Board and notified to an eligible person
and shall not be less than the highest of: (i) the closing price of the
Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet
on the date of grant of the option, which must be a business day;
(i) the average closing prices of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant of the option; and (i) the
nominal value of a Share on the date of grant of the option.
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(vi)  The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period of 10
years commencing on the Listing Date and shall expire at the close
of business on the business day immediately preceding the 10th
anniversary thereof unless terminated earlier by the Shareholders in
a general meeting.

On 3 September 2018, 9,200,000 share options have been granted by
the Company under the Share Option Scheme. No grantee has exercised
the options since they were granted for the period from 3 September
2018 to 2 January 2020. Taking into account the exercise price of these
options was comparatively high as compared with the market prices of
the Shares, which deterred the grantees from exercising these options
to subscribe for the Shares, on 2 January 2020, as approved by the
Board and consented from each of the relevant grantees, an aggregate
of the aforementioned 9,200,000 options were cancelled with effect from
2 January 2020 in accordance with the terms of the Share Option
Scheme.

On the same day, the Company granted 9,800,000 share options
(“Options”) to certain eligible participants (the “Grantee(s)”), subject to
acceptance by the Grantees, to subscribe for Shares with nominal value of
HK$0.01 each of the Company under the Share Option Scheme. Among
the Options granted, 2,000,000 Options were granted to a Director of the
Company, 700,000 Options were granted to a director of a subsidiary of
the Company and 300,000 Options were granted to an associate to a
Director of the Company.

For the year ended 31 March 2020, 9,800,000 Options were granted on
2 January 2020. The estimated fair values of the Options granted was
approximately HK$1,057,000, which was calculated by using the binomial
option pricing model based on following inputs. The values of the Options
are subject to certain fundamental limitations, including the subjective
nature of and uncertainty relating to a number of assumptions of the
expected future performance input to the model, and certain inherent
limitations of the model itself. The expected volatility was determined
with reference to the historical daily volatilities of the Share price of
the Company. The risk-free rate was determined with reference to the
prevailing rates on debt securities as reference from Thomson Reuters.
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Date of grant 2 January 2020
BB —BE-E2H—-H=H
Share price at grant date HK$0.250
R B BRIRR D (B 0.250% 7T
Exercise price HK$0.259
TEE 0.259/%8 7T
Expected volatility 54.96%
TEERIR I8 54.96%

Expected life

TEEA<F AR

Risk-free rate

AR =

Expected dividend yield

TEHARR B %

Exercise multiple

IS

The Group recognised an expense of approximately HK$845,000 in

relation to share options granted by the Company for the year ended 31
March 2020.
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Details regarding the number of Options, date of grant, exercise period
and exercise price of the Options granted under the Share Option Scheme

are set out below:

Report of Directors

BRAREBREASREBRE 2 BRERE - KRHA
Hi -~ (TERATEEZ F TR

Closing price
Total immediately
Date of number of Number of Exercise price before date
Name of participants Options granted ~ Options granted ~ Options granted Vesting period Exercise period of Options of grant
ERLBRE ERit SEELAS
SERENR RABRERD HEAY BhREYA 5RE T8 BRETRE HZmE
HKS per share HKS per share
/R /|
Mr. CL Chan 2 January 2020 2,000,000 2,000,000 2 January 2020 1 July 2021 0.259 025
(Director and Chief executive officer) 10 30 June 2021 to 1 January 2025
REBRL “E-RE-ACR “Z-RE-PCAE ZTC-ErfA-BE
(ESHHEH) “$--§AASE CECEEA-E
Ms. Wai Hang Ying Helen 2 January 2020 700,000 700,000 2 January 2020 1 July 2021 0.259 0.25
(Director of KML 10 30 June 2021 to 1 January 2025
Engineering)
GhEnt “2-%45-CH ZB-ZE-fCAE “EZ--H£tf-BZE
(RARAIRNES) “Z--%~A=1R “BonE-A-H
Ms. Woo 2 January 2020 300,000 300,000 2 January 2020 1 July 2021 0.259 025
(Company Secretary) 10 30 June 2021 to 1 January 2025
it “TCFE-AZA Z2CFF-ARAE ZB--HtA-HE
(RREIHE) Z3=-F/A=1H “Z-af-A-A
Employees 2 January 2020 6,800,000 3,500,000 2 January 2020 1 July 2020 0.259 0.25
10 30 June 2020 to 1 January 2025
B8 “2C2E-ACA ZBCRE-ACRE CZCEECA-RE
ZZITERACTA “Z-nE-A-H
3,300,000 2 January 2020 2 January 2021 0.259 025
to 1 January 2021 to 1 January 2025
ZB-ZE-fCAE “EZ--£-fZRZE
“2--%-A-8 “BCnE-A-H
Total 9,800,000
st
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Details of the movements of Options granted, exercised or cancelled/
lapsed during the year ended 31 March 2020 and still outstanding as at
31 March 2020 are as follows:

RBE-ZZF=A=+—HILFERERL BT
YE/I%/ESEx&&EAfoyi A=1t—BHAKTE
BB

Outstanding as at Number of Number of Number of Number of  Outstanding as at
Name of participants 1 April 2019 Options granted  Options exercised ~ Options cancelled Options lapsed 31 March 2020
R=ZB-1F RZBZ2F
mA-A BR BT 2 BXX =ZA=1-H
BHEERE R AT BREZE BREZE BREZE BREHA i RAT
Mr. CL Chan 4,000,000 2,000,000 - 4,000,000 - 2,000,000
(Director and Chief executive officer)
BERSEE
(ESHITER)
Ms. Wai Hang Ying Helen 1,400,000 700,000 - 1,400,000 - 700,000
(Director of KML Engineering)
FhELt
(REREIRNES)
Ms. Woo 600,000 300,000 = 600,000 = 300,000
(Company Secretary)
[
(REWE)
Employees 3,200,000 6,800,000 - 3,200,000 - 6,800,000
&8
Total 9,200,000 9,800,000 - 9,200,000 - 9,800,000
L
SHARE AWARD SCHEME iR 17 22 BTt &
The Company adopted a share award scheme (the “Share Award ARERZZE—N\F+—ARB ([HFHBHY])RA—BR

Scheme”) on 5 November 2018 (the “Adoption Date”). Subject to any
early termination as may be determined by the Board, the Share Award
Scheme shall be valid and effective for a term of 15 years commencing on
the Adoption Date. Please refer to the announcement dated 5 November
2018 for details.

There were no awarded shares granted, vested, forfeited or outstanding
during the year ended 31 March 2020.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the Share Option Scheme and Share Award Scheme as set
out in this annual report, no equity-linked agreement that would or might
result in the Company issuing Shares, or that requiring the Company to
enter into an agreement that would or might result in the Company issuing
Shares, was entered into by the Company during the year or subsisted at
the end of the year.

DEBENTURES ISSUED

The Company did not issue any debentures for the year ended 31 March
2020.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED SECURITIES

During the Reporting Period, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s
listed securities, except that trustee of the Share Award Scheme, pursuant
to the terms of the rules and trust deed of the Share Award Scheme,
purchased on the Stock Exchange a total of 1,665,000 Shares at a total
consideration of approximately HK$406,000.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of Association
or the laws of the Cayman Islands that would oblige the Company to offer
new Shares on a pro rata basis to the existing Shareholders.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING

Pursuant to the deed of non-competition dated 20 September 2017
(the “Deed of Non-competition”) entered into by the Group and Mr.
KM Luk, Madam Leung, Mr. KL Luk, Mr. YC Luk and KML Holdings
(collectively, the “Controlling Shareholders”) and as covenators
(collectively, the “Covenators”), each of the Covenators has irrevocably
and unconditionally undertaken to and covenanted with the Company
(for itself and as trustee for its subsidiaries) that, subject to the exceptions
as described in the Prospectus, during the period that the Deed of Non-
Competition remains effective, he/she/it shall not, and shall procure that
his/her/its associates (other than any members of the Group) will not,
during the term of the Deed of Non-Competition, directly or indirectly,
either for his/her/its own account or in conjunction with or on behalf
of or for any other person, firm or company, whether for profit, reward
or otherwise, (i) carry on, participate in, be interested or engaged in,
or acquire or hold any right or interest (in each case whether as a
shareholder, partner, agent, consultant, employee or otherwise) directly
or indirectly in any business which is or likely to be in competition with
the business currently from time to time engaged by the Group (the
“Restricted Business”) in Hong Kong, Taiwan and any other country or
jurisdiction which any member of the Group provides such services and/
or in which any member of the Group carries on its business currently and
from time to time (the “Territory”); (ii) solicit, interfere with or endeavour to
entice away from any member of the Group any person, firm, company or
organisation who to his/her/its knowledge is now or has been a customer,
supplier, subcontractor or employee of any member of the Group in the
past twelve months before such proposed engagement or employment;
or (iii) without prior written consent of the Company, make use of any
information pertaining to the business, which have or may have come to
his/her/its knowledge in his/her/its capacity as a Controlling Shareholder
and/or Director for any purpose of his/her/its capacity as a Controlling
Shareholder and/or Director for any purpose of his/her/its engaging,
investing or participating in any Restricted Business in the Territory. For
details of the above, please refer to the Prospectus.

The Company has received confirmations from the Controlling
Shareholders confirming their compliance with the Deed of Non-
competition respectively during the Reporting Period for disclosure in this
report.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the Deed of Non-
competition during the Reporting Period and based on the information and
confirmation provided by or obtained from the Controlling Shareholders
and they were satisfied that the Controlling Shareholders have duly
complied with the Deed of Non-competition during the Reporting Period.

WE - HEREE ETES

RBEHRE - NARIREREMBARMERE - HESK
EOIRARRN EMES  EROEBETENTTA
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406,000/ T R B 22 FTiE B & 2£1,665,00008 IR (D BR 51
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DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, during the Reporting Period, none
of the Directors or their respective associates had engaged in or had any
interest in any business which competes or is likely to compete, either
directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the Reporting Period, the Group entered into certain connected
transactions with the connected persons of the Company, namely K M L
Limited and Logistic Industrial Supply Company Limited.

NON-EXEMPT CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTION

Tenancy Agreement

KML Engineering, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, as tenant
entered into the tenancy agreement on 12 September 2017 (the “First
Tenancy Agreement”) with K M L Limited as landlord, pursuant to
which K M L Limited agreed to lease to KML Engineering the Premises
and certain parking spaces (as detailed in the Prospectus). The Directors
believe that the entering of the First Tenancy Agreement is necessary
for the continuous use of the premises and parking spaces by KML
Engineering and the growth and operations of the Group.

K M L Limited is a company incorporated in Hong Kong and owned as
to 78.2% by Golden Sail International Limited (“Golden Sail”), which is
wholly-owned by a trustee for a family trust where the beneficiaries include
Mr. KM Luk and Madam Leung. Therefore, K M L Limited is an associate
of each of Mr. KM Luk and Madam Leung, and hence is a connected
person of the Company.

The principal terms of the First Tenancy Agreement are set out below:

(i) The term of the First Tenancy Agreement is for a fixed term
commencing on the Listing Date and expiring on 31 March 2020
unless terminated earlier upon certain events of default as provided
in the Tenancy Agreement.

(ii) For the year ended 31 March 2020, the monthly rent of
approximately HK$398,000 per calendar month payable by KML
Engineering (exclusive of management fees, government rates and
rent and outgoings).

(iii) The maximum aggregate rent payable by KML Engineering under

the First Tenancy Agreement for the year ended 31 March 2020

sets out as below:

0
0]

SEYiE

k>

Maximum aggregate rent
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The actual aggregate rent payable by KML Engineering under the First
Tenancy Agreement for the year ended 31 March 2020 amounted to
approximately HK$4,776,000.

During the Reporting Period, the independent non-executive Directors

have reviewed the aforesaid continuing connected transactions and
confirmed that the transactions have been entered into:

i

) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
(ii) on normal commercial terms; and

(iii) in accordance with relevant agreement governing them on terms
that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders
as a whole.

Ermnst & Young, the Company’s auditors (the “Auditor”), were engaged to
report on the Group’s continuing connected transactions in accordance
with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information and with reference to Practice Note 740 Auditor’s Letter on
Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Ernst
& Young have issued their unqualified letter containing the findings and
conclusions in respect of the continuing connected transactions disclosed
above by the Group in accordance with Rule 20.54 of the GEM Listing
Rules. A copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided by the Company to
the Stock Exchange.

On 3 September 2018, KML Engineering and K M L Limited entered into
the second tenancy agreement (the “Second Tenancy Agreement”),
pursuant to which KML Engineering agreed to rent additional premises
situated at the same building of the First Tenancy Agreement. The
applicable percentage ratios (other than the profit ratio) for the Second
Tenancy Agreement is less than 5% and under HK$3.0 million and
hence, these transactions, on a standalone basis, constitute de minimis
continuing connected transactions pursuant to Rule 20.74 of the GEM
Listing Rules and are fully exempt from the shareholders’ approval, annual
review and all disclosure requirements under Chapter 20 of the GEM
Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, during the Reporting Period,
the Company had no connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions which fell to be disclosed in accordance with the provisions
under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules in relation to the disclosure of
connected transactions and continuing connected transactions.

The related party transactions as disclosed in note 26 to the consolidated
financial statements constituted as connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions as defined in Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules
and in compliance with the disclosure requirements under Chapter 20 of
the GEM Listing Rules.
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MATERIAL LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

For the year ended 31 March 2020, the Company was not engaged in any
litigation or arbitration of material importance and no litigation or claim of
material importance is known to the Directors to be pending or threatening
against the Company.

PERMITTED INDEMINTY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, Directors and senior officers of
the Company shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the
Company against all losses or liabilities which he may sustain or incur in
or about the execution of the duties of his office or otherwise in relation
thereto, and no Director or officer shall be liable for any loss, damages or
misfortune which may happen to or be incurred by the Company in the
execution of the duties of his office or in relation thereto. The Company
has arranged appropriate Directors and officers liability insurance coverage
for the Directors and officers of the Company since the Listing Date.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Save as disclosed in this report, up to the Date of this Report, there were
no subsequent events after this reporting period.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) had,
together with the management, reviewed the accounting principles and
policies adopted by the Group and the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2020.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance practices. Information on the corporate governance practices
adopted by the Company is set out in the Corporate Governance Report
on pages 38 to 52 of this annual report.

The compliance officer of the Company is Mr. YC Luk, whose biographical
details are set out on page 17. The company secretary is Ms. Woo who
satisfies the qualification requirement under Rules 5.14 and 11.07 of the
GEM Listing Rules as the company secretary of the Company. Ms. Woo's
biographical details are set out on page 20 of this annual report.

INTERESTS OF COMPLIANCE ADVISER

As notified by the Company’s compliance adviser, Kingsway Capital
Limited (“Kingsway Capital”), neither Kingsway Capital nor any of its
directors or employees or close associates had any interest in the share
capital of the Company or any member of the Group (including options
or rights to subscribe for such securities) or otherwise in relation of the
Company which is required to be notified to the Company pursuant to
Rule 6A.32 of the GEM Listing Rules and all Directors and the controlling
shareholders of the Company and their respective close associates
as referred to in Rule 11.04 of the GEM Listing Rules (except for the
compliance adviser service provided by Kingsway Capital as at the Date
of this Report).
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information publicly available to the Company and to the best
knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the Company’s total issued
shares, the prescribed minimum percentage of public float approved by
the Stock Exchange and permitted under the GEM Listing Rules, was held
by the public at all times during the Reporting Period and up to the latest
practicable date prior to the issue of this report.

AUDITOR

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu resigned as the auditor of the Company with
effect from 2 March 2020. With the recommendation from the Audit
Committee and as approved by the Board, Ernst & Young was appointed
as the auditor of the Company with effect from 2 March 2020 to fill the
casual vacancy following the resignation of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu and
to hold office until the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the
Company.

The accompanying financial statements prepared in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards have been audited by Ernst &
Young.

On behalf of the Board

KML Technology Group Limited
Luk Kam Ming

Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 18 June 2020
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICE

The Group is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance to safeguard the interests of the Shareholders and to enhance
corporate value and accountability. The Company has adopted the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 15
to the GEM Listing Rules as its own code of corporate governance. During
the Reporting Period, the Company has applied the principles as set out
in the CG Code contained in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules which
are applicable to the Company and has complied with the CG Code.

THE BOARD

Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for the overall leadership of the Group, oversees
the Group’s strategic decisions and monitors business and performance.
The Board has delegated the authority and responsibility for day-to-
day management and operation of the Group. To oversee particular
aspects of the Company’s affairs, the Board has established four Board
committees including the Audit Committee, the remuneration committee
(the “Remuneration Committee”), the nomination committee (the
“Nomination Committee”) and the risk management committee (the
“Risk Management Committee”) (together, the “Board Committees”).
The Board has delegated to the Board Committees responsibilities as set
out in their respective terms of reference.

All Directors had carried out duties in good faith and in compliance with
applicable laws and regulations, and have acted in the interests of the
Company and the Shareholders at all times.

The Company has arranged appropriate liability insurance in respect of
legal action against the Directors. The insurance coverage will be reviewed
on an annual basis.

Board Composition
The Board comprises four executive Directors and three independent non-
executive Directors as follows:

Executive Directors:

Mr. LUK Kam Ming

Mr. CHAN Chak Lun Philip
Mr. LUK Kwai Lung

Mr. LUK Yin Cheung

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. LAU On Kwok

Mr. LAW Wing Chi Stephen

Dr. TSE Chi Kong

The biographies of the Directors are set out under the section headed
“Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report.
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During the Reporting Period, the Board has met at all times the
requirements under rules 5.05(1) and 5.05(2) of the GEM Listing Rules
relating to the appointment of at least three independent non-executive
Directors with at least one independent non-executive Director possessing
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise.

The Company has also complied with rule 5.05A of the GEM Listing
Rules relating to the appointment of independent non-executive Directors
representing at least one-third of the Board.

The Company believes that the diversity of Board members will be
immensely beneficial for the enhancement of the Company’s performance.
Therefore, the Company has adopted a Board diversity policy to ensure
that the Company will, when determining the composition of the Board,
consider Board diversity in terms of, among other things, age, cultural and
educational background, professional experience, skills and knowledge.
All Board appointments will be based on merits, and candidates will be
considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of
diversity of the Board.

The Company has received the confirmation from each of the independent
non-executive Directors about his independence pursuant to rule 5.09
of the GEM Listing Rules, the Company considers all of them to be
independent.

Save as disclosed in the Directors’ biographies set out in the section
headed “Directors and Senior Management” in this annual report, none of
the Directors have any personal relationship (including financial, business,
family or other material or relevant relationship) with any other Directors
and the chief executive of the Company.

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors, have
brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge
and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and effective functioning.
Independent non-executive Directors are invited to serve on the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination Committee
and the Risk Management Committee.

As regards the CG Code provision requiring directors to disclose the
number and nature of offices held in public companies or organisations
and other significant commitments as well as the identity of the public
companies or organisations and the time involved to the Company, the
Directors have agreed to disclose their commitments and any subsequent
change to the Company in a timely manner.
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INDUCTION AND CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

Each newly appointed Director is provided with necessary induction and
information to ensure that he/she has a proper understanding of the
Group’s operations and businesses as well as his/her responsibilities
under relevant statues, laws, rules and regulations. The Company also
provides regular updates on latest development and changes in the GEM
Listing Rules and other relevant legal and regulatory requirements from
time to time. The Directors are also provided with regular updates on the
Group’s performance, position and prospects to enable the Board as a
whole and each Director to discharge his duties.

Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development seminars to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
The company secretary of the Company has from time to time updated
and provided the Directors with written training materials relating to the
roles, functions and duties of a director of a listed issuer on GEM of the
Stock Exchange.

The professional trainings of the Directors during the year ended 31 March
2020 are as follows:

ABRGEEERR

PR ENERERHEVENABIEIRER - LA
R AR BN EE MR AR REER &0 - R
AIRRBITHEEHEEE T - ADRITNVERREHEGEM £
MRAREMERERIEEREZ TRENERIED
MEHER - ESNERRREFEAEERR - MRk
RIZMRMER  NEESS2RBLREEFRITREMNE

=
5 e°

ARRASMEFLRSETLDRTNG - LR REH
BEHMBRIE - ARAOANREREAEFEHR
ROUEBBZAGEM LT RTAEEAE - B RBEN
BESIEHR -

EENEE_ T SFE-A=t+-ALFERENFEE
Bl

Directors Type of trainings
S EIER
Executive Directors BITES

Mr. LUK Kam Ming REfERR A B
Mr. CHAN Chak Lun Philip PR B ST & A B
Mr. LUK Kwai Lung FEZE ot A B
Mr. LUK Yin Cheung EEEEE A B
Independent Non-Executive Directors BAKHITES

Mr. LAU On Kwok BL BT E A B
Mr. LAW Wing Chi Stephen FKESRE A B
Dr. TSE Chi Kong 25 T 1 £ A B
Notes: Hist -

A: Attending seminars and/or meetings and/or forums and/or briefings A HEFTER HEFHER B R A ERE

B: Reading materials relevant to corporate governance, director’s duties and B: HEPrFER EFBEREF - _FHHLRAMIBEEAS

responsibilities, listing rules and other relevant ordinances
CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Under code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman and
chief executive officer should be separate and performed by different
individuals.

The chairman of the Board and the chief executive officer of the Company
(the “Chief Executive Officer”) are currently two separate positions held
by Mr. KM Luk and Mr. CL Chan, respectively, with clear distinction in
responsibilities. Mr. KM Luk is responsible for devising strategies for the
continuous development of the Group, overseeing the Group’s business
operations and financial performance, as well as leading the Board in
performing its functions while Mr. CL Chan is responsible for managing
the overall business operations and executing business strategies of the
Group.
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TERMS OF APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

Each of the executive Directors has signed a service contract with the
Company for an initial term of three years commencing from the Listing
Date, subject to termination as provided in the service contract.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has signed a letter
of appointment with the Company for an initial term of three years
commencing from the Listing Date, which may be renewable subject to
both parties’ agreement.

None of the Directors has a service contract which is not determinable by
the Group within one year without payment of compensation (other than
statutory compensation).

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and removal
of Directors are set out in the Articles of Association. The Nomination
Committee is responsible for reviewing the Board composition and
making recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-election
of Directors and succession planning for Directors.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE REQUIRED STANDARD OF
DEALINGS IN SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the required standard of dealings set out in
Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules as its own code of conduct
regarding Directors’ securities transactions in the securities of the
Company.

The Company has made specific enquiries to all Directors about their
compliance with the required standard of dealings from the Listing Date
and up to 31 March 2020, without noticing any violation of the required
standard.

DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The Board reserves for its decision on all major matters of the Company,
including approval and monitoring of all policy matters, overall strategies
and budgets, risk management and internal control systems, material
transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict of interests),
financial information, appointment of Directors and other significant
financial and operational matters. Directors are provided with sufficient
resources to seek independent professional advice in performing their
duties at the Company’s expense and are encouraged to access and to
consult with the Company’s senior management independently.

The daily management, administration and operation of the Group are
delegated to the senior management. The delegated functions and
responsibilities are periodically reviewed by the Board. Approval has to be
obtained from the Board prior to any significant transactions entered into
by the management.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board recognises that corporate governance should be the collective
responsibility of the Directors which includes:

i) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(ii) to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of the Directors and senior management;

(i)  to develop, review and monitor the codes of conduct and
compliance manuals applicable to employees and the Directors;

(iv)  to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the Board
on such matters;

(v) to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the corporate governance report; and

(v to review and monitor the Company’s compliance with the
Company’s whistleblowing policy.

BOARD MEETINGS

The Company adopts the practice of holding Board meetings regularly, at
least four times a year, and at approximately quarterly intervals. Notices
of not less than fourteen days are given for all regular Board meetings to
provide all Directors with an opportunity to attend and include matters in
the agenda for a regular meeting.

For other Board and Board Committee meetings, reasonable notice
is generally given. The agenda and accompanying board papers are
despatched to the Directors or Board Committees members at least three
days before the meetings to ensure that they have sufficient time to review
the papers and are adequately prepared for the meetings. When Directors
or Board Committee members are unable to attend a meeting, they will be
advised of the matters to be discussed and given an opportunity to make
their views known to the chairman of the Board or the relevant Board
Committees prior to the meeting. Minutes of the meetings are kept by the
company secretary with copies circulated to all Directors to the relevant
Board Committees members for information and records.

Minutes of the Board meetings and Board Committees meetings are
recorded in sufficient details about the matters considered by the Board
and the Board Committees and the decisions reached, including any
concerns raised by the Directors or the Board Committees members.
Draft minutes of each Board meeting and Board Committee meeting are
sent to the Directors or the Board Committees members for comments
within a reasonable time after the date on which the meeting is held.
Minutes of the Board meetings and the Board Committees are open for
inspection by Directors.
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During the Reporting Period, six board meetings and one general meeting
were held and the attendance of each Director at these meetings is set
out in the table below:

RIBEERT - BT AR FRERR—RREAE - &
EERRERHOEFERMATE -

Board meeting(s) General meeting(s)

Directors Attended/Held Attended/Held
BHE 8T SHE BE8T
B=x EEged BRAE
Executive Directors: HITES
Mr. LUK Kam Ming FEdERA ST A 6/6 1/1
Mr. CHAN Chak Lun Philip PRIZMEE ST 6/6 11
Mr. LUK Kwai Lung e @i 6/6 11
Mr. LUK Yin Cheung BEESEE 6/6 1/1
Independent Non-executive Directors: BIUkHITES:
Mr. LAU On Kwok B E 6/6 01
Mr. LAW Wing Chi Stephen KESLE 6/6 1/1
Dr. TSE Chi Kong SHERIEL 6/6 11
BOARD COMMITTEES BEEZES
Audit Committee EREER

The Audit Committee comprises three members, namely Mr. LAU On
Kwok (chairman), Mr. LAW Wing Chi Stephen and Dr. TSE Chi Kong, all of
them are independent non-executive Directors.

The principal duties of the Audit Committee include the following:

M

(i)

To review the relationship with the Auditor by reference to the work
performed by the Auditor, their fees and terms of engagement,
and make recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-
appointment and removal of the Auditor;

To review the financial statements and reports and consider
any significant or unusual items raised by the Company’s staff
responsible for the accounting and financial reporting function,
compliance officer or the Auditor before submission to the Board;
and

To review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s
financial reporting system, risk management and internal control
systems and associated procedures, including the adequacy of the
resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programmes
and budget of the Company’s accounting and financial reporting
function.

The written terms of reference of the Audit Committee are available on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

The Audit Committee had five meetings and two of the meetings with the
Company’s external auditor during the Reporting Period.

EREESRA=2REER  NBLEEE(EF) -
BXERERHEREL - REHRBIUIFRTESE -

ERER
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SNEEMEREATIE :
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During the Reporting Period up to the Date of this Report, the Audit
Committee had one meeting with the Auditor to discuss the annual audit
for the year ended 31 March 2020 with the following matters:

0] reviewed the final results of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2020 as well as the audit report prepared by the Auditor relating to
accounting issues and major findings in course of audit; and

(ii) reviewed the financial reporting system, compliance procedures,
(including the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes and budget of the Company’s
accounting and financial reporting function), and the re-
appointment of the Auditor; the Board had not deviated from any
recommendation given by the Audit Committee on the selection,
appointment, resignation or dismissal of the Auditor.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee currently comprises three members, namely
Mr. LUK Kam Ming (chairman), Mr. LAW Wing Chi Stephen and Dr. TSE
Chi Kong, the majority of the committee is comprised by independent
non-executive Directors.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include the following:

(i) to review the structure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) of the Board at least annually and
make recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

(ii) to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members
and select or make recommendations to the Board on the selection
of individuals nominated for directorships;

(iii) to assess the independence of independent non-executive
Directors; and

(iv)  to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-
appointment of Directors and the succession planning for Directors,
in particular the chairman and the chief executive officer of the
Company.

The Nomination Committee assesses the candidate or incumbent on
criteria such as integrity, experience, skill and ability to commit time and
effort to carry out the duties and responsibilities. The recommendations of
the Nomination Committee will then be put to the Board for decision. The
written terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are available on
the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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Policy on Directors Nomination

The Company has adopted a nomination policy stating the process and
criteria to select and recommend candidates for directorship during
the Reporting Period. In identifying suitable candidate qualified to
become Board members, the Nomination Committee shall consider the
attributes complementary to the Board, business experience and Board
Expertise and skills, availability, motivation, integrity and independence of
candidates.

The Nomination Committee had one meeting during the Reporting Period
to assess the independence of independent non-executive Directors and
consider the re-appointments of the retiring Directors.

Board Diversity Policy
The Board has adopted a board diversity policy, a summary of which is
set out below:

i) With a view to achieving a sustainable and balanced development,
the Company sees increasing diversity at the Board level as an
essential element in supporting the attainment of its strategic
objectives and its sustainable development;

(ii) In designing the Board’s composition, Board diversity has been
considered from a number of aspects, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service;

(i) All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and
candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having due
regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board;

(ivy  Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service. The ultimate decision will be
based on merit and contribution that the selected candidates will
bring to the Board;

(V) The Nomination Committee will report annually, in the Corporate
Governance Report, on the Board’s composition under diversified
perspectives, and monitor the implementation of this Policy; and

(v The Nomination Committee will review this Policy, as appropriate, to
ensure the effectiveness of this Policy. The Nomination Committee
will discuss any revisions that may be required, and recommend
any such revisions to the Board for consideration and approval.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises three members, namely
Dr. TSE Chi Kong (chairman), Mr. LAU On Kwok and Mr. LUK Kam Ming,
the majority of the committee is comprised by independent non-executive
Directors.

The principal duties of the Remuneration Committee include the following:

M

(i)

)

V)

to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s overall
policy and structure for the remuneration of the Directors and senior
management and on the establishment of a formal and transparent
procedure for developing remuneration policy;

to review and approve the management’s remuneration proposals
with reference to the corporate goals and objectives determined by
the Board, and assess performance of executive Directors and the
terms of their service agreements;

to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior management.
These include benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation
payments, including any compensation payable for loss or
termination of their office or appointment;

to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of
non-executive Directors; and

to ensure that no Director or any of his/her associates (as defined
in the GEM Listing Rules) is involved in deciding his/her own
remuneration.

The written terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

The Remuneration Committee had two meetings during the Reporting
Period to discuss, review and make recommendations to the Board on
the remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management of the Company.
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Remuneration of Directors and Senior Management

Particulars of the remuneration of the Directors and the five highest
individuals during the Reporting Period are set out in note 8 to the
consolidated financial statements. Pursuant to code provision B.1.5 of the
CG Code, the remuneration of the members of the senior management
(including Company Secretary and excluding the Directors) whose
particulars are contained in the section headed “Directors and Senior
Management” in this annual report for the year ended 31 March 2020 by
band is set out below:

Remuneration band (in HK$)

EERSHEEBNTM
RN EHRE - EFRALRSHMALTOFHFBERTIN
iR A BB RS - RIBEFEIATRISTRIENFEB.A.5

fi

C HFAENENER

TECEF-A=THIEFE

E’leiiae&fé%&mﬁ& ERE]| —HNaREREKE (B

RAEME  ERHIN RFBAERIED

DEEENE AT

Number of individuals

FENAR R CET) A
Not exceeding HK$1,000,000 TiBiE 1,000,000/ 7T 3
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 E 1,500,000/ 7T 1
Risk Management Committee RREEZE®

The Risk Management Committee comprises five members, namely Mr. EREREE SR BKEMEK - BIBEKESE (EE)

LAW Wing Chi Stephen (chairman), Mr. CHAN Chak Lun Philip, Mr. LAU BOZBETAE  BIRBLE EERAEREETLE -

On Kwok, Mr. LUK Kwai Lung and Mr. LUK Yin Cheung.

The principal duties of the Risk Management Committee include the EREEZEENTEREREATAHA

following:

0] to review the Group’s risk management system, including risk, (i) 8 ZKEIE’JH EERG  BIERR - BARRK
capital and liquidity management framework, the Group’s risk @ﬁ ERER  ANEENRRAZEN - ARIK
tolerance capability, its risk policies and standards, and relevant RIS EMBRBERERRS - REMALE - FTRM
risk limits, including the parameters used and the methodology B E R AR ER KA R T
adopted, and the processes used for identifying and assessing
risks;

(i)  to approve risk policies and standards, referring any new material iy  BUERBBKERIZE  RMESSRIAMEANFTEK
policies/standards or material changes to existing policies/ RRESIRABOR Z%EREIOERES) - B
standards/limits to the Board for approval; i

(i)  to discuss the risk management system with the management iy HEEEBRRAREERS HETEECERTH
and ensure that the management has performed its duties to BEUBNAERBES - /ImAREEIEDERR
establish an effective system. The contents to be discussed ERBETENER BIERRKERELTEH -
include the Company’s resources for risk management, adequacy AR BIAMEZAEIREREEEERSRE |
of qualifications and experiences of the employees, as well as
adequacy of training courses and relevant budgets available to the
employees;

(v)  to review material risk exposures of the Group, including market, vy REXSERRITESERE fi!‘ﬁ@]%ﬁ$&‘l
credit, insurance, operational, liquidity, and economic and regulatory WERRARMKR - BIETS 8 R 28 -
capital risks against the Group’s risk measurement methodologies RBES REBEREEEAARARE - NEE RIZEHIZ
and management actions to monitor and control such exposures; ZRg

(V) to review annually the changes, since the last annual review, in v BERIELXFERIRERRREERIZED
the nature and extent of significant risks, and the issuer’s ability to BH) - RETABHEEERINDIRRE B
respond to changes in its business and the external environment; 1R
and

(v  to review annually the effectiveness of the issuer’s processes for V) BFEREFBITAETHERRREST EWARMNE
financial reporting and compliance of the Listing Rules. PP »
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The written terms of reference of the Risk Management Committee are
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

The Risk Management Committee had one meeting during the Reporting
Period to discuss and review risk management policy, internal control
manual, internal audit plan, internal audit report, risk management and
internal control systems.

ATTENDANCE OF DIRECTORS AT VARIOUS BOARD
COMMITTEE MEETINGS

Rl B IR T 8 & A2 T B 88 B A B S P e AN A B 49 )
HERH -

NHEHE - BREEZBGRIT—REGH - JwmLEHN
R ERRER - NBEEETF - AEEXE - REER
HE - BREERARPEESIE o

ESHERESZESERNER

Number of meetings attended/held

HE/BITERRE
Audit Nomination Remuneration Risk
Committee Committee Committee Management
Directors Meeting Meeting Meeting Committee Meeting
) EVZEEER REZEEEE FHEEEEE EREEZE8EE
Executive Directors BiTES
Mr. LUK Kam Ming BEE R & - 11 2/2 -
Mr. CHAN Chak Lun Philip BRZEBLE - - - 11
Mr. LUK Kwai Lung BEEEAE - - - 1/1
Mr. LUK Yin Cheung BEETYEE - - - 11
Independent Non-Executive Directors BUFHTES
Mr. LAU On Kwok %R % E 5/5 - 2/2 1/1
Mr. LAW Wing Chi Stephen BXERE 5/5 11 - 1/1
Dr. TSE Chi Kong AEMEL 5/5 il 2/2 =

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR FINANCIAL REPORTING
IN RESPECT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements for the year ended 31 March 2020 which give a true and fair
view of the affairs of the Group and of the Group’s results and cash flows.

The management has provided to the Board such explanation and
information as are necessary to enable the Board to carry out an informed
assessment of the Company’s financial statements, which are put to the
Board for approval. The Company provides all members of the Board with
monthly updates on Group’s performance, positions and prospects.

The Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions which may cast significant doubt upon the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concemn.

The statement by the Auditor regarding their reporting responsibilities on

the consolidated financial statements of the Company is set out in the
independent auditor’s report on pages 53 to 57 of this annual report.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board acknowledges that it is its responsibility to ensure that the
Company establishes and maintains sound risk management and internal
control systems within the Group and to review the effectiveness of
the systems. Such systems are designed to manage and mitigate risks
inherent in the Group’s business faced by the Group to an acceptable
level, but not eliminating the risk of failure to achieve business objectives,
and can only provide reasonable assurance against material misstatement,
loss or fraud.

The Board has entrusted the Risk Management Committee with the
responsibility to oversee the risk management and internal control systems
of the Group on an on-going basis and to review the effectiveness of
the systems annually. The annual review covered all material controls,
including financial, operational and compliance controls.

Under the Company’s risk management and internal control structure,
the management is responsible for the design, implementation and
maintenance of risk management and internal control systems to
ensure, amongst others, (i) appropriate policies and control procedures
have been designed and established to safeguard the Group’s assets
against improper use or disposal; (i) relevant laws, rules and regulations
are adhered to and complied with; and (iii) that reliable financial and
accounting records are maintained in accordance with relevant accounting
standards and regulatory reporting requirements.

The main features of risk management an intermnal control structure of the
Company is as follows:

(i) Heads of each operation unit or department manage major risks
affecting the Group’s businesses and operations through the
processes of risk identification, risk assessment and implementation
of risk mitigation measures in accordance with the internal
guidelines approved by the Board and the Risk Management
Committee;

(ii) The management ensures appropriate actions are taken on major
risks affecting the Group’s businesses and operations; and

(iii) Internal audit auditors provide independent assurance to the Board,
the Risk Management Committee and the management concerning
the effectiveness of risk management and internal control systems.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, major works performed by the
management in relation to risk management and internal control include
the following:

i) Reviewed the progress of the implementation of the mitigation plan
for the major risks identified for the year ended 31 March 2019;

(ii) Identified new risks at corporate level for year ended 31 March
2020; and incorporated them into risk register for risk assessment;
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(i)  Conducted an annual review on effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group, covering
all material controls including financial, operational and compliance
controls; and

(iv) Reported the results of the risk assessment and internal audit to the
Risk Management Committee and the Board.

Based on the findings of the internal audit and the comments of the Risk
Management Committee, the Board considered that the risk management
and internal control systems are effective and adequate.

INSIDE INFORMATION DISCLOSURE POLICY

The Company has established a policy on the handling and dissemination
of inside information (“Inside Information”). The inside information policy
concerns the handling and the dissemination of the Inside Information as
follows:

(i) subject to the availability of a safe harbor exception, Inside
Information must be disclosed to public as soon as reasonably
practicable;

(ii) executive Directors and senior management should identify events
and/or developments which may constitute Inside Information and
report to the Board to consider whether they may constitute Inside
Information requiring disclosure;

(iii) until an announcement in relation to the Inside Information is made,
the Company shall ensure the Inside Information is kept strictly
confidential; and

(iv) If the Company believes that the necessary degree of confidentiality
cannot be maintained or that confidentiality may have been
breached, an announcement shall be made as soon as reasonably
practicable.

Inside Information will be announced on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy facilitating the Shareholders
and investors to make informed investment decisions relating to the
Company during the Reporting Period. In considering whether to
propose a dividend and in determining the dividend amount, the Board
shall consider the following factors before declaring or recommending
dividends:

i) the Company’s actual and expected financial performance;

(ii) retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company and
each of the members of the Group;

@iy  the Groups’ working capital requirements, capital expenditure
requirements and future expansion plans;

(iv)  the Group’s liquidity position;

(V) business conditions and strategies;
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(vi)  future operations and earnings;

(vii)  reasonable return in investment to the shareholders and investors;
and

(vii)  other factors that the Board may consider relevant.

Declaration and payment of dividend by the Company shall also subject to
any restrictions under the Cayman Islands laws, any applicable laws, rules
and regulations, any restrictions that may be imposed by the Group’s
lenders, if any and the Articles of Associations.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration for the audit and non-audit services provided by the
Auditor to the Group during the Reporting Period was approximately as
follows:

Type of Services

(Vi) RREERBF
(vi) REREBEEERENEEER &

(vii) EFEARERSBREENEMESE -
AAREREMRENFETRESFEER  EER
ERE - RARRPIERRS - AEEE T AN E
RS () RABERAMA -

K BUAD 7 EA

RS HAR - R ERAD R AN SR B IR B RIER IR
FrEMmiRan T

Amount (HK$'000)

i85 kil SBEFEL
Audit services EZIR 1,650
Non-audit services (note) IEBTAL RS (Hat) 95

Note:  For the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group has engaged the Auditor and their
affiliate companies to provide non-audit services which include (i) tax service; (i)
agreed-upon procedure engagements; and (iii) other assurance engagement for
retirement scheme.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Woo, the company secretary of the Company, is responsible for
advising the Board on corporate governance matters and ensuring that
the Board policies and procedures, as well as the applicable laws, rules
and regulations are followed.

During the Reporting Period, Ms. Woo have undertaken not less than 15
hours of relevant professional training respectively in compliance with rule
5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTOR
RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with Shareholders
is essential for enhancing investor relations and understanding of the
Group’s business, performance and strategies. The Company also
recognises the importance of timely and non-selective disclosure of
information, which will enable Shareholders and investors to make the
informed investment decisions.

The general meetings of the Company provide opportunity for the
Shareholders to communicate directly with the Directors. The chairman of
the Company and the chairmen of the Board Committees will attend the
annual general meetings s to answer Shareholders’ questions. The Auditor
will also attend the annual general meetings to answer questions about
the conduct of the audit, the preparation and content of the auditor’s
report, the accounting policies and auditor independence.
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To promote effective communication, the Company adopts a
shareholders’ communication policy which aims at establishing a two-
way relationship and communication between the Company and the
Shareholders and maintains a website of the Company at www.kml.com.
hk, where up-to-date information on the Company’s business operations
and developments, financial information, corporate governance practices
and other information are available for public access.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate resolution will
be proposed for each issue at general meetings, including the election of
individual Directors.

All resolutions put forward at general meetings will be voted by poll
pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange in a timely manner
after each general meeting.

Convening of extraordinary general meeting and putting forward
proposals

Shareholders may put forward proposals for consideration at a general
meeting of the Company according to the Articles of Association. Any
one or more members holding as at date of deposit of the requisition not
less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have
the right, by written requisition to the Board or company secretary of the
Company, to require an extraordinary general meeting of the Company
to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in
such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two months after
the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-one days of such deposit
the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting the requisitionist(s)
himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the
Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

As regards proposing a person for election as a Director, the procedures
are available on the website of the Company.

Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders who intend to put forward their enquiries about the
Company to the Board could send their enquiries to the headquarters of
the Company at B12, G/F, Shatin Industrial Centre, Siu Lek Yuen Road,
Shatin, New Territories, Hong Kong.

CHANGE IN CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Company has adopted an Amended and Restated Memorandum and
Articles of Association, which has become effective on the Listing Date.
There was no change in the Amended and Restated Memorandum and
Articles of Association during the year ended 31 March 2020.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERANCE REPORT

During the Reporting Period, the Group prepared and began to formulate
the environmental, social and governance report of the Company in
accordance with the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting
Guide issued by the Stock Exchange. Such report is proposed to be
published in or before August 2020.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B ZH RS

EY:

To the shareholders of KML Technology Group Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of KML Technology
Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) set out on pages 58 to 127, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2020, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement
of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March
2020, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for
the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how
our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly,
our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to
our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the
procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for
our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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To the shareholders of KML Technology Group Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

HRETER

HEHENEEEFRARABRE
(REFESFSEMA LA BR A 7]

REEERGE)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

REFHFRMERFARETTRNAR

Contract revenue and contract costs from engineering solutions and services

RETEERL RRRBHEAN Wi REAN KA

For the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group's revenue
and costs recognised for electrical and mechanical (“E&M”)
engineering solutions and services contracts amounted to
HK$184,501,000 and HK$126,578,000, respectively.

Revenue from E&M engineering solutions and services is
recognised over time and the input method is adopted
to measure progress towards complete satisfaction of
services. The input method recognises revenue based on
the proportion of actual costs incurred relative to budget
contract costs for satisfaction of the E&M engineering
solutions and services.

The budget contract costs are prepared based on
management’s estimate, such as estimation of direct
labour costs to be incurred and quotations provided by the
major contractors, suppliers or vendors involved.

Significant management judgement is involved in
determining the budget contract costs recognised for
contract works.

Related disclosures are included in notes 3, 4 and 5 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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Our procedures included:

° Obtaining the understanding from management on the budget
costs and how the budget costs are evaluated;

. Obtaining the breakdown of budgeted contract costs and, on a

sample basis, evaluated management’s estimation of the budget

contract costs;

o Checking the basis of the budgeted revenue to the underlying
contracts and variation orders on a sample basis;

o Recalculating the revenue recognised with reference to the contract
costs incurred for the work performed to date relative to the total

budget contract costs; and

. Checking the contract costs incurred to the amount of costs
recorded in the direct labour costs, subcontractor payment
certificates and supplier invoices, on a sample basis.
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To the shareholders of KML Technology Group Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the Annual
Report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

HEHNREEERATARRK
(REIEF S LMK LA BREF])

HBRFERENEMES

ERREFAHEMEREER - HESBETHNFEE
BEANEE - BENEIFRE M HRA R HE IR ZBEN

off &

BAEESFBRREENERL TREEMES - B
I EZEE S BEREMEANERER °

EERMEGREMBHRERNES  RANTEEMEEMD
BB ElBEd EREMESRTEFANBRERK
HPRBHEETH T HNBRFEEREBERE UFE
FEERERRANIBER - ERBRMIERITHOIE - MRK
MRA/ULEMESFEEAHERRL - RMFEHREZE
B EhE - HIVRBEMRSE -

ESHAOMBBRRARENELE

ERRERAREERS quEﬂi"AﬁEFﬁE’J(%? IS
R REB(ATUEND WERTE - BEEEMP 504
EUBRE  UHERRREEAVBRROBE T FE
X BREF R BH AR T G B e BB K S5 R BRI 75 B O BB HE B &

=

REBEAMBRAE - ARXREFEANE BE&E
#—iri“é’ﬁ&a BN YEERBATHRERSELLEEHN
= LA&@H%?*FZ&%*;\#%W B3k BERAERH
B BEEEFRIELLE  HREEGEROERT

£
ERZBEHE BAREFETRE  UEE B&HE
MRS -

SHNREEERAT « ZE-N/ZFFFH

55



56

Independent Auditor’s Report
B RS

To the shareholders of KML Technology Group Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B ZH RS

To the shareholders of KML Technology Group Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is CHIU, Caroline Su Yuen.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
22/F, CITIC Tower

1 Tim Mei Avenue

Central, Hong Kong

18 June 2020
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
FABRKHEMZERER

For the yearended 31 March 2020 BE=—T-_TF=A=+—HILFE

2020 2019
—ECEF —ENEF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
FosE FET FAET
REVENUE & 5 224,228 210,596
Cost of sales SHERAR (152,897) (144,520)
Gross profit E=5 71,331 66,076
Other income HAWA 6 1,395 1,230
Other gain and loss, net Hib e R EBFEE 6 140 (133)
Impairment losses on financial assets and CRIEERESHNEEREES
contract assets, net of reversal R E 30 (113) (148)
Administrative expenses TR (46,059) (43,551)
Finance costs BhE KA 7 (159) -
PROFIT BEFORE TAX Fr AR AT & ) 9 26,535 23,474
Income tax expense FrsfiAx 10 (4,923) (4,219)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FRHEF 21,612 19,255
PROFIT AND TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME N2 Rl A Rl & 7R3 71 I
FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS FEREERE
OF THE COMPANY 21,612 19,255
EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE ANREBBRERSRSE ARG
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS GREF
OF THE COMPANY 12
Basic HAR HK5.41 cents HK4.81 cents
5.41384L 4,817
Diluted e HK5.41 cents HK4.81 cents
5.41384L 4,817
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e ISR R

At31 March 2020 R-T-_ZFTF=A=+—H

Notes 2020 2019
Mt ZECEF —Z-NEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FExT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FnBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - B RS 13 5,973 2,924
Right-of-use assets CRAEEE 14(a) 8,687 =
Deposits e 17 1,145 1,875
Contract assets AHEE 18 - 6,785
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss BARBFABENEREE 15 5,181 =
Total non-current assets FEMENVEELREE 20,986 11,584
CURRENT ASSETS mEEE
Inventories XSS 346 463
Trade receivables Z S REWGRIA 16 45,665 41,146
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments HEUREIE - ke RIEMAFE 17 9,252 5,453
Contract assets BHEE 18 63,125 42 548
Pledged bank deposits BIRITER 20 14,045 10,782
Time deposits with original maturity over REE B BB =18 A & E BFHR
three months 20 6,347 40,050
Bank balances and cash RITHEHBRRE 20 76,652 36,989
Total current assets MEVEEREE 215,432 177,431
CURRENT LIABILITIES mEaE
Trade and other payables B 5 REMEMNFRIE 21 29,269 25,910
Lease liabilities HEAR 14(p) 5,611 =
Contract liabilities BREE 19 31,462 17,145
Tax payable PRI 448 1,617
Total current liabilities BB EERE 66,790 44,672
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEEFE 148,642 132,759
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES BEERRDER 169,628 144,343
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEE
Lease liabilities HEBE 14(b) 3,090 =
Deferred tax liabilities REBIEEE 22 352 208
Total non-current liabilities FEREBEEE 3,442 208
Net assets BEFE 166,186 144,135
EQUITY iy
Share capital f& AR 23 4,000 4,000
Reserves i 162,186 140,135
Total equity B 166,186 144,135

Mr. Luk Kam Ming

Mr. Chan Chak Lun Philip

PSR A S B2
Director Director
EE EE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
GERREER

For the year ended 31 March 2020 BE—T-_TF=A=+—HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company
FAEHREAER
Shares
held under
the share Share
Share Share award Other option Accumulated Total
capital premium scheme reserves reserve profits equity
BeEE
HELD
B ROEE BENRG HftfhE  BRERR ZihaA L 5
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ThL TAT Th TARL TR Th TAR
(note 35) (note 24) (note 34)
(Bi3£35) (FzE24) (Fiz+34)

At 1 April 2018 RZE-N\FEA—A 4,000 47,552 - 14,339 - 57,823 123,714
Profit and total comprehensive income FRENRZARGRE

for the year - - - - - 19,255 19,255
Equity-settled share option B ERRERE (1H54)

arrangements (note 34) - - - - 1,166 - 1,166
At 31 March 2019 and 1 April 2019 R-Z-hE=A=t-BRK

“Z-NEMA-H 4,000 47,552+ - 14,330 1,166* 77,078 144,135

Profit and total comprehensive income ERENREERREE

for the year - - - - - 21,612 21,612
Equity-settled share option BEREERERET R WH54)

arrangements (note 34) - - - - 845 - 845
Cancellation of share options (ote 34) TR 5e) - - - - (1,706) 1,706 =
Purchases of shares and contribution inthe 58 E k{7 k(3 2B BIRV (A3

share award scheme (ote 35) (Hr3235) - - (858) 452 - - (406)
At 31 March 2020 RZZE-ZE%=A=1+-H 4,000 47,552 (858)* 14,791* 305 100,396* 166,186
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserve of HK$162,186,000 * ZEHERE BRI GRA VIR RARERES #15162,186,0007

(2019: HK$140,135,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position. TL(ZZ—NF : 140,135,000 7T) °
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

meRERER

For the yearended 31 March 2020 BE—Z_THF=A=+—HILFE

Notes

BisE

29
13
14
34

30

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES REFTHMEENRESRE
Profit before tax BRB AT
Adjustments for: FTYIERE
Bank interest income RITFEWA
Interest income from life insurance products ASRERE R EUA
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HEWE - BERZERE
equipment
Fair value loss on financial assets at fair value RANER ABRN
through profit or loss SREENAREERS
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment M - BERERETE
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEETE
Equity-settled share option expenses R E R ARER 2
Impairment losses on financial assets and contract & REE KA N EERERE -
assets, net of reversal HBR#E =
Finance costs AR A
Decrease in inventories FERLY
(Increase)/decrease in trade receivables B 5 REWERIB (), R
(Increase)/decrease in other receivables, HMEWGRIE - ke RFERFE
deposits and prepayments (gm ,md
Increase in contract assets BHEELMN
Increase in trade and other payables B 5 K E A e FRIEIE N
Increase/(decrease) in contract liabilities BHABEEM CRD)
Cash generated from operations BEMEENRE
Interest paid for lease payments BERHAERZFE
Income tax paid EAFEH
Net cash flows from operating activities KETBMEANRSREFHE
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES KERHMELANRERE
Bank interest received BRI TFIE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEME - BERERE

Deposits paid for purchase of property, plant and BEVE  BERIBDIRE
equipment

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and LEWE - BERZBERER
equipment

Addition of financial assets at fair value through profit RE R Ert A B
or loss SRIEE

Withdrawn of time deposits with original maturity REREIHBEBA=EAMNTH
over three months T

Placement of time deposits with original maturity FEARDEEBA=EANTEH
over three months T

Placement of pledged bank deposits FABERBITER

Net cash flows from/(used in) investing activities BEEBRES,/ (FTR) MRS

MBS

A

2020 2019
—ECEHF —T-NEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FER FAET
26,535 23,474
(938) (854)
(173) —
(185) 4)
1,207 =
1,618 1,195
5,506 =
845 1,166
113 148
159 =
34,777 25,125
117 45
(4,719) 3,590
(4,063) 2,366
(13,705) (5,439)
3,384 4,291
14,317 (3,877)
30,108 26,101
(124) =
(5,948) (2,569)
24,036 23,532
938 854
(3,775) (821)
= (994)
287 18
(6,240) =
109,541 4,761
(75,838) (24,804)
(3,263) (5,782)
21,650 (26,768)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
mEBEERER

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #HE—F-—TF=A=+—HILFE

Notes
FiaE

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES BEFMEENRERE

New bank loan FIBRITER

Repayment of the bank loan BRFITER

Purchase of shares for share award scheme AR REETEIBERGD

Principal portion of lease payments HENKHAEHS

Interest paid ERFE

Net cash flows used in financing activities BMEEBATANRES REFHE

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH 384 &I & % @1,/
EQUIVALENTS OR ) 58
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year ~ F#3E& MRS EEY

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END FRRE MRS ZEY BRI
OF THE YEAR, represented by bank balances BRALIR
and cash

KML Technology Group Limited ® Annual Report 2019/20

2020 2019
—ECEH ZT-NEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FHT
2,600 -
(2,600) -
(406) -
(5,582) -

(35) =

(6,023) -
39,663 (3,236)
36,989 40,225
76,652 36,989




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A IS IRRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2020 BZE=—Z-TF=A=+—HILFE

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. 2ARREEER
KML Technology Group Limited (the “Company”) is a limited liability SHEEEEEERAF((RATF]) A—HRFSE
company incorporated in the Cayman Islands. The registered office SEMEZHBERAR o AR TR M IFERM
address of the Company is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, PO Box 1 A Cricket Square,Hutchins Drive, PO Box 2681,
2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The principal Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands ° ZNA &)
place of business of the Company in Hong Kong is located at B12, REBNEZEEMU AEBNRDHNERE D
G/F, Shatin Industrial Centre, Siu Lek Yuen Road, Shatin, New HIZEFROMH TBI2E ©
Territories, Hong Kong.
The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and its RARMEBEBAREERERENB AR (HHEA
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) are principally [REE]) TZRFRMUME (BB TEFEAFTR
engaged in the provision of electrical and mechanical (‘E&M”) KPR o
engineering solutions and services.
Information about subsidiaries ERMBATNER
Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 March 2020 are ARRRZE_EF=A=+—HZWBLRFE
as follows: Ul
Place of Issued Percentage of equity
incorporation/ ordinary/ attributable to the Company
registration registered AAFEGEREAL
Name and business share capital Direct Indirect Principal activities
AMRYL EER  BRIZER
A% XY EMRA E# i FTEER
Directly held:
HERE:
KML Group (BVI) Limited”* British Virgin Islands US$1 100% = Investment holding
(“BVI")/Hong Kong
KML Group (BV)) Limited* EREAHE (X v 100% - REER
RZEE]) /5%
Indirectly held:
BiERE
KML Engineering Limited Hong Kong  HK$10,000,000 = 100% Provision of
(‘KML Engineering”) professional E&M
system engineering
services for railway
and road transport
infrastructure projects
and sales of parts and
components
BRMRTIERERAF &% 10,000,000 - 100% AERR AR BEREHR
((BHENEIR) RUEFEREZGTRRBER
HETM R
KML Technology Limited Hong Kong HK$3,020,000 = 100% Provision of
professional E&M
system engineering
services for railway
and road transport
infrastructure projects
BHMRARAR &% 3,020,000 - 100% RERRRRBEREAR
REEXRS X TRRS
* Not audited by Emst & Young, Hong Kong or another member firm of the - THEH BB LK BF R F AT A M Lk BB B 2 A

Ernst & Young global network

K
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
RIS RRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2020 BE=—T-_TF=A=+—HILFE

2.1

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (‘HKFRSs”) (which
include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
They have been prepared under the historical cost convention,
except for financial assets at fair value through profit or loss which
have been measured at fair value. These financial statements are
presented in Hong Kong dollars (‘HK$”) and all values are rounded
to the nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year ended
31 March 2020. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured
entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control
is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the investee (i.e.,
existing rights that give the Group the current ability to direct the
relevant activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a majority
of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power
over an investee, including:

(@) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of
the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
(c)  the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for
the same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue to
be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets
and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to
transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full
on consolidation.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A IS IRRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2020 BE—Z_THF=A=+—HILFE

2.1

2.2

BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED) 2.1

Basis of consolidation (continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or
more of the three elements of control described above. A change in
the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is
accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary, (i) the carrying amount
of any non-controlling interest and (jii) the cumulative translation
differences recorded in equity; and recognises (i) the fair value of the
consideration received, (i) the fair value of any investment retained
and (jii) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s
share of components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or accumulated profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the Group
has directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND 2.2
DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following new and revised HKFRSs for
the first time for the current year’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features with Negative
Compensation

HKFRS 16 Leases

Amendments to HKAS 19 Plan Amendment, Curtailment or
Settlement

Amendments to HKAS 28 Long-term Interests in Associates
and Joint Ventures

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments

Annual Improvements to Amendments to HKFRS 3, HKFRS 11,

HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle HKAS 12 and HKAS 23

Amendment to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions

Other than as explained below regarding the impact of HKFRS
16 Leases and Amendment to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions, the new and revised standards are not relevant to
the preparation of the Group’s financial statements. The nature and
impact of the new and revised HKFRSs are described below:
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
RIS RRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2020 BE=—T-_TF=A=+—HILFE

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

(@)

HKFRS 16 replaces HKAS 17 Leases, HK(IFRIC)-Int 4
Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease,
HK(SIC)-Int 15 Operating Leases — Incentives and HK(SIC)-
Int 27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the
Legal Form of a Lease. The standard sets out the principles
for the recognition, measurement, presentation and
disclosure of leases and requires lessees to account for all
leases under a single on-balance sheet model to recognise
and measure right-of-use assets and lease liabilities, except
for certain recognition exemptions. Lessor accounting
under HKFRS 16 is substantially unchanged from HKAS 17.
Lessors continue to classify leases as either operating or
finance leases using similar principles as in HKAS 17.

The Group has adopted HKFRS 16 using the modified
retrospective method with the date of initial application of
1 April 2019. Under this method, the standard has been
applied retrospectively with no impact to the opening balance
of accumulated profits at 1 April 2019, and the comparative
information for 2018 was not restated and continued to be
reported under HKAS 17 and related interpretations.

New definition of a lease

Under HKFRS 16, a contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys a right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.
Control is conveyed where the customer has both the right
to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from use
of the identified asset and the right to direct the use of the
identified asset. The Group elected to use the transition
practical expedient allowing the standard to be applied only
to contracts that were previously identified as leases applying
HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 at the date of initial application.
Contracts that were not identified as leases under HKAS
17 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 were not reassessed. Therefore, the
definition of a lease under HKFRS 16 has been applied only
to contracts entered into or changed on or after 1 April 2019.

As a lessee - Leases previously classified as operating
leases

Nature of the effect of adoption of HKFRS 16

The Group has lease contracts of properties. Under HKFRS
16, the Group applies a single approach to recognise and
measure right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for all leases,
except for exemptions for leases with a lease term of 12
months or less (“short-term leases”) (elected by class of
underlying asset). Instead of recognising rental expenses
under operating leases on a straight-line basis over the lease
term commencing from 1 April 2019, the Group recognises
depreciation (and impairment, if any) of the right-of-use assets
and interest accrued on the outstanding lease liabilities (as
finance costs).
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A IS IRRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2020 BE—Z_THF=A=+—HILFE

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

(@)

(continued)

Impact on transition

Lease liabilities at 1 April 2019 were recognised based on the
present value of the remaining lease payments, discounted
using the incremental borrowing rate at 1 April 2019 and
were separately disclosed in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

The right-of-use assets were measured at the amount of
the lease liability, adjusted by the amount of any prepaid or
accrued lease payments relating to the lease recognised in
the statement of financial position immediately before 1 April
2019.

All these assets were assessed for any impairment based
on HKAS 36 on that date. The Group elected to present the
right-of-use assets separately in the statement of financial
position.

The Group has used the following elective practical
expedients when applying HKFRS 16 at 1 April 2019:

o Using a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases
with reasonably similar characteristics

o Applying the short-term lease exemptions to leases
with a lease term that ends within 12 months from the
date of initial application

° Using hindsight in determining the lease term where
the contract contains options to extend or terminate
the lease

The impact arising from the adoption of HKFRS 16 at 1 April
2019 was as follows:

Assets BE
Right-of-use assets EREEE
Total assets wEE
Liabilities afE

Lease liabilities HERE
Total liabilities HaE
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

e R R

For the yearended 31 March 2020 BE=—T-_TF=A=+—HILFE

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

(@) (continued)

The lease liabilities as at 1 April 2019 reconciled to the
operating lease commitments as at 31 March 2019 are as

22 BREREN2BREE(E

(@)

(#®)

R-IZE-NFHA-BANEERER_"T
—hE=ZA=+—HNEEBREAEHEREN

follows: T
HK$'000
FHET
Operating lease commitments R-ZE-hE=ZA=Z+—-HHRE
as at 31 March 2019 HERE 5,851
Weighted average incremental borrowing rate RIZZE—NFEA—BMINETIEE
as at 1 April 2019 BE 4.5%
Discounted operating lease commitments RZZ—NFMA—BOITER L L EHRE
as at 1 April 2019 5,728
Lease liabilities as at 1 April 2019 R-E-hENB—HWHEERAE 5,728

(b)  Amendment to HKFRS 16 provides a practical expedient for
lessees to elect not to apply lease modification accounting
for rent concessions arising as a direct consequence of the
covid-19 pandemic. The practical expedient applies only
to rent concessions occurring as a direct consequence of
the covid-19 pandemic and only if (i) the change in lease
payments results in revised consideration for the lease that is
substantially the same as, or less than, the consideration for
the lease immediately preceding the change; (i) any reduction
in lease payments affects only payments originally due to or
before 30 June 2021; and (iii) there is no substantive change
to other terms and conditions of the lease. The amendment
is effective retrospectively for annual periods beginning on
or after 1 June 2020 with earlier application permitted. The
Group has early adopted the amendment on 1 April 2019
and elected not to apply lease modification accounting for
all rent concessions granted by the lessors as a result of the
covid-19 pandemic during the year ended 31 March 2020.
Accordingly, a reduction in lease payments arising from
the rent concessions is accounted for as a variable lease
payment.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A IS IRRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2020 BE—Z_THF=A=+—HILFE

2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRSs

The Group has not applied the following new and revised HKFRSs,
that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial
statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business’
Amendments to HKFRS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform’

HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between
and HKAS 28 (2011) an Investor and its Associate or
Joint Venture®

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts?
Amendments to HKAS 1 Definition of Material’
and HKAS 8

U Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021

S No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is described below.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 clarify and provide additional guidance
on the definition of a business. The amendments clarify that for
an integrated set of activities and assets to be considered a
business, it must include, at a minimum, an input and a substantive
process that together significantly contribute to the ability to create
output. A business can exist without including all of the inputs and
processes needed to create outputs. The amendments remove the
assessment of whether market participants are capable of acquiring
the business and continue to produce outputs. Instead, the focus
is on whether acquired inputs and acquired substantive processes
together significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs.
The amendments have also narrowed the definition of outputs to
focus on goods or services provided to customers, investment
income or other income from ordinary activities. Furthermore, the
amendments provide guidance to assess whether an acquired
process is substantive and introduce an optional fair value
concentration test to permit a simplified assessment of whether an
acquired set of activities and assets is not a business. The Group
expects to adopt the amendments prospectively from 1 April 2020.
Since the amendments apply prospectively to transactions or other
events that occur on or after the date of first application, the Group
will not be affected by these amendments on the date of transition.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
RIS RRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2020 BE=—T-_TF=A=+—HILFE

2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRSs (CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7 address the
effects of interbank offered rate reform on financial reporting.
The amendments provide temporary reliefs which enable hedge
accounting to continue during the period of uncertainty before the
replacement of an existing interest rate benchmark. In addition, the
amendments require companies to provide additional information
to investors about their hedging relationships which are directly
affected by these uncertainties. The amendments are effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2020. Early application
is permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and in HKAS
28 (2011) in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets between
an investor and its associate or joint venture. The amendments
require a full recognition of a gain or loss when the sale or
contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or joint
venture constitutes a business. For a transaction involving assets
that do not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting from the
transaction is recognised in the investor’s profit or loss only to the
extent of the unrelated investor’s interest in that associate or joint
venture. The amendments are to be applied prospectively. The
previous mandatory effective date of amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28 (2011) was removed by the HKICPA in January 2016
and a new mandatory effective date will be determined after the
completion of a broader review of accounting for associates and
joint ventures. However, the amendments are available for adoption
now.

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 provide a new definition
of material. The new definition states that information is material
if omitting, misstating or obscuring it could reasonably be
expected to influence decisions that the primary users of general
purpose financial statements make on the basis of those financial
statements. The amendments clarify that materiality will depend
on the nature or magnitude of information. A misstatement of
information is material if it could reasonably be expected to
influence decisions made by the primary users. The Group expects
to adopt the amendments prospectively from 1 April 2020. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on
the Group’s financial statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A IS IRRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2020 BE—Z_THF=A=+—HILFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss at fair value at the end of each reporting period. Fair value is
the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer
a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at
the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on
the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer
the liability takes place either in the principal market for the asset
or liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal or the
most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group. The
fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions
that market participants would use when pricing the asset or
liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic
best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits
by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to
another market participant that would use the asset in its highest
and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs
and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed
in the financial statements are categorised within the fair value
hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value measurement is
observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value measurement is
unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of
each reporting period.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
RIS RRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2020 BE=—T-_TF=A=+—HILFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than inventories,
contract assets and financial assets), the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher
of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair
value less costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual
asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are
largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets,
in which case the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an
asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset. An impairment loss is charged to profit or loss in the
period in which it arises in those expense categories consistent with
the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period
as to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.
If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.
A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but not
to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have
been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A
reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to profit or loss in
the period in which it arises.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A IS IRRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2020 BE—Z_THF=A=+—HILFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@)

or

the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and that person

(i)
(i
(i

has control or joint control over the Group;
has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or of a parent of the Group;

the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies:

U

(i)

(i

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viil

the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of
the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same
third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity);
and

the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the Group or to the parent of the Group.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
RIS RRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2020 BE=—T-_TF=A=+—HILFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of
property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and
any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment
have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance,
is normally charged to profit or loss in the period in which it is
incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied,
the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying
amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts
of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced at
intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with
specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the
cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual
value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used
for this purpose are as follows:

Leasehold improvements  Over the shorter of the lease terms and 20%
Furniture and fixtures 20%

Plant and machinery 20%
Computer equipment 20%
Motor vehicles 20%
Cruiser 20%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods
are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial
year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant
part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any
gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in profit or loss in
the year the asset is derecognised is the difference between the net
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Research and development costs
All research costs are charged to profit or loss as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new projects is
capitalised and deferred only when the Group can demonstrate
the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that
it will be available for use or sale, its intention to complete and its
ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will generate future
economic benefits, the availability of resources to complete the
project and the ability to measure reliably the expenditure during
the development. Project development expenditure which does not
meet these criteria is expensed when incurred.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A IS IRRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2020 BE—Z_THF=A=+—HILFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Leases (applicable from 1 April 2019)

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or
contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach
for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease
payments and right-of-use assets representing the right to use the
underlying assets.

@

®)

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is
available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost,
less any accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount
of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and
lease payments made at or before the commencement date
less any lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the
lease terms and the estimated useful lives of the assets as
follows:

Office premises
Warehouse

1.5to 3 years
2 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by
the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise
of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the
estimated useful life of the asset.

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease at the present value of lease payments to be
made over the lease term. The lease payments include
fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less
any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments
that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected
to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease
payments also include the exercise price of a purchase
option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and
payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate.
The variable lease payments that do not depend on an index
or a rate are recognised as an expense in the period in which
the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
RIS RRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2020 BE=—T-_TF=A=+—HILFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leases (applicable from 1 April 2019) (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(b)  Lease liabilities (continued)
In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement
date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the
accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments
made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is
remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease
term, a change in lease payments (e.g., a change to future
lease payments resulting from a change in an index or rate)
or a change in assessment of an option to purchase the
underlying asset.

The Group’s lease liabilities are separately disclosed in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental
to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee are accounted for
as finance leases.

Leases (applicable before 1 April 2019)

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets to the Group, other than legal title, are
accounted for as finance leases.

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership of
assets remain with the lessor are accounted for as operating leases.
Where the Group is the lessee, rentals payable under operating
leases net of any incentives received from the lessor are charged to
profit or loss on the straight-line basis over the lease terms.

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently
measured at amortised cost and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends
on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and
the Group’s business model for managing them. With the exception
of trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair
value plus in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through
profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the Group
has applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction
price determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the policies
set out for “Revenue recognition” below.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A IS IRRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2020 BE—Z_THF=A=+—HILFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at
amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income,
it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal amount outstanding.
Financial assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are classified
and measured at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the
business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers
to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash
flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will
result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial
assets, or both. Financial assets classified and measured at
amortised cost are held within a business model with the objective
to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows,
while financial assets classified and measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income are held within a business model
with the objective of both holding to collect contractual cash
flows and selling. Financial assets which are not held within the
aforementioned business models are classified and measured at
fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or
sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the period generally established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)
Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to impairment.
Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised, modified or impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the
statement of financial position at fair value with net changes in fair
value recognised in profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity investments
which the Group had not irrevocably elected to classify at fair
value through other comprehensive income. Dividends on equity
investments classified as financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss are also recognised as other income in profit or loss when
the right of payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the
Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured reliably.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or
part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised
(i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated statement of financial
position) when:

. the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;
or
o the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows

from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third
party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the
Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset,
but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk and
rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor
transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise
the transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing
involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises an associated
liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the
Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying
amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration
that the Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
(“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all
the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected
cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held
or other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual
terms.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A IS IRRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2020 BE—Z_THF=A=+—HILFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result
from default events that are possible within the next 12 months (a
12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected over the
remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the
default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit
risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition. When making the assessment, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and considers
reasonable and supportable information that is available without
undue cost or effort, including historical and forward-looking
information.

The Group considers a financial asset to be in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain
cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in
default when internal or external information indicates that the
Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in
full before taking into account any credit enhancements held by the
Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment under
the general approach and they are classified within the following
stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade receivables and
contract assets which apply the simplified approach as detailed
below.

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 - Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but that
are not credit-impaired financial assets and for which
the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 - Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or originated
credit-impaired) and for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
RIS RRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2020 BE=—T-_TF=A=+—HILFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Simplified approach

For trade receivables and contract assets that do not contain
a significant financing component or when the Group applies
the practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant
financing component, the Group applies the simplified approach
in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group
does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss
allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date.

For trade receivables and contract assets that contain a significant
financing component, the Group chooses as its accounting policy
to adopt the simplified approach in calculating ECLs with policies as
described above.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and borrowings or
payables, as appropriate.

These financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and,
in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and borrowings)
After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest rate method unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses
are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised
as well as through the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part
of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is
included in finance costs in profit or loss.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A IS IRRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2020 BE—Z_THF=A=+—HILFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability
and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference between the
respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount
is reported in the statement of financial position if there is a currently
enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there
is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and
settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Treasury shares

Own equity instruments which are reacquired and held by the
Company or the Group (treasury shares) are recognised directly
in equity at cost. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss on
the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Group’s own equity
instruments.

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is determined on the weighted average basis. Net realisable
value is based on estimated selling prices less any estimated costs
to disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand
deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value and less bank overdrafts which
are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s
cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial position,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks,
including term deposits, and assets similar in nature to cash, which
are not restricted as to use.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
RIS RRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2020 BE=—T-_TF=A=+—HILFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable
that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised
for a provision is the present value at the end of the reporting
period of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle
the obligation. The increase in the discounted present value amount
arising from the passage of time is included as finance costs in
profit or loss.

The Group provides for warranties in relation to the provision of
E&M engineering services and sales of parts and components
for general repairs of defects occurring during the warranty
period. Provisions for these assurance-type warranties granted
by the Group are recognised based on past experience of the
level of repairs and returns, discounted to their present values as
appropriate.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating
to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside
profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking
into consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in the
countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax bases
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial
reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

o when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction
that is not a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable
profit or loss; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures,
when the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences
can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A IS IRRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2020 BE—Z_THF=A=+—HILFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which
the deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward of
unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

o when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures,
deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it
is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the
foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against
which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred
tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and
are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the
deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or
the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only if
the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred
tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable
entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets
on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously, in each future period in which significant amounts
of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there
is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all
attaching conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates
to an expense item, it is recognised as income on a systematic
basis over the periods that the costs, which it is intended to
compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to
a deferred income account and is released to profit or loss over
the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual
instalments or deducted from the carrying amount of the asset and
released to profit or loss by way of a reduced depreciation charge.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control
of goods or services is transferred to the customers at an amount
that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount,
the amount of consideration is estimated to which the Group will
be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or services to
the customer. The variable consideration is estimated at contract
inception and constrained until it is highly probable that a significant
revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised
will not occur when the associated uncertainty with the variable
consideration is subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which provides
the customer with a significant benefit of financing the transfer
of goods or services to the customer for more than one year,
revenue is measured at the present value of the amount receivable,
discounted using the discount rate that would be reflected in
a separate financing transaction between the Group and the
customer at contract inception. When the contract contains a
financing component which provides the Group a significant
financial benefit for more than one year, revenue recognised under
the contract includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. For a contract where the
period between the payment by the customer and the transfer of
the promised goods or services is one year or less, the transaction
price is not adjusted for the effects of a significant financing
component, using the practical expedient in HKFRS 15.

(@ Provision of E&M engineering solutions and services
Revenue from the provision of E&M engineering solutions
and services is generated from the design, supply, installation
of systems and implementation of E&M engineering solutions
and services, design and fabrication services for the
fabrication of made-to-order products for the customers,
where applicable.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A IS IRRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2020 BE—Z_THF=A=+—HILFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

@)

Provision of E&M engineering solutions and services
(continued)

Revenue is recognised over time, using an input method
to measure progress towards complete satisfaction of
the service, because the Group’s performance creates or
enhances an asset that the customer controls as the asset
is created or enhanced. The input method recognises
revenue based on the proportion of the actual costs incurred
relative to the estimated total costs for satisfaction of the
construction services.

Claims to customers are amounts that the Group seeks
to collect from the customers as reimbursement of costs
and margins for scope of works not included in the original
construction contract. Claims are accounted for as variable
consideration and constrained until it is highly probable that
a significant revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative
revenue recognised will not occur when the associated
uncertainty with the variable consideration is subsequently
resolved. The Group uses the expected value method to
estimate the amounts of claims because this method best
predicts the amount of variable consideration to which the
Group will be entitled.

Under the terms of contracts, the Group’s performance
creates and/or enhances the assets which the customers
control during the course of work by the Group. Revenue
from the provision of contracting services is therefore
recognised based on the stage of completion of contracts
over time using the input method. The Group normally
receives progress payment from customers on a monthly
basis with reference to the contract terms. The Group
requires certain customers to provide upfront deposits at
rates ranging from 5% to 20% of total contract sum, when
the Group receives a deposit before the project commences,
this will give rise to contract liabilities at the start of a
contract, until the full amount of deposits is deducted
proportionately from monthly progress payment.

A contract asset, net of contract liability related to the
same contract, is recognised over the period in which the
E&M engineering solutions and services are performed
representing the Group’s right to consideration for the
services performed and not billed because the rights are
conditional on the Group’s future performance accepted
by the customers. The contract assets are transferred to
trade receivables when the rights become unconditional.
The Group typically transfers its contract assets to trade
receivables when progress certificate/invoice is issued.

Retention receivables, prior to the expiration of the
maintenance period, are classified as contract assets, which
usually ranges from one to three years from the date of the
practical completion of the project. The relevant amount
of contract assets is reclassified to trade receivables when
the maintenance period expires, and/or the maintenance/
payment certificate is issued, and/or the final account is
issued.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(b)  Provision of E&M engineering maintenance services
Revenue from the provision of E&M engineering maintenance
services to the customers’ facilities is recognised over time
when services are rendered during the contract period. The
services are billed based on the services performed.

(c)  Provision of E&M engineering design and fabrication services
Revenue from the provision of E&M engineering design and
fabrication services is generated from design and fabrication
services for the fabrication of made-to-order products for
the customers, such as control room consoles, public
access kiosks and terminals, relay racks, test rigs and also
control room technical furniture and industrial enclosures and
instrument cabinets without supply, installation of systems
and implementation of E&M engineering solutions and
services.

Revenue is recognised at the point in time when control of
the asset is transferred to the customer, generally on delivery
of the goods to specific locations and customers obtain
control of the goods.

(d)  Sales of parts and components
Revenue from the sale of parts and components is recognised
at the point in time when control of the asset is transferred to
the customer, generally on delivery of the goods to specific
locations and customers obtain control of the materials.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly discounts
the estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the
financial instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate, to the
net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Contract assets

A contract asset is the right to consideration in exchange for goods
or services transferred to the customer. If the Group performs by
transferring goods or services to a customer before the customer
pays consideration or before payment is due, a contract asset is
recognised for the earned consideration that is conditional. Contract
assets are subject to impairment assessment, details of which are
included in the accounting policies for impairment of financial assets.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a
payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before the
Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract liabilities
are recognised as revenue when the Group performs under the
contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods or services to
the customer).
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A IS IRRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2020 BE—Z_THF=A=+—HILFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Contract costs

Other than the costs which are capitalised as inventories and
property, plant and equipment, costs incurred to fulfil a contract
with a customer are capitalised as an asset if all of the following
criteria are met:

(@) The costs relate directly to a contract or to an anticipated
contract that the entity can specifically identify.

(b) The costs generate or enhance resources of the entity
that will be used in satisfying (or in continuing to satisfy)
performance obligations in the future.

(©) The costs are expected to be recovered.

The capitalised contract costs are amortised and charged to profit
or loss on a systematic basis that is consistent with the pattern
of the revenue to which the asset related is recognised. Other
contract costs are expensed as incurred.

Share-based payments

Share option scheme

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Employees
(including directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the
form of share-based payments, whereby employees render
services as consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled
transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees for grants
after 7 November 2002 is measured by reference to the fair value at
the date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined by
an external valuer using a binomial model, further details of which
are given in note 34 to the consolidated financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee
benefit expense, together with a corresponding increase in equity,
over the period in which the performance and/or service conditions
are fulfiled. The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled
transactions at the end of each reporting period until the vesting
date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and
the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that
will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to profit or loss for a period
represents the movement in the cumulative expense recognised as
at the beginning and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into
account when determining the grant date fair value of awards, but
the likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed as part of the
Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will
ultimately vest. Market performance conditions are reflected within
the grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached to an award,
but without an associated service requirement, are considered to
be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in
the fair value of an award and lead to an immediate expensing of an
award unless there are also service and/or performance conditions.
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For the yearended 31 March 2020 BE=—T-_TF=A=+—HILFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Share-based payments (continued)

Share option scheme (continued)

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met,
no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or
non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a
minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been
modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In addition, an
expense is recognised for any modification that increases the total
fair value of the share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to
the employee as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it
had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet
recognised for the award is recognised immediately. This includes
any award where non-vesting conditions within the control of either
the Group or the employee are not met. However, if a new award
is substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated as a
replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and
new awards are treated as if they were a modification of the original
award, as described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional
share dilution in the computation of earnings per share.

Shares held under the share award scheme

Where shares of the Company are gifted or purchased from the
open market for the share award scheme, the fair value at the date
of gifting or consideration paid, including any directly attributable
incremental costs, respectively, is presented as “Shares held under
the share award scheme” and deducted from equity. No gain or
loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or
cancellation of the Group’s own equity instruments.

Other employee benefits

Retirement benefit schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under
the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those
employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the employees’
basic salaries and are charged to profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The
assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of
the Group in an independently administered fund. The Group's
employer contributions vest fully with the employees when
contributed into the MPF Scheme, except for the Group's employer
voluntary contributions, which are refunded to the Group when the
employee leaves employment prior to the contributions vesting fully,
in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Other employee benefits (continued)

Retirement benefit schemes (continued)

The Group also operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Exempted
ORSO retirement benefit scheme (the “ORSO Scheme”) for those
employees who are eligible to participate in the ORSO Scheme.
The ORSO Scheme operates in a way similar to the MPF Scheme,
except that when an employee leaves the scheme prior to his/
her interest in the Group’s employer contributions vesting fully, the
ongoing contributions payable by the Group are reduced by the
relevant amount of the employer’s forfeited contributions.

Dividend

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are approved
by the shareholders at the annual general meeting. Proposed
final dividends are disclosed in the notes to consolidated financial
statements.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in HK$, which is
the Company’s functional currency. Each entity in the Group
determines its own functional currency and items included in
the financial statements of each entity are measured using that
functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by
the entities in the Group are initially recorded using their respective
functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at
the end of the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or
translation of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost
in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at
fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the date when the fair value was measured. The gain
or loss arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured
at fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the gain or
loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference
on the item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the related
asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-monetary
asset or non-monetary liability relating to an advance consideration,
the date of initial transaction is the date on which the Group initially
recognises the non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising
from the advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or
receipts in advance, the Group determines the transaction date for
each payment or receipt of the advance consideration.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure
of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities
affected in the future.

The major judgements, estimates and assumptions, that have the
most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial
statements and have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year, are set out below:

Contract revenue and contract costs from E&M engineering
solutions and services

The Group reviews and revises the estimates of contract revenue,
contract costs, variation orders and contract claims prepared
for each E&M engineering solutions and services contract as the
contract progresses. Budgeted engineering service costs are
prepared by management on the basis of estimation of direct
labour costs to incur and quotations from time to time provided
by the major contractors, suppliers or vendors involved and the
experience of management. In order to keep the budget accurate
and up-to-date, management conducts periodic reviews of the
budgets of contracts by comparing the budgeted amounts to
the actual amounts incurred. Such significant estimate may have
impact on the revenue recognised in each period with adjustments
made on a prospective basis.

Recognised amounts of E&M engineering solutions and services
contracts revenue and related receivables reflect management’s
best estimate of each contract’s outcome and stage of completion,
which are determined on the basis of a number of estimates.
This includes the assessment of the profitability of on-going E&M
engineering solutions and services contracts.

For more complex contracts in particular, costs to complete and
contract profitability are subject to significant estimation uncertainty.
The actual outcomes in terms of total cost or revenue may be
higher or lower than estimated at the end of the reporting period,
which would affect the revenue and profit recognised in future
years as an adjustment to the amounts recorded to date with
adjustments made on a prospective basis.
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4.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Provision for ECLs on trade receivables and contract assets

The Group calculates ECLs for the trade receivables and contract
assets. The provision rates are based on internal credit ratings of
individual debtors with significant balance or as groupings of various
debtors that have similar loss patterns. At every reporting date,
the credit ratings are reassessed. In addition, trade receivables
and contract assets with significant balances and that are credit
impaired are assessed for ECLs individually.

The provision for ECLs is sensitive to changes in estimates. The
information about the Group’s trade receivables, contract assets
and ECLs is disclosed in notes 16, 18 and 30 to the consolidated
financial statements, respectively.

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

An analysis of the Group’s revenue is as follows:

EXSFHER A5 (8

HEZEWFRERENEEBIBREEEERE
]
FEEFEESRAREARGNEERMEES
18- BBRBIBASKERNERNEBALASE
BUEBEBREXNTREBADENARBEREFRG
B o NEMEQPRGENFHEETIR - 1o A
BEREHRREERENEZRETIERANEE
SEHEREBREEETIE -

HEHMEERRBERIGEHNTE - FHEAE
EESEKHIE  AHNEERBHEREERNER
DHIWBER S M MARMFE16 - HIE18 KM
30 °

Wz ko BER

REBHWEIMIT -

2020 2019
g 343 —Z-hEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FExT
Revenue from contracts with customers RERFAKHHKE
E&M engineering solutions and services WETIRERRTT R KR 184,501 173,011
E&M engineering maintenance services HWE TRIRERE 34,354 28,399
E&M engineering design and fabrication services WE T2 FRET R RS 4,434 8,282
Sales of parts and components HE T R 939 904
224,228 210,596
(a) Disaggregated revenue information (@ DIFBRBRER
2020 2019
—ECEHF —E-NEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
By timing of revenue recognition: R R
Transferred at a point in time A (o ] Bh 5 % 5,373 9,186
Transferred over time BE R 218,855 201,410
Total revenue from contracts with customers RERFANNKZBE 224,228 210,596
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENTAL INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

(b) Performance obligations
The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the remaining
performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) as
at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

2020

—E-EHF

Within one year —FR
More than one year —F U
2019

—E-NEF

Within one year —FR
More than one year —FE

Segment information

The Group’s operation is derived from E&M engineering solutions
and services, and E&M engineering maintenance services with
focus on (i) the automatic fare collection system at railway stations;
(i) the electronic payment and ticketing system; (i) the road and
tunnel toll collection system; (iv) the traffic control and surveillance
system; and (v) the railway signaling communication and control
system, E&M engineering design and fabrication services, as well
as sales of parts and components during both years. For the
purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment,
the chief operation decision maker (i.e. the executive directors of
the Company) reviews the overall results and financial position of
the Group as a whole. Accordingly, the Group has only one single
operating segment and no separate analysis of this single segment is
presented other than entity-wide disclosure.
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5. WKWakIBER (E)
(b) RBREME
RRERR - DEEFBRBLHERT RELK
HOARBL) R ZERSIEEOT ¢
E&M E&M
engineering engineering
solutions and maintenance
services services Others
BEIR BEIR
#RRTT R K& BRI RER® Hit
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FET FExT
214,989 34,037 5,254
128,601 28,956 -
343,590 62,993 5,254
E&M E&M
engineering engineering
solutions and maintenance
services services Others
HMETRE HWETRE
BRR T R R RS RERS EHAth
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FET FExT
193,675 28,860 2,208
57,374 43,103 -
251,049 71,963 2,208
DEER

REEFEEAN - NEBRNLCEREMETRERS
REBRBEREETRERERS - TER()EE B
BBWRERS (B FINEEHES (2B E
MEEMBERS  (WRBEHRERZES : K(v)
BBEEGAA NI RE - WETRE RERR
BUARBEESH R - RERD R RERBFET
T OEEREREE (AARRWMITES) BHAE
EmEEEERTERL - Bt - AEEEE—E
BB RBREEHEARNNEEN  WEZ7
ZE—DENEBOMN o
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For the yearended 31 March 2020 BZE=—Z-TF=A=+—HILFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENTAL INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Geographical information
The Group’s revenue from external customers based on the place
of operation of customers and non-current assets by jurisdictions

5. WERDBER (F)

REBERBIMNIERS (BEREP EEMAM) 1S
RREEER (EREEMAENE) SIS WNIERSDE

based on the location of the assets are detailed below: [z3=315 UNNE
Revenue Non-current assets
g kRBEE

2020 2019 2020 2019
—EEHF —ZT-NF —E-THF —T-NEF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHT FET FHT
(note) (note)
(Bta2) (Hiat)
Hong Kong &k 219,468 198,953 14,660 2,924
Taiwan =y 3,482 3,789 - —
Singapore N3 - 1,784 - -
Canada JIlIEN 207 2,933 - =
Others EAfth 1,071 3,137 - -
224,228 210,596 14,660 2,924

Note:  Non-current assets comprise property, plant and equipment and right-of-
use assets.

Information about major customers
Revenue from customers of the corresponding years contributing
over 10% to the total revenue of the Group are as follows:

Customer A EPA

Other than disclosed above, there was no revenue from customers
individually contributing over 10% to the total revenue of the Group
during the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019.

Wit . FRBREEREYE BB RRIEURCEHELE -

BFBEIEEFNER
PEERFEEREEBRE10%A L2 &P
T
2020 2019
—F-BE —T-hE
HK$°000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
143,812 139,073

B EXPIEBEEN  REBEE-Z-_Z2FR-T—N
FZA=+-HLEE BEREBE-ZFPHOKRE

I AREBEBUREE10% A £ ©
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For the yearended 31 March 2020 BE=—T-_TF=A=+—HILFE

6. OTHER INCOME AND GAIN AND LOSS, NET 6.

Other income

Bank interest income HRITFLEMA
Government subsidies (note) BT B (B 5%)

Interest income from life insurance products ASRERE M T BUA
Sundry income FETEWA

Note: The government subsidies represent the Anti-epidemic Fund Subsidy
received from the Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region (the "HKSAR’) (2019: subsidies received from the Government of
the HKSAR for the Group'’s participation in Youth Employment and Training
Programme, which was initiated by the Labour Department of the HKSAR).

Other gain and loss, net

Gain on disposal of property, HEWE - BEK
plant and equipment Bl
Net foreign exchange loss HNE 1858
7. FINANCE COSTS 7.

An analysis of finance costs is as follows:

Interest on a bank loan RITERZFE
Interest on lease liabilities HEEaBZAE

KMLTechnology Group Limited ® Annual Report 2019/20

Hi AR Wz AR B 1855
Hl A
2020 2019
—E-EHE —ZT-NEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FT
938 854
50 263
173 -
234 1183
1,395 1,230

Hiet - BT BEIERERE B AT B E ([ BB E]) BATAIH
BRIEECHE (—F—NF : R EBZNEERFE
B TR FF PR RIZI et F W BB B BT e

#8) -
HibW# Kk B FHE

2020 2019

—g-%F e

HK$'000 HK$'000

FiT FHT

185 4

(45) (137)

140 (133)

A& A

BERESTOT :

2020 2019

—g-8F  —TAF

HK$'000 HK$'000

Fi#T FHT

35 -

124 -

159 -
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8.

DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

(a)

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to
the GEM Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the
Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of
Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

Year ended 31 March 2020

Mr. Luk Kam Ming (‘Mr. KM Luk’)
Mr. Luk Kwai Lung

Mr. Luk Yin Cheung

Mr. Chan Chak Lun Philip

Mr. Lau On Kwok

Mr. Law Wing Chi Stephen

Dr. Tse Chi Kong

Year ended 31 March 2019
Mr. KM Luk

Mr. Luk Kwai Lung

Mr. Luk Yin Cheung

Mr. Chan Chak Lun Philip
Mr. Lau On Kwok

Mr. Law Wing Chi Stephen
Dr. Tse Chi Kong

BECBCSECAST-HLER
BERgs (RERLE])
BRREL

BEYRE

e s

BIRE

BIEAE

AEREL

HE-T-NEZA=T-HLFR
BEsEL
BRREL
BEEYAE
RERALE
BI%EE
BiErt
AEREL

8. EERESHM

(@ EERFETHASHH
RIBGEM EMR A - FE L FEBIZFE383(1)
@ () ORMERAR (HEEEMZER)
ROIE2E - FREZHMHEENT -
Retirement
benefit  Equity-settled
Salariesand  Performance scheme  share option
Fees allowances bonus  contributions expenses Total
BIER REGE
e HERER FRIAL FHE  BRERX 2
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
Tin TiEn Tin TR TR TR
(note)
(Mist)
- 1,068 - - - 1,068
60 604 3 28 - 725
56 547 40 2 - 669
60 1,200 70 % 264 1,690
144 S S = = 144
144 = = = = 144
144 - - - - 144
608 3419 143 150 264 4,584
- 1,068 - - - 1,068
60 580 30 18 - 688
60 557 4 18 - 676
60 1170 9% 8 521 1,940
144 - - - - 144
144 - - - - 144
144 - - - - 144
612 3,375 167 129 521 4,804

Note: Performance bonus is determined by reference to the duties and
responsibilities of the relevant individual s within the Group and the

Group’s performance.

The emoluments of executive directors were for their services
in connection with the management of the affairs of the

Company and the Group.

The emoluments of the independent non-executive directors

were for their services as directors of the Company.

During the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019, no
remuneration was paid by the Group to the directors of the
Company as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group
or as compensation for loss of office. None of the directors
of the Company have waived any remuneration during the
years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019.

st - RBEEAIDREZXEBANGHEABERE
U R EBE R Z R L EE

HWTEZFHN IR REERARRERAEHE
EBRHEZREMEL -

BAFRTESHFM IR RSIERARFE
ERMHZBRBMEL -

REBEE-_E-_EERN_E-AF=A=+—
BIEFE  AEETERARNABZEELNH
B VE & 0% 51 15 S5 A0 A SRR DA A 52 [ B 1 148
B ERBBEE REE-ZT-_2FR=
Z-AE=ZA=+—BItEE  BEXQT
EERETMEFH -
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For the yearended 31 March 2020 BE=—T-_TF=A=+—HILFE

8. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(b) Employees’ emoluments
The five highest paid individuals included two (2019: two)
directors of the Company whose emoluments are included
in the disclosures in (a) above for the years ended 31 March
2020 and 2019. The emoluments of the remaining three
(2019: three) individuals for the years ended 31 March 2020
and 2019 were as follows:

Salaries and other benefits e REMER
Performance bonus (note) %:zfﬁJEZI (Hfat)
Equity-settled share option expenses i EREIRER X

Retirement benefit scheme contributions

Note: Performance bonus is determined by reference to the duties and
responsibilities of the relevant individual s within the Group and the
Group’s performance.

Their emoluments were within the following bands:

Nil to HK$1,000,000
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000

During the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to the five highest
paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office.
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f?Maa FFHBIGER

£ 21,000,000 7T
1,000,001 7L % 1,500,000/ 7T

ESRESHMH (B

(b)

=k

FEGESHEALTEERBE T -_TFR—
ISR = = Eiif@%@nﬂ\tx
@BEBETNARTAME (ZE—NF : M)
Ex -REE_Z_ZEFER_FT-NF=A
=+ HULEFE  EBf=R(CT-hEFE: =
F) ATHEBIIT

2020 2019
—ECRE —E-hEF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FHET
2,413 2,443

192 80

373 =

107 54

3,085 2,577

Hiit - RETEAT DR ELEBNFHEALBEREF
WURAE B RFLETE

BERFIELATHE 2N

2020 2019
g 5 —E-NF
No. of No. of
individuals individuals
A¥ AH

3

1 -

3 3

REBE_T_TFR_FT-NAF=ZA=1+—
BILFE  AEETERAAZRSHEALX
N - ERRSIREMARMARER R
H BRI SRR AR AR (E -
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For the yearended 31 March 2020 HE—Z-_ZF=A=t+—HILFE

9. PROFIT BEFORE TAX 9. KREANEF
The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting): AEBBRABFEMBR GIA) A TEBEE
B
2020 2019
—E-EHF —TNEF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’'000
B3 FHET FAET
Auditor’s remuneration 1% 5 B 5 A 1,650 1,200
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment WE - BEMRETE 13 1,618 1,195
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEETE 14 5,596 =
Directors’ remuneration EE5ME 8 4,584 4,804
Employee benefit expenses (excluding directors’ BE@FIBH S (TEEEEK
and chief executive’s remuneration (note 8)) FEBITERA B R EE
(Hi:#8))
Salaries and other benefits e REMEF 68,980 68,414
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RURERFTEI R 2,779 2,704
Equity-settled share option expenses T i AR R 2 581 645
Total employee benefit expenses EERFMA A 72,340 71,763
Cost of sales SHE AR
- E&M engineering solutions and services —HETRERRA RRRE 126,578 117,646
— Others —Hib 26,319 26,874
Minimum lease payments under operating leases (&M EE N 2 RIEMEH - 5,777
Lease payments not included in the measurement ¥ Tzt ATHE & E:tE 2 HE
of lease liabilities EA 86 -
Net foreign exchange loss bE 5 518 F 58 6 45 137
Fair value loss on financial assets at fair value BARBEABSEHNERERE
through profit or loss ZAREEE 29 1,207 =
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment HE¥E « BiRE M & E 2 W 6 (185) (4
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10.

11.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE 10. FriSBiBAX
2020 2019
—ECEHF —ZE—hF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Current — Hong Kong BEA— &
Charge for the year FRRAY 4,527 4,259
Underprovision in prior years BAEFERBTR 252 =
Deferred (note 22) BRI (H17t22) 144 (40)
Total tax expense for the year AEEHIBRATERE 4,923 4,219
Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% BANEHDIRF AR B BEEMEF ERBUSF
(2019: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits arising in Hong #16.5% (ZZ—NF : 16.5%) M Rtk
Kong during the year, except for one subsidiary of the Group HAEEE T —FRBARFAE=E—/\/—A
which is a qualifying entity under the two-tiered profits tax rates BRI E R AR M ARFES BB RS E RN o %M
regime effective from the year of assessment 2018/19. The first BRAE2EERAT(ZE—NEF : 2B8BTNE
HK$2,000,000 (2019: HK$2,000,000) of assessable profits of this R F128.25 % M T RETE - HERME SRR IR
subsidiary is taxed at 8.25% and the remaining assessable profits E516.5% °
are taxed at 16.5%.
The Group is not subject to any income tax in the Cayman BERHAESHEREBREZFSHRARBRL - &
Islands and the BVI pursuant to the rules and regulations in those SERZE AR BBBMNERAER -
jurisdictions.
The tax charge for both years can be reconciled to the profit before MBS E BB TE 7 2 AT EERR B AT R RS RR A0 T
tax as follows:
2020 2019
—E-EHF —E-hF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Profit before tax B A5 B e ) 26,535 23,474
Tax at the statutory tax rate of 16.5% A TEFSHE16.5%T8E 2 Fi1A 4,378 3,873
Income tax at the concessionary rate REBRERBER (165) (165)
One-off tax reduction (note) —IRUERTER R (H5t) - (40)
Adjustments in respect of current tax of BB TEMANEF IR AR
previous periods 252 -
Income not subject to tax BEMTE 2 WA (184) (141)
Expenses not deductible for tax AR A 642 692
Tax charge for the year REFEHIAF 4,923 4,219
Note:  The amount represents the one-off reduction of profits tax for both years Wiat : ZAIEEE B R A B A Al R F RS — XM
proposed by the Financial Secretary of the HKSAR. Fl e o
DIVIDEND 1. RE

The final dividend of HK2.0 cents per share in respect of the year
ended 31 March 2020 has been proposed by directors and is
subject to approval at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

KMLTechnology Group Limited ® Annual Report 2019/20
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For the yearended 31 March 2020 BE—Z_THF=A=+—HILFE

12.

13.

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amount for the
year ended 31 March 2020 is based on the profit for the year
attributable to owners of the Company of HK$21,612,000 (2019:
HK$19,255,000), and the weighted average number of ordinary
shares in issue less treasury shares held under share award
scheme during the year of 399,849,000 (2019: 400,000,000).

No adjustment has been made to the basic earnings per share
amount presented for the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019 in
respect of a dilution as the impact of the share options outstanding

had no dilutive effect on the basic earnings per share amount

presented.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Cost:

Asat 1 Apri 2018
Additions
Disposals

As at 31 March 2019 and 1 April 2019

Additions
Transfer
Disposals

As at 31 March 2020

Accumulated depreciation:
Asat1 April 2018

Provided during the year
Disposals

Asat 31 March 2019 and 1 Apri 2019
Provided during the year

Transfer

Disposals

Asat 31 March 2020

Net carrying values:
As at 31 March 2020

As at 31 March 2019

B
RZE-N\FMA-H

R-E-ZF=A=1-A

ZHiE
R-Z-\FMA-A
i

h&

R-EB-NEZA=+-BR
“E-NENA-A

ERfE

g

HE

RZE-FEZA=1-A

BEFE:
RZE-ZF=fA=1-A

RZE-NEZA=1-A

12. ARAREERERSEABLERER
HE_ZT_ZF=A=1T—BILFRESREREZF
TRIDIRBEARR TS AEGFREN21,612,000
BT (ZZ—NF : 19,255,000 7T) * UMERFAE
BT LB NE T HBURR IR () KB T B A 8
17 1%15399,849,000/% (==& — N4 : 400,000,000
BOFE -
HREARITEAERELMESGRERRN R
TEHEETE  WRERBEHAEE_T _TFR
—E-NFZAZT—HLEFEMRINERER
BRI SREIELTAE -

13. Y% BERRKHE

Leasehold Furniture Plant and Computer Motor
improvements  and fixtures machinery equipment vehicles Cruiser Total

BihR

HENERE BE4E  HEREE Sk RE MR Eh
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
i Thn Tin Thn Thn Thn Tén
1,651 838 4799 6,850 2,263 364 16,765
307 19 2 83 - - 821
- - 2,256) (110) 27 - (2:39)
1,958 857 2,955 6,828 2,236 364 15,193
1,069 56 26 985 2,428 - 4,769
213 62 151 - - - -
- - (102) - (700) (364) (1,166)
2,814 975 3,240 7,808 3,959 - 18,796
748 5% 3,905 6,083 1,976 146 13453
134 185 349 302 152 73 1,19
= = (2,256) (%) 27 = (2319
862 780 1,998 6,289 2,101 219 12,269
259 186 366 288 4n 42 1,618
() 2 3 - - - -
- - (103) - (700) (261) (1,064)
1,136 968 2,264 6,577 1,878 - 12,828
1,678 7 976 1,231 2,081 - 5978
1,076 7 %7 534 13 145 2,924
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For the yearended 31 March 2020 BE=—T-_TF=A=+—HILFE

14. LEASES 14.

The Group has lease contracts as lessees for several properties.
Leases of the properties generally have lease terms between 1 and
3 years.

(@) Right-of-use assets
The carrying amounts of the Company’s right-of-use assets
and the movements during the year are as follows:

At 1 April 2019
Additions nNE
Depreciation charge HEER

At 31 March 2020
(b) Lease liabilities

i) The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the
movements during the year are as follows:

R-ZFE-NFHEA—H

RZE-ZTF=A=+—H

HE

REBERETUENABATLEESH - W%
HEZHERR—RBIEIF -

(@) EAEEE
ARREAREAENREERFALZHEN
T

Properties
L/E S
HK$'000
FHET

5,728
8,555
(5,596)
8,687

(b) HEEE
0] HEaEMNREERTFRNESNT -

HK$'000
FExT
Carrying amount at 1 April 2019 RZE-NFEOA—BZEAE 5,728
New leases ¥HEE 8,555
Accretion of interest recognised during the year S NFER 2 JEFTHI B 124
Payments (BN (5,706)
Carrying amount at 31 March 2020 RZZE-TF=A=1+—HBZKHEE 8,701
Analysed into: PaR ik
Current portion mENEL S 5,611
Non-current portion IERBIIBS 3,090
8,701

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in
note 30 to the consolidated financial statements.

(ii) The amounts recognised in profit or loss for the year
ended 31 March 2020 in relation to leases are as

HEABZIMBERDITRE S HR
RINFEBOHKEE o

(i) REEZ_ZE=A=+-HIFE
AZEHEMABEER 2 BNT

follows:
HK$’000
FHER
Interest charge on lease liabilities HEAGBZNEER 124
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets FREEEZIEERA 5,596
Expense relating to short-term leases and other ~ E5Z #ifAE M EM S AR B &r N FHH
leases with remaining lease terms ended on RIZE-_TF=ZA=+—HBHZAIER
or before 31 March 2020 (included in B GE AT A)
administrative expenses) 86
Total amount recognised in profit or loss RIBHERNE ST 5,806
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For the yearended 31 March 2020 BE—Z_THF=A=+—HILFE

14.

15.

LEASES (CONTINUED) 14.

(b) Lease liabilities (continued)
(ii) (continued)
The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note
32 to the consolidated financial statements.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT 15.
OR LOSS
Unlisted investments, at fair value JEEMIRE (R R E)

The above unlisted investments at 31 March 2020 were the
deposits paid for life insurance products issued by a bank in Hong
Kong. They were classified as financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss as their contractual cash flows are not solely payments
of principal and interest.

The life insurance products were entered by the Group’s subsidiary,
KML Engineering with an insurance company on Mr. Chan Chak
Lun Philip and Mr. Luk Yin Cheung, respectively into two life
insurance policies in June 2019. Under the policies, the beneficiary
and policy holder is KML Engineering. KML Engineering is required
to pay a single premium for the policies. KML Engineering may
request a partial surrender or full surrender of the policies at any
time and receive cash back based on the value of the policies at
the date of surrender, which is determined by the account value net
of any surrender charge (the “Cash Value”). The policy premium
expense, insurance charges and surrender charges are recognised
in profit or loss. The life insurance policies carry guaranteed
interests of 4.25% per annum at first year, and a minimum
guaranteed interest of 2.00% per annum at the second year and
onwards.

The Cash Value of the deposit paid for the life insurance policies,
which is considered a close estimate to the fair value, was
HK$5,181,000 as at 31 March 2020, determined by reference
to the Cash Value as provided by the insurance company. The
fair value of the Group’s insurance policies was measured using
significant unobservable inputs (Level 3 of fair value hierarchy) as
defined in HKFRS 13.

The aggregate carrying amounts of HK$5,181,000 as at 31 March
2020 were pledged as security for a bank facility of the Group and
the entire balance of the life insurance products is denominated in
United States Dollars ("USD").

HE (5

(b) HESEGE
iy @
FAERIR SR AER RS MR
32 o

BARERABENEREE

2020 2019
—e-%F  —Tnf
HK$’000 HK$'000
FH TR
5,181 =

MRIZ-ZTF=A=+—H Lk T RER®
BERE-FRITBITHNABRBEREXNNEZS -
ZEEMBEOBERBRAABHARGNEREE -
FRRBERENGHBRERENIHERINAE KF

B o
/T

AEBEMBRAASAMKRIER_-_ZT-HLEX
AE-—BRBAFADIFRREHEEREEY
EEBITMPDABRRRE - REZSFRE
SRAMKRIEARGANRERAEA - 55
MRIEFAZERE-RNEXNTRRE -
SRAMKRIBAERZRBIRRIZBR
REREREARRREBEAKDRE - §
MRS IRERFEENRENERREETE
(REEED - RERE  RKREIEFREONE
BHARR ABRREREEFERRBFMNE
4.25%:T 8 - BEZFR - BREFREFENE2.00%
FHE e

HASRBRREENERNRSEERERAT
BEHNMOEAE R F=A=+—HBA
5,181,00087T * H2ERBABREHRSEERE
o ARENRBRERENQAAERAEBHBRE
HERIZISRAENEA T BRBAZE(RAEE
BE=FR)E -

R-ZE-_TF=ZA=+—H ' EE4E5,181,000/
TEEBEAREBRRITHRENERR - BASRK
ME MR R ISR AR ([E ) F(E -

SHNREEERAT « ZE-N/ZFFFH
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e TS RR M

For the year ended 31 March 2020 HE-—ZE-ZF=A=t+—HILFE

16.

TRADE RECEIVABLES

The Group grants credit terms of 30 to 60 days to its customers
from the date of invoices on progress billings of contract and
maintenance works and sales of goods. An ageing analysis of the
trade receivables is presented based on the invoice date at the end
of the reporting period.

0-30 days 0Z30H

31-60 days 31260H

61-90 days 61Z290H

Over 90 days #83B90H

Less: Accumulated loss allowance W BETEIERE
Total 5T

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on credit,
except for new customers, where payment in advance is normally
required. Each customer has a maximum credit limit. The Group
seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables and
has a credit control department to minimise credit risk. Overdue
balances are reviewed regularly by senior management. In view of
the aforementioned and the fact that the Group’s trade receivables
relate to a large number of diversified customers, there is no
significant concentration of credit risk. Trade receivables are non-
interest-bearing.
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16.

B 5 RN

AEEBANRBETIZEERABRZAHRHE
EmEmEEFRE0AECORMNEED - KlE
HIREN SR A2 5 RUGIRMRE DT ©

2020 2019
—ECZF —ZT-NEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHT
21,943 12,968
17,403 16,339
3,350 7,934
3,286 4,022
45,982 41,263
(317) 117)
45,665 41,146

FEERERP B S GREBNEER ST
WHEF —RBERNTERIN - FLEFHEHK
EERE - REBLREARFEZ BRFIRM R
REEIRAEEENAFINEEERRRER
K- ®MERETHRA BB - ERN Ll R
SEEZRRFIASRAEBOMEFZEE R
BEERETEERR - EHEURESTEER
H o




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A IS IRRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2020 BE—Z_THF=A=+—HILFE

16.

TRADE RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

As at 31 March 2020, included in the Group’s trade receivable
balances were customers with an aggregate carrying amount of
HK$16,691,000 (2019: HK$15,389,000) which were past due as
at the reporting date. Out of the past due balances, HK$1,733,000
(2019: HK$2,763,000) has been past due more than 90 days
and was not considered as in default. The Group rebutted the
presumption of default under the expected credit loss model for
trade receivables past due over 90 days assuming no significant
change in credit quality after having an understanding of those
customers’ background as well as the good payment records and
continuous business relationship with those customers. Further,
such long outstanding balances were primarily due to overdue
payment which was a common practice in E&M engineering
solutions and services and was prolonged by the internal
procedures of the relevant customers. The Group did not hold any
collateral over these balances.

Details of impairment of trade receivables for the year ended
31 March 2020 were set out in note 30 to the consolidated
financial statements. The ECLs for trade receivables as at 31 March
2020 and 31 March 2019 were HK$317,000 and HK$117,000,
respectively.

As at 31 March 2020, trade receivables of HK$1,234,000 (2019:
HK$219,000) were denominated in USD. As at 31 March 2019,
trade receivables of HK$1,553,000 were denominated in Singapore
Dollars (“SGD”). The remaining balances are denominated in HKS.

16.

B 5 RWEOR ()

R-ZZE-BE=F=+—08 KEBEBFHEKZR
THEEEREEEA16,691,0008 T (2T —NF :
15,389,000/ 7T) MBI E P FUE » :Z AR IRE
AE#EH - ZSmEERT - 1,733,000 L (=%
— N4 2,763,000/ 7T) B i HR B Q0K K R4
REBEY AEEBETHZEEFPNE S NEZ
EXFHMROINRERSEEFEERE  BREE
BEERWESKEE) @ HEBHIOXNE Z B
HERHEEBEEATHELERR - ki R A
EEEBRTEHIREIRERIREMRENER
B ERABEFERATER - AEBWERZE
EHRFBETMEER -

BE_Z-TE=-ZF=1+—HIFE BIEKX
HEREZFBINGAMEHRENEI0 - RZF
—EFE=RA=+—HER=-ZE-NAE=A=+—HH
B S REWGIETEREEBES R /317,000 T &
117,000/ 7T ©

RZE_EF=A=+—H BESFEWKHREH
1,234,000/ 7T (ZZE— N4 : 219,000/87T) LAZETT
I - R-E—-AF=A=+—8 BFEkZKE
#1,553,000/8 JLIAFT I oT ([ 7)) FIME o #
THEEBABTTHIE -
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For the yearended 31 March 2020 BE=—T-_TF=A=+—HILFE

17. OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS 17. HGEWFIE - RERANRE
2020 2019
—E-EHF —TNF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FAET
Non-current: JERDE] -
Deposits paid for purchase of property, BEWE  BELLEEfES
plant and equipment - 994
Other deposits Hiviz e 1,145 881
1,145 1,875
Current: BNEf
Advances to suppliers BRTHIER 7,163 3,764
Prepayments TEf 0B 1,850 921
Interest receivables F1.2 B U R IE 107 168
Others HAh 132 600
9,252 5,453
Total #aEt 10,397 7,328
None of the above assets is either past due or impaired. The LA EMEaBRNERE A LIER SR
financial assets included in the above balances relate to receivables BESRWETRENCS CEWIEER - HEE
for which there was no recent history of default. Their related ECLs HEEEBEEHNGE M HREMEE30 ©
consideration are set out in note 30 to the consolidated financial
statements.
18. CONTRACT ASSETS 18. BHREE
31 March 2020 31 March 2019 1 April 2018
—E-EH ZE-NEF —T-N\F
=H=+—8H =A=+—H mA—A
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET FAERT
E&M engineering solutions and services #4% TF2EEHR 75 2 & R7% 62,381 49,320 42,420
E&M engineering maintenance services #4E T2 R &= ARTE 744 - -
Others Hih - 13 1,567
Total 1zt 63,125 49,333 43,987
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18.

CONTRACT ASSETS (CONTINUED)

A contract asset, net of contract liability related to the same
contract, is recognised over the period in which the engineering
services are performed, representing the Group’s right to
consideration for the services performed and not billed because
the rights are conditional on the Group’s future performance
accepted by the customers. The contract assets are transferred
to trade receivables when the rights become unconditional. The
Group typically transfers its contract assets to trade receivables
when progress certificate/invoice is issued. The Group generally
provides their customers with one to three years maintenance
period from the date of the practical completion of the project.
Upon the expiration of the maintenance period, the customers will
provide a maintenance certificate and pay the retentions within the
term specified in the contract. The increase in contract assets in
2020 and 2019 was the result of the increase in the provision of
engineering services at the end of each of the years.

The expected timing of recovery or settlement for contract assets as
at 31 March is as follows:

Within one year —FR
After one year —&1&
Total contract assets ARNEEBE

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date to
measure expected credit losses. The provision rates for the
measurement of the expected credit losses for the contract assets
are based on those for the trade receivables as the contract assets
and the trade receivables are from the same customer bases. The
provision rates of contract assets are based on days past due of
trade receivables for groupings of various customer segments with
similar loss patterns (i.e., by customer type and rating). The Group
applies the simplified approach to provide for the ECLs prescribed
by HKFRS 9. Reversal of loss allowance of HK$87,000 (2019: loss
allowance of HK$93,000) was recognised during the year. Details
of impairment of contract assets for the years ended 31 March
2020 and 2019 were set out in note 30 to the consolidated financial
statements.

18.

BREE @

BREE  HREMARANERENANER RE
ETRREHHEER  KRASEEEACD E
1B KRR A IR TS WEAME - ERZ SN TIEUR
REPEMARNEBRKRE - BRAZRERKME
B ANEEBREEZERUE - AEEBEE
BHEEES MERHESNEESREE R
WikE - AREBEREEFPREHAHEEERTK
B —E=FOREH - RREBERER T
FPRIRHARERSE R NEENMRA AN RE
R EEER_T-NFANEELNIIE
REFERBE IR RBIE A -

*

e

RZAZ+—B - AOEENTRRKE 5 B
T

2020 2019
—g-gF  —TAF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FHT A
61,573 49,333
1,552 =
63,125 49,333

RERE BEITRES AT EEREEEE < 5
EANEERBEEBRNBEEXIEANZERS
EWKIE - REARANEERE S EKFIEKRER
—RPEM - SHBENBEXRTIER ABLUEE
BAMEETF 2 BAE R (AMRE P EL R RS
2B SRR FIRBERE - REFEFBMELE
AIEISRARTE - AEBERABLIDEARTREME
SEE - FACHREREFREE7,0008T(ZF
—hF  BIEREE93,0008TT) - BE—T-EFR
TE-NFZAZSTHLEFEZANEENRE
FERRERE M IBMARMES0 -
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19. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 19. &HEE

31 March 2020 31 March 2019 1 April 2018

—E-EH —ENF —E-N\F

=A=+—H —A=+—H mA—A

HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FHET FHET

E&M engineering solutions and services #4% TI2AER 5 & &R 31,354 17,029 21,022

E&M engineering maintenance services #4E TI2(R B IRTE 108 99 =

Others EHAh, - 17 =

Total st 31,462 17,145 21,022
The Group requires certain customers under engineering service AEERBEIRREANERETEPIRHSANIR
contracts to provide upfront deposits at rates ranging from 5% to L SHEENTHEANESTENS%E20%H F =it
20% of the total contract sum, when the Group receives a deposit g EAEETEEBARITIKIIRS  EEESY
before the project commences, this will give rise to contract RIREEANEE  BEEKSNENESEEEER
liabilities at the start of a contract, until the full amount of the TR OHG —E-ZTER-_T-AFLEDERE
deposit is deducted proportionately from progress payment. The ENFEHREUREFEBNRERREREIRERED

increase in contract liabilities in 2020 and 2019 was mainly due to 55 HA A SR 1 N BY o

the increase in short-term advances received from customers in
relation to the provision of engineering services at the end of the
years.
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20.

TIME DEPOSITS WITH ORIGINAL MATURITY OVER
THREE MONTHS/PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS/BANK
BALANCES AND CASH

As at 31 March 2020, bank balances and cash comprise cash
held by the Group and bank deposits carry interest at market rates
which range from 0.01% to 1.61% per annum with original maturity
of three months or less.

As at 31 March 2020, pledged bank deposits represented deposits
pledged to a bank to secure a bank facility granted by a bank to
the Group, carried fixed interest rates ranging from 1.64% to 1.94%
per annum.

As at 31 March 2020, time deposits with original maturity over three
months carry fixed interest rates ranging from 1.26% to 2.56% per
annum.

At the end of the reporting period, the carrying amount of the
Group’s time deposits with original maturity over three months,
pledged bank deposits and bank balances and cash are
denominated in the following currencies:

HK$ T

Euro (“EUR”) BT ([&oc))
Renminbi (‘RMB”) ARB(TARYD
UsD EI

Hib 5%

Other currencies

20.

REHAEB=AANERER FEARTE
R BRITERRES

RZZE-ZF=A=+—H  ROTEHKKRLBHE
FEEMFRSRRIABR=EAXUTRITF
FIENTF0.01%E1.61 %K TISFEFEE -

MN-ZB-TE=R=+—0 AEBRITFEIEE
BTRITUARTARNEERERITRE R
o RETEFFRNIN.64%E1.94%:T 8. ©

W-T-TE=A=1—8  REHELB=EA
0T HTE AR B B 4 I 1) 1. 26% F2.56% 3R
TR -

R R - AR B T SIS B REI 28

ZEANERER  BEMRITEFRLIRITERR
REMIRHEE :

As at 31 March

R=A=+—8H
2020 2019
—ECEHF —ZT-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHT
86,148 82,365
1,671 895
2,656 2,731
6,443 1,217
126 613
97,044 87,821
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For the yearended 31 March 2020 BE=—T-_TF=A=+—HILFE

21.

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Trade and retention payables (note (a))
Other payables and accrued charges (note (b))

Total trade and other payables and accrued
charges

(a)

fEEt & AR

Trade and retention payables

The credit period on purchases and subcontracting of
contract work services ranges from 30 to 60 days. The
following is an ageing analysis of trade payables presented
based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period:

Trade payables: 2 ZENFIE
0-30 days 0%30H
31-60 days 31£260H
61-90 days 61290H
91-365 days 91%365H
Over 365 days Bi@365H

Retention payables ERNREE

Total trade and retention payables

As at 31 March 2020, included in the trade payables
aged over 365 days was an amount of HK$4,901,000
(2019: HK$4,901,000), representing the full provision for
the Group's contractual obligation, which was pending
settlement as the Group was in dispute with the counterparty
for final settlement. No reversal of this payable was
recognised during the two years ended 31 March 2020 and
2019 as the derecognition criteria in accordance with the
Group's accounting policies were not met.

As at 31 March 2020, trade payables of HK$39,000 (2019:
HK$590,000) were denominated in USD.

Retention payables to sub-contractors of contract work are
interest-free and payable by the Group after the completion
of the maintenance period of the relevant contracts or in
accordance with the terms specified in the relevant contracts,
ranging from 1 to 2 years from the completion date of the
respective E&M engineering solutions and services contracts.
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B 5 MEMERNRIBIAR

B 5 RN FIAREMNRE 2 (i)
H AR A R e B R (HRE ()

BHRNFERENRE 2B

B RHEMENFR

2020 2019

i —FNF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FExT THIT

18,570 16,737

10,699 9,173

29,269 25,910

(a) EBZENREREMARES
BERDBAHNIRRBHNEESRNTFI0E
60H - AT ARMEMARENREZAHZD
MBS BN SRR DT -

2020 2019

3 —FNF

HK$°000 HK$’000

FET FET

7,311 5,964

171 153

115 38

366 1,800

5,391 5,334

13,354 13,289

5,216 3,448

18,570 16,737
RZZE-_TF=ZA=1T—RH FAEZEN

FIEH R HB365 B B IE A4,901,000
BT (ZZ— N4 : 4,901,000 7T) @ 3
AEBAHNETBEEE - ZEFLEE -
THRAEESEHFIRSEREETESS
ik e RBZEZZE-_ZEFR-_ZT—NAF=A
=+— A - REFE IR D Z E AR
B AARBAEESHEE  ETFAK
JJ:ﬁEDZJTT/EO

RIBE-_ZTF=A=+—RH EBZEMNA
39,000/ 7T (ZZF— 4 : 590,000/ 7T) A%
JLHIE e

BNSBEENANTIERESR/ARE - AR
AEBRBEEOEEITRAKRIERE
BRRENERXN - BABEE TRER
FREERBE LK BT 1225 -
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For the yearended 31 March 2020 BZE=—Z-TF=A=+—HILFE

21. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (CONTINUED)

(b) Other payables and accrued charges

21.

B 5 R H AR FOR (8)

(b) HittENRERETER

2020 2019
—EC-EHF —E-NF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Accrued staff costs JERTB TR 4,100 4,053
Provision for annual leave FREHE 2,416 2,339
Other accrued charges HEfbrEst &R 4,183 2,781
Total other payables and accrued charges L JE FUTE [ FE 5T & F 4858 10,699 9,173
22. DEFERRED TAX 22, EEHIE
The movements in deferred tax liabilities during the year are as FREREFIBEBENEFHNOT ¢
follows:
Impairment
of trade Accelerated tax
receivables and (accounting)
contract assets depreciation Others Total
E 5 REFER INEBE
BHEERNE (B WE Hit et
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT FAT FAT FAT
At 1 April 2018 RZZE-N\FHA—AH - 373 (125) 248
Charge/(credit) to profit or merBE,/ GHA) B
loss (note 10) (Hizt10) = (54) 14 (40)
At 31 March 2019 and RZZE—NEF
1 April 2019 =A=+—-Hk
—E-hFMA—H - 319 (111) 208
Charge/(credit) to profit or merE/GHA) 8%
loss (note 10) (Hizt10) (58) 91 111 144
At 31 March 2020 RZTZZF
=A=+—H (58) 410 - 352
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For the yearended 31 March 2020 BE=—T-_TF=A=+—HILFE

23.

24.

25.

SHARE CAPITAL

Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each

Authorised: AT

At 31 March 2020 and 2019
Issued and fully paid: BEAREEAR -
At 31 March 2020 and 2019

Details of the Company’s share option scheme and the share
options issued under the scheme and the Company’s share award
scheme are included in notes 34 and 35 to the consolidated
financial statements, respectively.

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein
for the current and prior years are presented in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on page 60 of the annual report.

Share option reserve

It comprises the fair value of share options vested which are yet to
be exercised, as further explained in the accounting policy of share-
based payments in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.
The amount will either be transferred to the share premium account
when the related share options are exercised, or transferred to
accumulated profits should the related share options lapse or be
forfeited.

Other reserves

The Group’s other reserves mainly represent (i) the difference
between the nominal values of the ordinary shares issued by the
Company and the share capital of subsidiaries acquired through
an exchange of shares pursuant to the reorganisation of the Group
during the year ended 31 March 2018 and (i) the deemed capital
contribution from Mr. KM Luk, a controlling shareholder and an
executive director of the Company, in respect of the transfer of
2,000,000 shares to the trust of the share award scheme at nil
consideration, and details of the share award scheme are set out in
note 35 to the consolidated financial statements.

COMMITMENTS

Capital commitments

Capital expenditure in respect of addition of
property, plant and equipment:
Contracted but not provided for
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23.

RZB_EFR-F-NF=A=1-H

R-E-ZER-_T-NE=ZA=1—H

24,

25.

REIROLER S g7 i

[N
Number of
shares Amount
RAEE kit
'000 HK$'000
Tk THT
3,800,000 38,000
400,000 4,000

AN E) BT B MARIR FZ AT B BT R B AR LA K2
AARRI D BN BB D RIS RE T 53R
K534 535 o

4]

FEERFERBAFEZFEREHEHSER
RERFCORIAERBBRANZT -

BRERE
BRERBEECEBENARTTECBREZAN
B E—THBENRE P RE MR U RE
B R E R AR - RN A B
BT ERERERMEER - R AEBREANR
ORI ERE REtE A -

Hitf#E
AEEZEMBEEEZEOARAHEZEZZT—N
FZAZ+—BLFEZERHTEBRZEERSE
BIRE AN B E A IR AT UK B A B A
ZEEG)RIETREABRDERTE 2 EA8EE
2,000,0008& AT + {BI1EARD AR KBTIT
BEFEERLETE  MRHERAZZFBIR
tRE SRR MIEESS -

BRREDE  BERRENELRRL

I
AREH
2020 2019
—g-gF T AF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FHT A
- 1,200
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For the yearended 31 March 2020 BE—Z_THF=A=+—HILFE

25. COMMITMENTS (CONTINUED) 25.

Operating lease commitments as at 31 March 2019

The Group as lessee
The Group leased various office premises under non-cancellable
operating lease agreements and the lease terms were 1 to 3 years.

As at 31 March 2019, the Group had commitments for future
minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases
which fall due as follows:

A ()
REB-NF=ZRA=T-HZEKEHERE

FEBEBEBEA
FREHEENARFELEHAERZRTHZEANRR
EMENEHR/IEIF -

RIZ-NF=ZA=+—8  AEEHEA T HH
REHERTARRRERENFUASE - HEH0m

N

2019
—ZE-hF
HK$'000
FiET
Land and buildings T RAEF

Within one year R—FA 5,701
In the second to fifth years, inclusive E-FEERF (BEERMF) 150
5,851

26. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 26. BEBAIRS

The Group had the following transactions with related parties during
the year ended 31 March 2020:

BE-Z-_ZF-_A=1+—HILFE AEEEHE
BB TR TIIRS

Purchase of materials from Logistic Industrial Supply )&+ T22EM AR AR (FELITE])

REBE (Wita)

Company Limited (“Logistic Industrial”) (note a)

EANLikn
BiEER AR Hizb)

Rental payments
KM L Limited (note b)

Notes:

(a) Logistic Industrial is a cormpany over which Mr. KM Luk and Madam Leung
have significant influence. The purchase prices of goods were mutually
agreed between the parties.

b) K M L Limited is controlled by Mr. KM Luk. Rental payments were on a
mutually-agreed basis and constitute connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions as defined in Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

2020 2019
—s-%F e
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT FHT
120 131

5,402 4,847

Bzt
(@) B TERBEEHEERRL T U EFEAZE R
7] o Eap 2 RABIEA 5 IHE 5T °

(b) [EE BRG] FEAE BESE £ 123 - BITHEIZIEE 5
TREET  UBKBEXZUFERER S (TEL
GEM FT#RRIFE20%) °
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26.

27.

28.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

Save as disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements, the
Group had no material transactions and outstanding balances with
related parties during the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019.

Compensation of key management personnel

Key management personnel of the Group are the directors of the
Company. Their remunerations during the years ended 31 March
2020 and 2019 were set out in note 8.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

The Group participates in defined contribution schemes which
are registered under the ORSO Scheme and the MPF Scheme
established under the Mandatory Provident Fund Ordinance in
December 2000. The assets of the schemes are held separately
from those of the Group, in funds under the control of trustees.
Employees who were members of the ORSO Scheme prior to
the establishment of the MPF Scheme were offered a choice
of staying within the ORSO Scheme or switching to the MPF
Scheme, whereas all new employees joining the Group on or after
1 December 2000 are required to join the MPF Scheme.

For members of the MPF Scheme, except for the Group's voluntary
contributions, the Group contributes 5% of relevant payroll costs to
the MPF Scheme, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of
HK$30,000, which contribution is matched by the employee.

The ORSO Scheme is funded by monthly contributions from both
employees and the Group at rates ranging from 5% to 8% of the
employee’s basic salary, depending on the length of service with
the Group.

The total expense recognised in profit or loss of HK$2,929,000
(2019: HK$2,833,000) during the year ended 31 March 2020
represents contributions paid and payable to these plans by the
Group at rates specified in the rules of the plans.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to owners through the optimisation of the debt and equity
balance.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt and equity of the
Group, comprising issued share capital and accumulated profits.

The management of the Group reviews the capital structure
regularly taking into account the cost of capital and the risk
associated with the capital. The Group will balance its overall
capital structure through issuance of new shares and the raise of
borrowings.
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29.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 29. ERMTIAMAARERAAEBERER
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Management has assessed that the fair values of financial assets ERECTEER —FAKRMKLEECeRMEER
and liabilities which are due to be received or settled within one BEZANE BRZEIEZEREIARE - i)
year approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to the short EEERAZSEIAZ AR EHREKREENSME
term maturities of these instruments. e
The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included TRHEERBENAAREDGAZIATHERE
at the amounts at which the instrument could be exchanged in a EFERARS CREISVEEHERIN A&
current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or B o
liquidation sale.
The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the T RAEGRH R BN ERERR
fair values:
The fair value of the non-current portion of deposits and lease e RHEABZIERBIT S 2 AR BEEKRERR
liabilities have been calculated by discounting the expected future BEBEUGR - FERRERFAFEHNITANRIT
cash flows using rates currently available for instruments with similar FIRBLRBHRRRETENE - EF2RE  BHE
terms, credit risk and remaining maturities. In the opinion of the EHEEESAZARBYTEEREE  HER
directors, since their carrying amounts are not significantly different BZEEemIAZARE -
from their respective fair values, no disclosure of the fair values of
these financial instruments is made.
Fair value hierarchy AREEBR
The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy TRELAANEEEE AABEHEER
of the Group’s assets:
Assets measured at fair value: BARBHECEE
As at 31 March 2020 RZTEZTF=A=+—H
Fair value measurement using
ERTIBEZAAETE
Quoted
prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs Total
BX BX
AERTSZ AEEHA NI
#E g BWARE Foh
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
(B (B=® (=)
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$000 HK$’000
THERT TET TET TExT
Financial assets at fair value through BRARER ABRK
profit or loss CREE - - 5,181 5,181

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurement
between Level 1 and Level 2 for both financial assets and financial
liabilities (2019: Nil).

The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at fair
value as at 31 March 2020 and 31 March 2019.

FR - EREERSRABEMEZF —RRE-R

ZRAREFEREER(CENF 8
R-ZZF-_FTF=ZA=+—A8BR —hF=H
=t—8 FTREBEZEAAE Ef% FREma

&

SHNREEERAT « ZE-N/ZFFFH
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29.

30.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)
Reconciliation of fair value measurements categorised within Level
3 of the fair value hierarchy:

FMIANDAEBRAAERER

N

NAEER (E)
DRBAABEERE=ZFRANZAAEFEL

HK$'000
FHET
Carrying amount at 31 March 2019 and 1 April 2019 KRB NF=A=+—HBER=_ZF—hFWA—H
Z ARHEE -
Addition 0 6,240
Loss from fair value adjustment recognised in RITBES AR A ERAEES
administrative expenses (1,207)
Interest income recognised in other income RE AR A AR 2 F WA 173
Exchange realignment P& H SR (25)
Carrying amount at 31 March 2020 R-ZE-EF=A=1+—HZE@EE 5,181

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

Categories of financial instruments

Financial assets SWMEE
Amortised cost BEIER AR
Fair value through profit or loss BRAnEIABR
Financial liabilities cHmas
Amortised cost BEHPCAN

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s principal financial instruments include trade
receivables, other receivables and deposits, pledged bank deposits,
time deposits with original maturity over three months, bank
balances and cash, trade and other payables and accrued charges
and lease liabilities. Details of the major financial instruments and
the Group’s relevant accounting policies are disclosed in note 3 to
the consolidated financial statements.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are
currency risk, interest rate risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The
Directors review and agree policies for managing each of these
risks and they are summarised below.
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RBRERARSFIERMITAZRMERNT :

BT EER
2020 2019
—ECEE —E—hF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
144,093 130,616
5,181 =
34,117 22,897
MERAREERERKE

FEENTIECHIAREESRKA - HivfE
WkERES - EERMRTESR - RIHABE=
BANESRFR  RITEHREES EHREME
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REERESH RN BREGRS M BMER M 3K
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 30. £®MIAG@

Financial risk management objectives and policies MR EEEERBUR ()
(continued)

EHmeg

AEBERAABEFABRNEREE - 5 TRITE
#HERe  RIHABE=BEANEHRER B
RN TR IE Ko B BN FRIBIASNE BIARKE - BT -
XL AB(HE%]) R IEIT FIE - RER
SHRIMNEDNENAEBRITEBRLIES - BRI
REE=EANEREFR BHRUKENRES
FENRIBEVEREIELA T

Currency risk

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, certain bank
balances and cash, time deposits with original maturity over three
months, trade receivables and trade payables of the Group are
denominated in foreign currencies, i.e. RMB, EUR, USD, New
Taiwan Dollars (“NTD”) and SGD. The carrying amounts of the
Group’s bank balances and cash, time deposits with original
maturity over three months, trade receivables and trade payables
denominated in foreign currencies at the end of each reporting
period are as follows:

Financial assets Financial liabilities

SRMEE SRas
2020 2019 2020 2019
—E-EH —ZT-NF —E-THF —T-NEF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT FExT FExT
RMB AR 2,656 2,731 9 3
EUR BT 1,671 895 - =
Usb ET 12,858 1,436 39 590
NTD etk 104 171 12 =
SGD T 7 1,869 - =

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy. However, the directors of the Company monitor foreign
exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign
currency exposure should the need arise.

Since the exchange rate of HK$ is pegged with USD, the Group
does not expect any significant movements in the USD/HK$
exchange rates. Thus, there is no sensitivity analysis on USD
denominated financial assets.

Sensitivity analysis of a 10% strengthening in functional currency
of the Group (i.e. HK$) against foreign currencies and keeping all
other variables constant resulted in a decrease in post-tax profit of
the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019. For a 10% weakening
of HK$ against foreign currencies there would be an equal and
opposite impact on the results.

RMB AREE
EUR BT
NTD ek
SGD FANS T

AREEBRRIWEINEL TR - A - RARES
EEYEHME B\ 3 5 0 T B E B R E RSN

B -

RSB T EE TS - REEFEET B TE
RIWBAEMERNES - Ft - WEUETIENS
BREEBRENN -

7 55 [ B B (B TT) SOV THE 1 0% B BT 2
BEBRBTENRBESN  SRRE_T_F
FR_F—NF=A=+— B FERBULHTIR
Do AT HAMERE10%ME « HEEBEES
ERARNTE -

2020 2019
—ECRE —T-hEF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET THET

221 228

140 75

8 14

1 156
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30.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in bank
balances and cash and pledged bank deposits as at 31 March
2020 and 2019.

As at 31 March 2020 and 2019, the Group is also exposed to fair
value interest rate risk in relation to fixed rate time deposits with
original maturity over three months.

The Group has not used any interest rate swaps to mitigate
its exposure associated with interest rate risk. However, the
management of the Group monitors interest rate exposure and will
consider hedging significant interest rate exposure should the need
arise.

Sensitivity analysis

In the opinion of the management of the Group, the expected
change in interest rate will not have a significant impact on the
interest income or expenses on payments for bank balances and
pledged bank deposits, hence sensitivity analysis is not presented.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which will cause
a financial loss to the Group due to the failure to discharge the
obligations by counterparties arises from the carrying amount of the
respective recognised financial assets as stated in the consolidated
statements of financial position at the end of the reporting period.
The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss, trade receivables, contract
assets, financial assets included in other receivables, deposits and
prepayments, pledged bank deposits, time deposits with original
maturity over three months and bank balances and cash.

Trade receivables and contract assets arising from contracts with
customers

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group
has delegated a team responsible for the determination of credit
limits and credit approvals. Before accepting any new customer, the
Group uses an internal credit scoring system to assess the potential
customer’s credit quality and define credit limits by customer. The
level of credit granted must not exceed a predetermined level set
by management. Limits and scoring attributed to customers are
reviewed once a year. Other monitoring procedures are in place
to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts.
In addition, the Group performs impairment assessment under the
ECL model on trade receivables and contract assets individually. In
this regard, the directors of the Company consider that the Group’s
credit risk is significantly reduced.
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30.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets arising from contracts with
customers (continued)

The Group’s concentration of credit risk on trade receivables
and contract assets by geographical locations is mainly in Hong
Kong, which accounted for 97.0% (2019: 95.7%) of the total trade
receivables and 99.8% (2019: 76%) of the total contract assets as
at 31 March 2020.

The Group has concentration of credit risks on trade receivables
and contract assets with exposure limited to certain customers.
Top five customers amounting to HK$37,498,000 (2019:
HK$31,975,000) comprised approximately 82% (2019: 78%) of the
Group’s trade receivables and 88% (2019: 76%) of the Group’s
total contract assets as at 31 March 2020. As at 31 March 2020,
63.8% (2019: 70.8%) of the Group’s trade receivables were due
from the Group’s largest customer.

Pledged bank deposits, time deposits with original maturity over
three months and bank balances and cash

The Group has a concentration of credit risk on pledged bank
deposits, time deposits with original maturity over three months
and bank balances deposited with a few major banks. The credit
risk on these balances is limited because the counterparties are
banks with good reputation and with high credit ratings assigned
by international credit-rating agencies.

Financial assets included in other receivables, deposits and
prepayments

The management of the Group regularly reviews and assesses the
credit quality of the counterparties. The Group uses 12-month ECLs
to assess the loss allowance for financial assets included in other
receivables, deposits and prepayments since these receivables are
not past due and there has not been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition. Based on internal credit assessment,
the directors of the Company consider that these assets are low
credit risk financial assets due to the short-term nature and the
probability of default is negligible. Hence, no loss allowance was
recognised during the year ended 31 March 2020 (2019: Nil).

Other than the concentration risk as disclosed above, the Group
does not have any other significant concentration of credit risk.

The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, which
is mainly based on past due information unless other information
is available without undue cost or effort, and year-end staging
classification as at 31 March. The amounts presented are gross
carrying amounts for financial assets and contract assets.

30.

- =N )]
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30.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

As at 31 March 2020

Trade receivables

Contract assets

Financial assets included in other
receivables, deposits and
prepayments

Pledged bank deposits

Time deposits with original maturity
over three months

Bank balances and cash

As at 31 March 2019

Trade receivables

Contract assets

Financial assets included in other
receivables, deposits and
prepayments

Pledged bank deposits

Time deposits with original maturity
over three months

Bank balances and cash

)]
AWEE
STAEMEYE -
ReMANTEZ
EHRRITER
REHREB={EAN
EHER
RIEBERSE

ASRIGA
AWEE
STAEMEYTE -
ReRANTEZ
EHRRITER
REHREB={EAN
EHER
RIEBERSE
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30. SFIAEE
M A EE A ERBUER ()
=B E LR ETF (&)
R-BZZRF=ZA=+—8H
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
+=f8A
BHREERR FENANEERR
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage3  approach Total
E—RE& EMRE £ 129 k(073 #st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
T TR T T T
- - - 45,982 45,982
- - - 63,158 63,158
1,384 - - - 1,384
14,045 - - - 14,045
6,347 - - - 6,347
76,652 - - - 76,652
98,428 - - 109,140 207,568
RZZE—NF=A=1—8H
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
+=f@R
EHEERE FEHRHEEER
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
£ HIRER EZRER [ E @D st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TERT TERT TERT TERT
= = = 41,263 41,263
- - - 49,453 49,453
1,649 - - - 1,649
10,782 - - - 10,782
40,050 - - - 40,050
36,989 = = = 36,989
89,470 - - 90,716 180,186
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30.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 30. SWMIAG@
Financial risk management objectives and policies MR EEEERBUR ()
(continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued) 1= EE R R E 7 (&)
The closing loss allowances for trade receivables, contract assets REMEHAR - BEHEKFIAE - ANEERTAHAM
and financial assets included in other receivables, deposits and FEWRIE - R REBNRENSREE ZBRE
prepayments as at the end of the reporting period are reconciled to ERERBYEERE  HRNT
the opening loss allowances as follows:
Financial assets
included in other
receivables,
Trade Contract deposits and
receivables assets prepayments Total
A fhFEL
RE - Ee
RAEMRE
B 5 EWRIE BREE NemEE Fohy
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT FHAET FAT
At 1 April 2018 W=ZE—\FmA—B 62 27 - 89
Impairment losses, net RERBEFE 55 93 - 148
At 31 March 2019 and RZE-NF=A=+—H
1 April 2019 kR=ZZ—-NFMA—H 117 120 - 237
Impairment losses/(reversal of JF{EE 18,/ (B[l
impairment losses), net RERE)FE 200 (87) - 113
At 31 March 2020 RZZE-ZEF=A=+—H 317 33 - 350

The estimated loss rates and risk level are estimated based on
historical observed default rates over the expected life of the
debtors and are adjusted for forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort. The grouping is regularly
reviewed by management to ensure relevant information about
specific debtors is updated.

The Group writes off a trade receivable when there is information
indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and there
is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the debtor has
been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or when the trade receivables are over two years past
due, whichever occurs earlier. Trade receivables of HK$650,000
were written off by the Group during the year ended 31 March
2020.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group made
HK$200,000 and reversed HK$87,000 (2019: provision of
HK$55,000 and HK$93,000) of impairment allowance for trade
receivables and contract assets, respectively. No impairment
allowance was made on debtors with significant balance during
year ended 31 March 2020.

AEEBRERERERDREELBRENERE
BAWBHEHEE  TEREBEEFTBERAKSE
BRI BRI ERMEL AR - BEEE SR
HAEMOHE  ARREEEFBANBBERREE
# o

WEBERNBRNEEATEREHERED ALK
Bl RUE R & Bt (IEB AR BB EABER
FF) kB SEUGRBEASRBRAMTE UKEER
£)  AEEBMEEZBE SEKWGIE - RBEE=-F
“EFZA=ZTHILFE  AEEMEESER
FRIE650,000 7T ©

HE_ZT-_TE-A=-1+—BULFE A£ERE
SRBGRIER G HEED RIFTRBER 200,000
P& 7L K B [E187,00078 T (= — L4 - #iE55,00075
JLX%93,0007T) - REE-—ZT-_TF=A=+—H
ILFE - WEREEEREHOEBS AL RER
& o
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30.

31.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Liquidity risk

In the management of liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate
by management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the
effects of unexpected fluctuations in cash flows.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The table has
been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial
liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group is required
to pay.

As at 31 March 2020 R-E-ZEF=A=+—H

Financial liabilities included in trade and st AZ 5 R EMENFENEREE

other payables

Lease liabilities ReEas

As at 31 March 2019 RZE-NF=A=+—H

Financial liabilities included in trade and st AB S R EAMEMAFENESMEE

other payables

PERFORMANCE GUARANTEES

As at 31 March 2020, performance guarantees of approximately
HK$5,424,000 (2019: HK$5,424,000) were given by a bank in
favour of the Group’s customer as security for the due performance
and observance of the Group’s obligations under the contracts
entered into between the Group and its customer. If the Group
failed to provide satisfactory performance to their customer to
whom the performance guarantees had been given, such customer
may demand the bank to pay to them the sum or sum stipulated
in such demand. The Group would become liable to compensate
such bank accordingly. The performance guarantees would be
released upon completion of the contract works. The performance
guarantees were granted under a banking facility.
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30.

SRT A
BEEAREEREEERBE (&)
VEE e
REERDESRRE  AEBESERGIFELRRE

%E?%m MR RBEEEBYKRT  UBENAEE
B ﬁﬁi&W%ﬁfﬁium%ﬁ?ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬂiéﬁﬂ’]?ﬁﬂ 9

TRAMAEEITESBREBENHR T ENEHIE
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A IS IRRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2020 BZE=—Z-TF=A=+—HILFE

32. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH 32. REREREBRME
FLOWS
(a) Major non-cash transactions (@) FEHFBEERH
During the year, the Group had non-cash additions to RER AEERYMEZHELTHELIE
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of HK$8,555,000 ReRBEEZTRAREAEREEAES A
and HK$8,555,000, respectively, in respect of lease 8,555,000/ 7T % 8,555,000/ 7L (ZF — 1
arrangements for properties (2019: Nil). F | o
(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities (b) BMETBEEZAEEH
Bank Lease
borrowing liabilities
RITIEE HESE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FHET
At 1 April 2018 RZE—NFMHA—H = =
Changes from financing cash flows BERSREEH - -
Interest expense FMERZ = =
At 31 March 2019 RZZE-NF=R=+—H - -
Effect of adoption of HKFRS 16 BB B ELRF 165K E - 5,728
At 1 April 2019 (restated) RZZE—NFHEA—B (EE5) - 5,728
New leases e - 8,555
Changes from financing cash flows BMERSREY (35) (5,582)
Interest expense FEFAX 35 124
Interest paid classified as operating cash ~ D BAKEIREREN
flows BEAFE - (124)
At 31 March 2020 RZZE_TF=R=+—H - 8,701
(¢) Total cash outflow for leases (c) HEZRSRLLE
The total cash outflow for leases included in the statement of AARESRERZAERSRLETNT ¢
cash flows is as follows:
2020
—F —§$
HK$’000
FExT
Within operating activities (\\ § ZEBEEN 210
Within financing activities SN HEN 5,582
5,792
33. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 33. mAREE
At 31 March 2020, the Group did not have any significant RZZE-ZEF=A=+—H AEBETETANEKX
contingent liabilities (2019: Nil). FAREECE-NEF | -
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
RIS RRMEE

For the yearended 31 March 2020 BE=—T-_TF=A=+—HILFE

34.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Upon passing an ordinary resolution on 20 September 2017,
the Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme”) which will remain valid for a period of 10 years
commencing on 16 October 2017. The major terms of the Share
Option Scheme are set out below:

(0

(i)

(i

(iv)

(vi)

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to recognise
and acknowledge the contributions that the directors and
employees of the Group have made or may make to the
Group;

The participants included any director or employee of the
Group which, in the opinion of the Company’s board of
directors, has contribution or potential contribution to the
development and growth of the Group;

The maximum number of shares in respect of which options
might be granted under the Share Option Scheme must not
exceed 30% of the issued share capital of the Company from
time to time. The number of shares issued and to be issued
in respect of which options granted and may be granted to
any individual in any 12-month period is not permitted to
exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any
point in time, without prior approval from the Company’s
shareholders. Options granted to a substantial shareholder
or an independent non-executive director in excess of
0.1% of the Company’s share capital or with a value in
excess of HK$5 million must be approved in advance by the
Company’s shareholders;

In relation to each grantee of the options granted under the
Share Option Scheme, the right of the grantee to exercise
the option shall be in accordance with the terms of the Share
Option Scheme and the period to be notified by the board
of directors of the Company to each grantee which shall not
exceed 10 years from the date upon which the options are
deemed to be granted and accepted;

The exercise price of an option will be determined by the

board of directors of the Company and will not be less than

the highest of:

o the closing price of the share on the date of grant;

. the average closing price of the share for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of
grant; and

o the nominal value of the share.

A consideration of HK$10 per grant is payable on
acceptance of the offer of grant of options.
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For the yearended 31 March 2020 BE—Z_THF=A=+—HILFE

34.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

During the year ended 31 March 2019, 9,200,000 options were
granted to a director and employees of the Group on 3 September
2018 for the provision of services to the Group. The vesting period
of the first tranche of share options is from 3 September 2018 to
2 March 2019 (“First Tranche of 2018 granted”). The vesting period
of the second tranche of share options is from 3 September 2018 to
2 March 2020 (“Second Tranche of 2018 granted”). The details
of the First Tranche of 2018 granted and Second Tranche of 2018
granted of share options are identical except for the difference in
vesting periods as mentioned above. The fair value of the share
options at the date of grant was calculated using the Binominal
Option Pricing Model. The fair value of the share options granted on
3 September 2018 is HK$1,706,000.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the 9,200,000 options
were cancelled and 9,800,000 options were granted to a
director and employees of the Group on 2 January 2020 for
the provision of services to the Group. The vesting period
of first tranche of share options is from 2 January 2020 to
30 June 2020 (“First Tranche of 2020 granted”). The
vesting period of the second tranche of share options is from
2 January 2020 to 1 January 2021 (“Second Tranche of 2020
granted”). The vesting period of the third tranche of share options
is from 2 January 2020 to 30 June 2021 (“Third Tranche”). The
details of the First Tranche of 2020 granted, Second Tranche of
2020 granted and Third Tranche share options are identical except
for the difference in vesting periods as mentioned above. The fair
value of the share options at the date of grant was calculated using
the Binominal Option Pricing Model. The fair value of the share
options granted on 2 January 2020 is HK$1,057,000.

The inputs into the valuations of the share options were as follows:

Share price at grant date R B HRRE
Exercise price 111818

Risk free rate (note a)

Expected life (note b) TEEASF B (K 5tb)

HER S
TR0 (A i)

Expected dividend yield
Expected volatility (note c)

Notes:

(a) Risk free rate is determined by reference to the prevailing rates on debt
securities as reference from Thomson Reuters.

b) Expected life is the exercise period of the share options.

(c) Expected volatility is estimated by calculating the historical daily share price
volatility of the stock price of the Company.

ER AR (Heta)
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For the yearended 31 March 2020 BE=—T-_TF=A=+—HILFE

34. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED) 34.

The following share options were outstanding under the Share
Option Scheme during the year:

B8 (3

RERN - BBARERTBITRT 2 51 B i R AT
(3

2020 2019
—BoEEF —T-NF
Weighted Weighted

average Number average Number

exercise price of options exercise price of options

T HITEE BREHE IRETHTRE fERRERE

HKS$ per share ’000 HK$ per share ’000

BgRET TR BRET T

At 1 April RYA—H 0.385 9,200 = =
Cancelled during the year XL 0.385 (9,200) = =
Granted during the year ~ FRIRH 0.259 9,800 0.385 9,200
At 31 March R=A=+—H 0.259 9,800 0.385 9,200

The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share options
outstanding as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

Exercise prices

RE IR M ORI TE 2 AR Z 1T B R AT A

Rl

Number of HK$
options per share Exercise periods
IEE
BREHE BRERT TR
31 March 2020 3,500,000 0.259 1 July 2021 to 1 January 2025
“E-EFZH=+-—H —E--5tA-HE-ZE-H&—A—H
3,300,000 0.259 2 January 2021 to 1 January 2025
—EC--Ff-A-HE=E-HF—HA—H
3,000,000 0.259 1 July 2021 to 1 January 2025
—E-_—HtA—-HEZZE-RAF—H—H
31 March 2019 4,500,000 0.385 3 March 2019 to 3 September 2023
—T-NF=A=1+—H —E-NF=A=HE=E-_=FNA=H
4,700,000 0.385 3 March 2020 to 3 September 2023

The Group recognised a share option expense of HK$845,000
(2019: HK$1,166,000) during the year ended 31 March 2020.

The 9,200,000 share options cancelled during the year resulted in
the acceleration of the share option expenses for the Share Option
Scheme of HK$98,000 and recognised in profit or loss in current
year. The corresponding Group’s share option reserve for the
9,200,000 share options was transferred to accumulated profits.
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For the yearended 31 March 2020 BE—Z_THF=A=+—HILFE

34.

35.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had 9,800,000
(2019: 9,200,000) share options outstanding under the Share
Option Scheme. The exercise in full of the outstanding share options
would, under the present capital structure of the Company, result
in the issue of 9,800,000 (2019: 9,200,000) additional ordinary
shares of the Company and additional share capital of HK$98,000
(2019: HK$92,000) and share premium of HK$2,440,000 (2019:
HK$3,450,000) (before issue expenses).

At the date of approval of these financial statements, the Company
had 9,800,000 share options outstanding under the Share Option
Scheme, which represented approximately 2.5% of the Company’s
shares in issue as at that date.

SHARE AWARD SCHEME

On 5 November 2018, the Company adopted a share award
scheme (the “Share Award Scheme”) for the purpose of
recognising the contributions by certain eligible persons for the
growth and development of the Group and to provide them with
incentives in order to retain them for the continual operation and
development of the Group.

Eligible persons of the Share Award Scheme include any employee
of the Group; any executive or non-executive director (including
any independent non-executive director) of the Company, any of
its subsidiaries, customers, suppliers, any person or entity that
provides research, development or other technological support,
shareholders of any member of the Group or any invested entities,
any person or entity which has contributed to the Group or its
business; and any other person selected by the board of directors,
and if applicable, including its executive committee at its sole
discretion, provided that the eligible persons for participation in the
Share Award Scheme (the “Selected Participants”) remain at all
times after the date of grant and on the relevant vesting date being
eligible persons of the Group.

The maximum number of shares currently permitted to be granted
under the Share Award Scheme is limited to 10% of the total
number of issued shares as at the date on which the Share Award
Scheme is adopted by the board of directors. The maximum
number of shares which may be awarded to each eligible person in
the Share Award Scheme in any 12-month period is limited to 1%
of the total number of shares in issue of the Company from time to
time.

Selected Participants are selected and the number of shares to
be awarded under the Share Award Scheme is determined by the
board of directors. The shares to be awarded under the Share
Award Scheme are purchased by a trustee (the “Trustee”) from the
open market out of cash contributed by the Group or by way of gift
and be held on trust for the Selected Participants until such shares
are vested with the Selected Participants in accordance with the
provisions of the Share Award Scheme.

34.

35.
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For the yearended 31 March 2020 BE=—T-_TF=A=+—HILFE

35.

36.

SHARE AWARD SCHEME (CONTINUED)

The Trustee shall not exercise the voting rights in respect of any
shares held on trust for the Group or the Selected Participants.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Company purchased
1,665,000 of its own shares through the Trustee from open market.
The total amount paid to acquire the shares was HK$406,000 and
has been deducted from equity. In addition, 2,000,000 shares
were contributed by Mr. KM Luk, the controlling shareholder and
an executive director of the Company to the trust of the Share
Award Scheme as gift. The fair value of those shares contributed
amounted to HK$452,000. The aggregate amount paid to
acquire the shares and the fair value of the share contribution of
HK$858,000 has been deducted from equity and classified as
treasury shares of the Company as they were not yet awarded to
any selected participants.

The movements in the Company’s shares held under the Share
Award Scheme during the year are as follows:

At 1 April 2019

—NEFMA—H

35.

Purchases of shares for the Share Award Scheme FLAL(7 2EE =121 88 & AL

Gifting of shares B AR {7

At 31 March 2020 n=
During the year, the Company did not award any shares to any
eligible participant under the Share Award Scheme (2019: Nil).

COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS

Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified to conform to
the current year’s presentation.
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1,665,000 406
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37.

38.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 37. ZARATHHMRRE
COMPANY
2020 2019
—g-gF  —TAF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FREEE
Investments in subsidiaries RSB RARMRE 107,549 107,549
Amount due from a subsidiary e —FEIFT B A B3 IA - 29,057
107,549 136,606
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Amount due from a subsidiary FEUW — M B A RIFRIE 29,215 =
Prepayments TR RIE 848 305
Bank balances and cash RITEHB RIS 13 2
30,076 307
CURRENT LIABILITIES RBEE
Accrued charges FEETER 140 180
Net current assets REBEEFE 29,936 127
Net assets EEFE 137,485 136,733
CAPITAL RESERVES EARGHE
Share capital & 4,000 4,000
Reserves (note) e (H13E) 133,485 132,733
Equity attributable to owners of the Company AATHEA NGRS 137,485 136,733
Note: B -
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: AR AFERE T -
Share Other  Share option Accumulated
premium reserves reserve losses Total
RAD R E Hitfk BRI RitEE st
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHAT FHET FAT FHT FHT
(note 34)
(Ffi5E34)
At 1 April 2018 RZZT—\FMA—H 47,552 107,549 - (18,334) 136,767
Loss for the year FAEE - - - (5,200) (5,200)
Equity-settled share option W i BB IR LB (175134)
arrangements (note 34) - - 1,166 - 1,166
At 31 March 2019 and 1 April 2019 R-E-NE=A=+—H8K
—E—-NFWmA—H 47,552 107,549 1,166 (23,534) 132,733
Loss for the year FAEE - - = (93) (93)
Equity-settled share option WA E B HE (W7734)
arrangements (note 34) - - 845 - 845
Cancellation of share options (note 34)  B&R%HEFT 8 (41:£34) - - (1,706) 1,706 -
At 31 March 2020 R-ZE-_THE=F=+—H 47,552 107,549 305 (21,921) 133,485
APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 38. HESESHBHRE

STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 18 June 2020.

HAMBRRAEETEN S -TFXAT/\A#
IR AETE -
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Financial Summary

I E

RESULTS
Revenue

Profit before tax
Income tax expense

Profit/(loss) for the year and total
comprehensive income/(loss) for the
year attributable to owners of the
Company

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
Total assets
Total liabilities

Equity attributable to owners
of the Company

ES
Yoas

BRI AE A
PRSERI X

RRRGEE AL
FREF (BB &
FARZEWES
(B518) #a A

AENAE
wAE
waE

ARRRGER AEL &R
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For the year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—HLEE

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
—E-EFE —_T-NF ET-)\F T—+F T—RF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT THT FAT FHT
224,228 210,596 193,973 171,116 163,821
26,535 23,474 712 16,065 26,561
(4,923) 4,219) (2,858) (2,738) (4,408)
21,612 19,255 (2,146) 13,327 22,153

As at 31 March

R=A=+—H
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
—ECEF —Z-NEF -\ Z=—+tF ==X F
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FHET FHET FAET FHET
236,418 189,015 166,692 141,372 137,940
(70,232) (44,880) (42,889) (41,975) (41,870)
166,186 144,135 123,803 99,397 96,070
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